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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GEM (“GEM”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE™)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the
decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility
for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any
liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this
report.

This report, for which the directors (the "Directors”) of China CBM Group Company Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their
knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not
misleading or deceptive, there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this
report misleading and that all opinions expressed in this report have been arrived at after due and careful consideration
and are founded on bases and assumptions that are fair and reasonable.

This report will remain on the “Latest Company Announcements” page of the GEM website at www.hkgem.com for at
least seven days from the date of its publication.

BERBEXZRAERAB (T GEM(GEM]) 25 &

GEMHIZEN » IRHPERAER—MILTH TS - WERABLLERMEBRI LT A AFERGRERRE -
BEEREZALETHRERZZE A AZEERRE  YEEBFRAFZZEELFHRERE -

HRGEM LT A AEERFPEAE » HGEMEEZEF TR ERRBXTEIREBBFRERA TS KEE
B o A REEGEMEBE BE5KNEEBRBEZ TS -

BB G RGBT BRAFIREBHERX BT ERA AT A BENATHTRE - HEER L TR T EXRE
1a] B85 - JLBFREZFR T BT LA AR F & 2 BF 3 (1] 5107 2 T 2 AL B RT3 RE A2 5 A 25T 5 LB 1] R RSB (F (] B (F ©

IR I E R TS B IRBE T GEMEE 25 L i 2 R ([ GEM_E AR 1) T &, - & 1@ B B Bk [E R B B IR 2 7]
([ARE]DRER « KAFIREE([EF ) BERA LN EN R REFIMAEZERE - SEFHEEL—IEE
BHE  BRRBEHLIG » A EETHEREEEZ T B ERTH  RERGI A - WAREREM
FIRHRE RGBSR A AL ELRE - AR HERER L) BRI FREFZEREIEL  WEER
RFHE BRI EER R

IR 255 5 A T8 H B R b —3#+ H B GEMAT i www.hkgem.comi| R¥T 2 Al 23 25 JAH A



CONTENTS
B &%

Corporate Information

Corporate Profile

Chairman’s Statement

Management Discussion and Analysis
Corporate Governance Report

Biographical Information of Directors and
Key Management

Directors’ Report
Independent Auditors’ Report
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
and Other Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position

Consolidated Statement of Changes in
Equity

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Five Year Financial Summary

NEIER

NSV

TERE

SR RN

EEEAWME

ERREEEREREAN

EFews

B AZHE RS

RAMBHRAME

hEPBRHE

11

19

36

40

52

58

59

60

62

63

65

183



BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (Chairman)
Mr. Fu Shou Gang

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Lau Chun Pong (appointed on 13 November 2017)

Mr. Luo Wei Kun
Ms. Pang Yuk Fong (resigned on 30 September 2017)
Mr. Wang Zhi He

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Ms. Pang Yuk Fong (former Chairman of audit committee)
(resigned on 30 September 2017)

Mr. Lau Chun Pong (Chairman of audit committee)
(appointed on 13 November 2017)

Mr. Luo Wei Kun

Mr. Wang Zhi He

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Wang zhi He (Chairman of nomination committee)
Mr. Lau Chun Pong (appointed on 13 November 2017)

Mr. Luo Wei Kun
Ms. Pang Yuk Fong (resigned on 30 September 2017)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Ms. Pang Yuk Fong
(former Chairman of remuneration committee)
(resigned on 30 September 2017)

Mr. Lau Chun Pong (Chairman of remuneration committee)
(appointed on 13 November 2017)

Mr. Luo Wei Kun

Mr. Wang Zhi He

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Lui Chi Keung

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng

T EFRPEREREEERAF

CORPORATE INFORMATION

NGRS
BExg
HATEE
RS (EE)

EmEE
BYFHITES

BRABEE(R-_ZT—tF+—H+=H
BZ(E)

BEESRE

ZEFRER_F—LFNLA=THET)

FzMEE

BRERY

EEFRT(FIFERZEETE)
(R=ZZF—tFNA=THET)

BRATCE(FEZREL/E)
(R-ZZT—tFt+—A+=HEZT)

BRENRE

T2mEE

REEZES

FToMEE(FEEZREL/E)

BRALEE(R_E—+F+—A+T=H
EZ(E)

BEESRE

ZEFRE(R_F—LFNLA=THET)

FHEES

PEFLL

(FIHBER L)
(R=T—EFNA=T+AEHE)

BRI (FNER R /%)
(R=Z—tF+—A+=AEEME)

BieE st

Tz skE

DRMWE

B s

EREIfA

TRBEE



CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED Annual Report 2017

CORPORATE INFORMATION
RAEH

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng
Mr. Lui Chi Keung

HEAD OFFICE & PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

IN HONG KONG

Room 19, 13/F, Tower A
New Mandarin Plaza

14 Science Museum Road
Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon
Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM11
Bermuda

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE

Codan Services Limited
Clarendon House

2 Church Street
Hamilton HM11
Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRARAND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Tengis Limited
Level 22, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

REAKR

TRBEE
AR AE

EBRMSERTIEEEME

AR
NEERAIER
RIS RE 145
SR DABE
131819%

AR ERE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM11
Bermuda

FEROBFERTE

Codan Services Limited
Clarendon House

2 Church Street
Hamilton HM11
Bermuda

BEEROBFETIE

SEBERERERAT
'R
SRAER183
B L2218



T EFRPEREREEERAF

CORPORATE INFORMATION

NAEIER
AUDITOR BB ED
KTC Partners CPA Limited MEEEMEBMERAF
LEGAL ADVISER AS TO HONG KONG LAW EBLEEZEERERN
Michael Li & Co T RBREMEBAT
19th Floor BEPIR
Prosperity Tower ERREF=TNH%
39 Queen’s Road Central BRAIENE
Central, Hong Kong +hig
PRINCIPAL BANKER FEERET
Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited AR L BEZIRITARAT
STOCK CODE g

08270 08270



CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED Annual Report 2017

CORPORATE PROFILE
ACILb])

China CBM Group Company Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) currently conduct the business of
manufacture and sales of liquefied coalbed gas whose operations
are located in the PRC. The Company was incorporated in Cayman
Islands as an exempted company with limited liability in July 2002
and continued in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited
liabilities in accordance with the Company Act 1981 (as amended)
of Bermuda. It was initially listed on the GEM (“GEM”) of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 12 August 2003.

The Group is principally engaged in the business of exploitation,
liguefaction production and sales of natural gas in the PRC.
Headquartered in Tianjin. The Group’s production of liquefied
coalbed gas is in Shanxi Qinshui Basin which boasts the richest
liquefied coalbed gas, while its distribution network extends to
Shanxi, Guangxi and Guangdong Provinces, etc.

In order to stabilise our natural gas supply and hence raise the
utilisation of our liquefied natural gas (“LNG”) plant, the Group has
made significant investment in resources exploration and exploitation
at the coalbed methane blocks located in Yangcheng, Shanxi since
July 2011. The Group had successfully supplied gas to the LNG
plant. The commercial production of coalbed gas has transformed
our Group into a vertically integrated natural gas company and
continued to enhance our leading position in China’s unconventional
gas market.

The Group will adhere to the principle of “social responsibility is of
overriding importance” while exploring and developing in the new
energy sector with an aim to provide the world with high-quality
clean energy and keep improving and promoting the harmonious
coexistence of man and nature.
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Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present the audited financial results of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2017.

OVERALL BUSINESS REVIEW

After years of development, we have achieved the goal of turning
ourselves into a vertically integrated natural gas producer with
complete value chain businesses. We have established a complete
business process covering Coalbed Methane (“CBM”) extraction,
liguefaction, pipelines and highway transportation, distribution
network and technical services. The Group adjusted its business
in 2017 by suspending the LNG business, but its CBM extraction
and production business did not stop. As at 31 December 2017,
we have completed the groundwork and drilling of 274 wells in
the Yangcheng gas block which resulted in stable increase of the
number of production wells and gas output. Due to suspension of
production by the Qinshui Shuntai LNG plant, the developed natural
gas would be delivered directly to customers by pipeline.

EXTRACTION AND PRODUCTION BUSINESS
REVIEW

During 2017, the construction of new wells was somewhat affected
by our focus on improving capabilities of production wells. As at
31 December 2017, we have completed the ground work and drilling
of a total of 274 CBM wells, of which 225 wells were producing gas.
The gas output volume of the existing production wells amounts to
800 cubic meters per day per well on average. Thanks to the stable
gas output in gas blocks, the Group has generated revenue, profit
and cash flow from the business of exploitation of natural gas, and
its profitability and cash flow position will be further improved as the
number and capabilities of production wells further increase.
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MARKETING BUSINESS REVIEW

After years of development, the Group has developed a diversified
customer base comprising industrial, commercial and resident
customers and established complete distribution channel and
network. In addition, we have also taken different measures to
maximise the profitability of our gas sale. In 2017, we used different
sales mix and flexibly selected various equipment such as pipeline,
cylinder group, gas station and skid-mounted equipment to sell gas
to our customers. With commencement of the related work, we will
be able to reduce the uncertainty in future natural gas sales and
optimise our sales mix, i.e. shifting towards a balanced mix from a
residential user dominated mix.

EMPHASIS ON TECHNOLOGIES ADVANCEMENT

In order to ensure the smooth development of our exploration
and production business and the continuous improvement of
technologies, and to maintain our leading position in technological
advancement, we actively worked with research institutes to build
and expand our professional technical team, so as to provide
professional and advanced technical services to our exploration and
liguefaction production business. In the future, we will be investing
heavily in developing and advancing our CBM extraction technology
and techniques.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND CORPORATE
RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to observing
its environmental and social responsibility, in order to ensure
sustainable development of its business. To the knowledge of
the Directors, the Group has complied with all material relevant
applicable laws and regulations in relation to its business including
employment and the environment. The Group encourages
employees, customers, suppliers and other stakeholders to
participate in environmental and social activities. The Company as
a leading CBM company will seize opportunities to grow our CBM
business on a long term sustainable basis.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The bye-laws provide that the directors shall be indemnified out of
the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of
them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or
supposed duty, in their respective offices.

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability
insurance which provides appropriate cover for the directors and
directors of the subsidiaries of the Group.

OUTLOOK

At present, demand for natural gas is increasing in China with huge
growth potential. As pollution is worsening in China, governments at
all levels are placing more emphasis on development of clean energy,
which shows great potential in further development, recognizing the
rising advocacy of safer — especially under the recent nuclear power
crisis — and cleaner energy. However, the existing conventional natural
gas production is unlikely to satisfy China’s strong demand of natural
gas in the coming years; and we believe that it is inevitable that the
PRC government would need to encourage the unconventional gas
production. With all the favourable policies and measures in place,
there is no doubt that the Company, as a leading CBM company,
will gain major benefits. We will seize this opportunity to grow our
CBM business on a long term sustainable basis and would try our
very best to maximize our shareholders’ investment return.

To carry through the Group’s spirit of advancement by innovation,
the Group has since the beginning of 2017 commenced the research
and development (R&D) on natural gas production by coal. The
Group has entered into in-depth strategic cooperation with Institute
of Process Engineering under Chinese Academy of Sciences on
projects of researching, developing and commercializing the natural
gas production by coal. The projects of natural gas production
by coal at Guangxi Beiliu and Hebei Nuoxin are expected to start
production in June 2018 with an average daily output of 200,000
cubic meters. We will strive to increase the daily output to 800,000
cubic meters by the end of 2018. The Group’s wells and projects
of natural gas production by coals are expected to provide stable
natural gas supply to its LNG plants in 2018. Therefore, the Group
expects the LNG business to resume operation in September 2018.
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In addition, the Group has since the beginning of 2016 commenced
the R&D on liquefied A-class air. However, liquefied A-class air was
not launched on market in 2017 due to unstable ratios of nitrogen
oxygen in liquefied A-class air. In 2018, the Group will augment
its efforts in the R&D of liquefied A-class air, anticipating that the
liquefied A-class air business will become a new profit growth driver
of the Group.

Lastly, | would like to take this opportunity to thank our team for
all their hard work in the past years for turning the Group a better
enterprise than | have ever seen. Going forward, | believe that our
team will pay more efforts in making the Group a leading enterprise
in China’s CBM industry and other innovative industries.

Wang Zhong Sheng
Chairman

27 March 2018
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group recorded a consolidated turnover of approximately
RMB178,562,000 for the year ended 31 December 2017,
representing an decrease of approximately 18.42% compared with
year ended 31 December 2016. The Group has suspended the
production of liquefied natural gas by Shanxi Qinshui Shuntai since
February 2017, and it leads to the decrease in turnover of the Group
during the year.

The Group recorded a loss attributable to equity shareholders
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2017 of
approximately RMB70,219,000 compared with that of approximately
RMB101,002,000 for the year ended 31 December 2016. The
decrease in loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
as a result of the turn around from gross loss of RMB11,688,000 in
2016 to gross profit of RMB32,776,000 in 2017. The reasons for the
decrease are as follows:

(i)  in 2016, the gross loss are mainly due to the decline in the
selling price of LNG, and the shortage in the natural gas supply
(it would lead to the increase in the unit cost), as a result, the
Group has suspended the LNG plant operation since February
2017. Instead, the natural gas from our wells would sell to our
customers directly by pipeline, and it would dispense the cost
of liquefaction processing, therefore, the Group recorded a
gross profit of RMB32,776,000 in 2017,

(i)  except for the depreciation of approximately RMB14,900,000
is recorded as administrative expenses in 2017, due to
the suspension of our LNG plant since February 2017, the
administrative expenses of the Group, in fact, was decreased
from RMB60,961,000 to RMB52,999,000 (exclude the
depreciation) in 2017. It mainly due to our costing saving plan
successfully implemented in 2017; and

(i) other income and gains or losses increased from
RMB5,012,000 to RMB12,818,000 in 2017, it mainly due to
an impairment loss on trade and other receivable and property,
plant and equipment of RMB6,080,000 and RMB8,329,000
respectively in 2017.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND DEVELOPMENT
PROSPECTS

Resources and reserves

Yangcheng Huiyang New Energy Development Company Limited
(hereinafter referred to as “Huiyang New Energy”) has interest in
certain CBM properties located at Shanxi Province, the PRC. The
Yangcheng area is approximately 96 km? in the Shanxi Province, the
PRC. Development within the Yangcheng gas block is focused on
the #3 and #15 coal seams. These CBM properties are located at
various coal mine areas owned by Shanxi Yangcheng Yangtai Group
Industrial Company Limited. Huiyang New Energy is a joint venture
company and 60% of its equity interests is held by one of the wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Group.

The movements in the reserves of certain CBM properties as of
31 December 2017 are set out below:
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The reserve evaluation of the CBM properties as at 31 March 2012 is
the results of evaluation conducted by an independent, US-licensed
natural gas reserve engineer, Netherlands, Sewell & Associates, Inc.
(“NSAI”") engaged by the Company in 2011 to evaluate the CBM
properties reserves.

Due to continued development of the gas field blocks by the
Company, the number and scope of the gas production wells
are relatively increased as compared with that of 2012, enabling
the Company to collect more data about the CBM properties to
evaluate the CBM properties more accurately. Accordingly, the
Company engaged an independent professional valuer in the PRC
in July 2014 to evaluate certain CBM properties of “Huiyang New
Energy” in terms of net 3P (Proved + Probable + Possible) reserves,
net 2P (Proved + Probable) reserves and net 1P (Proved) reserves
based on substantially the same definitions and guidelines as that
of NSAI in 2012. According to the results of the evaluation, the
total original gas in place on all blocks was generally unchanged as
compared with that of NSAl in 2012. Based on the current costs for
developing wells, the technical department of the Group estimates
the capital expenditure for each well to be approximately RMB1.4
million, mainly comprising of road maintenance fees of approximately
RMBO0.09 million, drilling expenses of approximately RMB0.86
million, well testing fees of approximately RMB0.04 million and costs
of equipment and materials of approximately RMB0.41 million.

Gas volumes are expressed in billion of cubic feet (BCF) at standard
temperature and pressure bases. The reserves shown in the above
table are estimates only and should not be construed as exact
quantities. Proved reserves are those quantities of oil and gas
which, by analysis of engineering and geoscience data, can be
estimated with reasonable certainty to be commercially recoverable;
probable and possible reserves are those additional reserves which
are sequentially less certain to be recovered than proved reserves.
Estimates of reserves may increase or decrease as a result of market
conditions, future operations, changes in regulations, or actual
reservoir performance.
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Natural Gas Exploration and Extraction

As at 31 December 2017, the Group has completed the ground
work and drilling of 274 CBM wells, among which 225 wells were in
production, representing no change in number of wells compared
with the number of wells at the end of 2016. It was mainly attributed
to the fact that the Company spent part of funds and put certain
efforts in stabilizing and increasing the output of producing wells,
which, to some extent, has led to slowdown of construction of new
wells. The existing gas output wells produce approximately 800
cubic meters of gas on average per day.

Marketing and Sales

During 2017, the marketing and sales systems did not change
significantly and the personnel structure and sales strategies
basically remained the same. Affected by overall environment,
the sales price during traditional peak periods did not represent a
substantial increase as the previous year, by contrast, the sales price
took on a descending trend, which, to some extent, has affected the
sales performance.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had net assets of approximately
RMB333,625,000, including cash and bank balances of
approximately RMB8,572,000. To minimize financial risks, the Group
implements stringent financial and risk management strategies and
avoids the use of highly-geared financing arrangements. The Group’s
gearing ratio, calculated by the Group’s total external borrowings
divided by its shareholders’ fund, was approximately 23.97% as at
31 December 2017 (2016: 21.74%).

The Group is opportunistic in obtaining financing to further improve
the cash position given that the natural gas drilling program is capital
intensive. If the Group has adequate financing in the future (whether
it is from internal cash flow due to increased gas sales, or from
fund raising), the Group will accelerate the drilling program. Apart
from the intended investment in upstream CBM exploration and
extraction, the Group does not have any other plan for acquisition or
investment, disposal or scale-down of any current business.
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The Employees

As at 31 December, 2017, the employees of the Group totaled
476, among which 98 were R&D staff and 223 were project and
customer service staff; 121 were administration staff and 34 were
marketing and sales staff. During the year, the total cost of staff
(including the remuneration of the Board Directors) recognised in
profit or loss account was approximately RMB28,819,000 (2016:
approximately RMB30,728,000). The remuneration and salary
packages and dividend policy of the Group were determined based
on the individual performance of staff. The Group will continue to
offer professional further studies and training to staff.

Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment

In view of the continuing operating losses of certain subsidiaries
operating in the PRC during the years ended 31 December 2017
and 2016, the directors of the Company have performed impairment
assessment on the property, plant and equipment of these
subsidiaries as at 31 December 2017 and 2016. The recoverable
amounts of these property, plant and equipment have been
determined by an independent professional valuer, Asset Appraisal
Limited (“Asset Appraisal”) based on value-in-use calculations. The
pretax discount rates in measuring the amounts of value-in-use
range from 24% to 27% per annum in relation to these property,
plant and equipment (2016: range from 22% to 29% per annum).
There has been no change from the valuation technique used in
prior year. As a result of the impairment assessment, no impairment
loss had been recognised in respect of these property, plant and
equipment during the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: RMB
Nil).

However, due to wear and tear, an impairment loss of approximately
RMB8,329,000 (2016: RMB Nil) was recognised in respect of certain
property, plant and equipment.
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Risk in Foreign Exchange

The group entities collect most of the revenue and incur most of
expenditures in their respective functional currencies. The Directors
consider that the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange
is insignificant as the majority of the Group’s transactions are
denominated in the functional currency of each individual group
entity.

Significant Investment, Material Acquisitions and
Disposal of Subsidiaries and Associated Companies

During the year ended 31 December 2017, there was no significant
investment, material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries and
associated companies by the Company.
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OUTLOOK

The upstream business of the Company is improving steadily and
the well construction and gas output are both increasing constantly.
During 2017, the Company made technological upgrade to some
old wells to improve production capacity and output, laying a solid
foundation for the Company’s long-term performance. However, the
shortage in supply of raw gas kept handicapping the Company. Daily
gas output of the upstream business was insufficient to allow the
500,000 cubic meters daily production capacity of liquefaction plants
to be fully unleased. In view of this, the Group commenced the R&D
on natural gas production by coal in 2017, and invited Institute of
Process Engineering under Chinese Academy of Sciences to provide
technological guidance. As at the date of this report, the experiment
on natural gas production by coal was largely completed. The
Group intends to commence the first stage of the project of natural
gas production by coal in June 2018 on a pilot basis, with a daily
output of 200,000 cubic meters. In addition, the Group plans to
increase the daily output to 800,000 cubic meters by the end of
2018. The Group also plans to resume its LNG business in 2018,
as the number of upstream wells and gas output are both steadily
increasing, the group successfully developed natural gas production
by coal and LNG price stabilized and saw upward momentum in
the second half of 2017. The Group’s raw gas supply will be further
consolidated and the advantage of vertical integration business will
emerge. The production capacity of liquefaction plants will be fully
unleashed. In 2018, thanks to the stable supply from self-produced
well gas and natural gas production by coal, the Company will be
gradually less affected by external factors and the uncontrollable
risks involved in the operation of the Company will become less. It is
projected that by the end of 2018, the daily output of gas exploration
business will break through beyond 200,000 cubic meters, and daily
output of natural gas production by coal will reach about 800,000
cubic meters.
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As there are growing concerns over the environmental issues, it is
foreseen that the highly-polluted energy will be eliminated from the
market more rapidly and the use of replaceable clean energy will be
more popular, resulting in a keener market demand for natural gas.
The demand growth of natural gas market will continue to retain its
strong momentum. Management of the Company will spare no effort
in overcoming difficulties and be devoted to making contribution to
the Company’s profit margin and long-term development.

In addition, the Group has since the beginning of 2016 commenced
the R&D on liquefied A-class air. However, liquefied A-class air was
not launched on market in 2017 due to unstable ratios of nitrogen
oxygen in liquefied A-class air. In 2018, the Group will continue with
the R&D of liquefied A-class air, and strive to make a breakthrough as
soon as possible, in a bid to create a new profit growth driver for the
Group.

DISCUSSION ON QUALIFIED OPINION

As the predecessor auditor’s audit opinion on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2016 was disclaimed, therefore, the qualified opinion on
corresponding figures is raised in the independent auditor’s report.
Any adjustments to the figures mentioned above might have
consequential effects on the Group’s financial performance and
cash flow for the year ended 31 December 2016 and the related
disclosures thereof in the consolidated financial statements. After
review of the financial statements of the Company by the Board
and the audit committee of the Company, the opinion of the Group
towards this issue is that the corresponding figures are no material
impact in the financial performance of the Group in the year of 2017
and the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2017, and
there will have no any financial impact in the years onwards.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(@

(b)

Application of Corporate Governance Principles

The Group is committed to promoting good corporate
governance, with the objectives of (i) the maintenance
of responsible decision making, (ii) the improvement in
transparency and disclosure of information to shareholders, (i)
the continuance of respect for the rights of shareholders and
the recognition of the legitimate interests of shareholders, and (iv)
the improvement in crisis management and the enhancement
of performance by the Group. The Group has applied the
principles set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the
“Code”) contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules
with these objectives in mind.

Promulgation of Company’s Corporate Governance
Code

To this end, the Group has promulgated a set of code on
corporate governance (the “Company Code”) which sets out
the corporate standards and practices used by the Group
to direct and manage its business affairs. It is prepared by
reference to the principles, code provisions and recommended
best practices set out in the Code, which came into effect on
1 January 2005. In addition to formalising existing corporate
governance principles and practices, the Company Code
also serves the purpose of assimilating existing practices
with benchmarks prescribed by the Code and ultimately
ensuring high transparency and accountability to the Group’s
shareholders.
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(c) Compliance of Company Code and the code
provisions under the Code (the “Code Provisions”)

The Group has complied with all provisions in the Company
Code and the Code Provisions under the Code during the
year ended 31 December 2017 save for code provisions A.2.1
and A.4.1 of the Code, details of the derivation and reason for
derivation are set out in the paragraphs headed “Chairman
and Chief Executive” and “Appointment term of Non-executive
Directors” of this corporate governance report.

The Company Code contains all the Code Provisions of the
Code and other provisions.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than those as set
out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors have complied with
the required standard of dealings and code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors as set out in the Company’s
code of conduct for the year 2017.

BOARD COMPOSITION, ROLE AND FUNCTION

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for promoting
the success of the Company through direction and supervision of
the Company’s business and affairs.

The Board comprises a total of five Directors, comprising two
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (Chairman),
and Mr. Fu Shou Gang and three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Luo Wei Kun, Mr. Wang Zhi He and Mr.
Lau Chun Pong. Mr. Lau Chun Pong has appropriate professional
qualifications, accounting and financial management expertise as
required under the GEM Listing Rules.
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all Independent
Non-executive Directors meet the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and are independent in
accordance with the terms of the guidelines.

The Company has complied with Rules 5.05(1), 5.05(2) and 5.05A of
the GEM Listing Rules. During the year ended 31 December 2017,
there were three independent non-executive Directors in the Board
and the number of independent non-executive Directors represents
at least one-third of the Board. The Company has also complied with
Rule 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules, which stipulates that one of
the independent non-executive Directors must possess appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The Board considers that the independent
non-executive Directors are all independent persons with appropriate
qualifications or expertise and the Company has complied with the
relevant requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions set out in code provision D.3.1 of the Code. In 2017, the
Board has reviewed and monitored: (a) the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, (b) training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior management, (C)
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, (d) the Company’s code of conduct and ()
the Company’s compliance with the Code disclosure requirements.

Appointment Term of Non-executive Directors

Under code provision A.4.1 of the Code, non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
Currently, the independent non-executive Directors have no
fixed term of office but are subject to retirement by rotation at
annual general meetings of the Company in accordance with the
Company’s Articles of Association. As such, the Company considers
that sufficient measures have been taken to serve the purpose of this
code provision.
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Roles of Directors

The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of
the management of the Company and is collectively responsible
for appointing and supervising senior management to ensure that
the operations of the Group are conducted in accordance with the
objectives of the Group. The principal roles of the Board are:

e to lay down the Group’s objectives, strategies, policies and
business plans;

e to monitor and control operating and financial performance
through the determination of the annual budget; and

e to formulate internal control policies and set appropriate policies
to manage risks in pursuit of the Group’s strategic objectives.

The Board is directly accountable to the shareholders and is
responsible for preparing the accounts.

Delegation by the Board

The Board has delegated the day-to-day management responsibility
to the management staff under the instruction/supervision of the
Board.

The management staff of the Company are principally responsible
for:

1. exercising all such other powers and perform all such other
acts as may be exercised and performed by the Directors, save
and except for those that may specifically be reserved by the
Board and/or the committees set up by the Board for decision
and implementation; or those that may only be exercised by the
Board pursuant to the Articles of Association, the GEM Listing
Rules and other applicable laws and regulations;

2. formulating and/or implementing policies for business activities,
internal controls and administration of the Company;
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3. planning and deciding the Company’s strategies on its business
activities; and

4. keeping proper written records of its decisions taken which
may be inspected by any members of the Board or the Board
committees upon request.

The Board will review the above arrangements on a periodic basis to
ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs of the Group.

Chairman and Chief Executive

Under the code provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. Prior to the retirement of Mr.
Feng San Li on 26 November 2012, Mr. Feng San Li was holding the
title of CEO. Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng is the chairman of the Board.
After Mr. Feng’s retirement, Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng continues
to act as the chairman and the duties of the chief executive have
been undertaken by the other executive Director. The Board meets
regularly to consider major matters affecting the business and
operations of the Group. The Board considers that this structure
will balance the power and authority between the Board and
management and believes that this structure enables the Group to
make and implement decision promptly and efficiently.

BOARD OPERATION

Regular Board meetings are held normally every three months, with
additional meetings arranged, if and when required. In 2017, the
Board held 7 meetings.
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The attendance record of each member of the Board at board REFeRELEARNRETTLE LR
meetings and general meetings of the Company are set out below: AEWALEIT -

Attendance of Attendance of
Board Meetings General Meetings

EESERLER BRERAEHER

Executive Directors

HITES

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (Chairman) /7 1/1
TRBEEEE)

Mr. Fu Shou Gang 7/7 1/1

kL

Independent Non-executive Directors

BYFHTES

Mr. Lau Chun Pong (appointed on 13 November 2017) 2/2 0/0
RAEE(R_T—F+—AT=BEZEE)

Mr. Luo Wei Kun 7/7 1/1
BEBTE

Ms. Pang Yuk Fong (resigned on 30 September 2017) 5/5 1/1
CEFZT(RZE—tFNA=THET)

Mr. Wang Zhi He 7/7 1/1
F 2R E

Note: Number of board meeting and general meeting held during the tenure of the Director Mzt : BFREHARTESSRALBRREAGHLAE

Directors are free to contribute alternative views at meetings and FEENELAEAEBXRTANER EEX
major decisions would only be taken after deliberation at Board  FLR&@GEEES &3 HEITHREBLIESD -
meetings. Directors who are considered having conflict of interests ~ MIEEAEEFENT FH TN ET Hi
or material interests in the proposed transactions or issues to be  WAGFENGSERSEA S AR AHE
discussed would not be counted in the quorum of meeting and EETETASHLEIEAZ  WEAMRBRAZ
would abstain from voting on the relevant resolution. RINERIRKE -

All Directors have access to the company secretary who is PREEHAEHARWE  AFIWEEE
responsible for ensuring that the Board procedures are complied — HIREESIZFEIAEST - WHTHETH
with, and advising the Board on compliance matters. EEGRHEER -
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Directors’ Duties

Every Director is required to keep abreast of his responsibilities as a
director of the Company and of the conduct, business activities and
development of the Company:

e A comprehensive director’s handbook is issued to every
Director, which sets out guidelines on conduct by making
reference to the relevant sections of the statutes or the GEM
Listing Rules, and reminds Directors of their responsibilities
in making disclosure of their interests and potential conflict of
interests.

e  Orientation programmes are organised for providing induction
to new Directors to help them familiarise with the Company’s
management, business and governance practices.

e Management provides appropriate and sufficient information
to Directors and the committee members in a timely manner to
keep them apprised of the latest development of the Group and
enable them to discharge their responsibilities. Directors also
have independent and unrestricted access to senior executives
of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

Each newly appointed director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he has a proper understanding
of the Company’s operations and businesses as well as his
responsibilities under the relevant statutes, laws, rules and
regulations. Directors’ training is an ongoing process. During the
year ended 31 December 2017, Directors are provided with monthly
updates on the Company’s performance, position and prospects to
enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their
duties. In addition, all Directors are encouraged to participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company updates Directors on the latest
development regarding the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements from time to time, to ensure compliance and
enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.

Attending
seminar(s) or
programme(s)/
reading relevant
materials in
relation to the
business, GEM
Listing Rules or
directors’ duties

(Yes/No)
Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng Yes
Mr. Fu Shou Gang Yes
Mr. Lau Chun Pong Yes
(appointed on 13 November 2017)
Mr. Luo Wei Kun Yes
Ms. Pang Yuk Fong
(resigned on 30 September 2017) Yes
Mr. Wang Zhi He Yes

The briefing sessions covered topics including the Code, listed
company regulations and disclosure obligations in Hong Kong,
discloseable transactions and connected transactions etc.
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REMUNERATION PAID TO MEMBERS OF KEY TRHFEEEE AESWEM

MANAGEMENT

Details of remuneration paid to member of key management (exclude SN FEEBEEAB(TEIEES)NWHFIHA

Director) fell within the following band: BNFUATEE :
2017 2016
—E—t5F TE—RF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE N
Nil ~ RMB1,000,000 T A R4 ,000,0007T 4 3
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE FEES

A remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration  AAFMEHFMEEL((HFMEES ) ER =
Committee”) was established on 12 August 2005 for, inter alia, the ~ ZEZERENA+—BKT » BT BEHEHE :
following purposes:

(@) to make recommendations to the Board on policies and @ MESEKaRERENTEERE

structure for remuneration of directors and senior management & LB IERMEABEREREZTA
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure BIEHEHMEBE  MEEGREE
for developing such policy on remuneration; B

(b) to make recommendations to the Board the remuneration (b)) FEITEERSREEEBHMSFEM

packages for executive Directors and senior management and EERIRLER - UHIERTESHH
to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of SREETIREES °

non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is made up of all of the Company’s FMNEEERARNA B IERITEEA
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lau Chun Pong K BIEIIRBEA(ERE)  BEBFLER
(Chairman), Mr. Luo Wei Kun and Mr. Wang Zhi He. The duties of =~ F2ZH1%4 - FMEE € 2B & Aia st &t
Remuneration Committee is to review and make recommendations ~ #1T% % MITHA B 2 HEEE R iF8IRH
to the remuneration policy and packages of the executive Directors koo

and executives.
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In 2017, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting. The
attendance record of each member of the Remuneration Committee
is set out below:

T—LFERTREH -

- BERKEMHELENT

Attendance
HER

Ms. Pang Yuk Fong (former Chairman) (resigned on 30 September 2017) 11
CEFRTIEE) R _E—tFHLAZTHET)
Mr. Lau Chun Pong (Chairman) (appointed on 13 November 2017) 0/0
BRABEE(EE)(RZE—+F+—AT+=HBEZT)
Mr. Luo Wei Kun 1/1
BB STE
Mr. Wang Zhi He 1/1
Tz E

During the meeting, members of the Remuneration Committee
reviewed the remuneration packages and overall benefits of the
Directors by taking into account factors such as remuneration
packages and benefits offered by comparable companies, the
respective contribution of each of the Directors to the Group and the
business objectives of the Group.

The executive Directors are responsible for reviewing all relevant
remuneration data and market conditions as well as the performance
of individuals and the profitability of the Group, and proposing to
the remuneration committee for consideration and approval. The
Remuneration Committee performed the major work as below:

1. reviewed and discussed the remuneration policy and structure
of the Company and the remuneration and performance of
duties of the executive Directors and senior management in the
year under review; and

2. made recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior
management.

gL FHZEeXECREETER(W
A& LB RIFT R AR B 58 Ma Al - &
EEUAKENEREASEXBER) R
A EERF N B R BB R o

HITEFAARIMABRFMEIE TR
AR MERIB TRIVEAREEAFEES - WA
YNz EeRE2ZERMILE - FHEZEaH
TEETHEMT :

1. B KA wN R EE AR R
BERERRBARBITEE RS REEE
ZEHMEBERITIER &

2. BEMTERLSAEEENMSAS
g e



—tEFR PEREREEERAF]

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

A nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was established on 12 August 2005 for, inter alia, the
following purposes:

(@ to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board;

(b) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorship; and

(¢) to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or reappointment of directors and
succession planning for directors.

In August 2013, the Board has adopted its board diversity policy
(the “Board Diversity Policy”). All Board appointments will be based
on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against selection
criteria based on a range of diversity perspectives, which would
include but not be limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee is made up of all of the Company’s

TEERHRE

REZES

AREMREZEG((REZEE])EN=
TTRFENA+TZHKL  EFEHERE

(@) MAEBFEHRE - AR NAK (BT
EE -~ MEBLER)
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FeRNEH

© HMERFAEHZEEFTNEFTIEE
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BIHBEREN—RIZ T BB RE
BREETRAMR - Fit - XERHBE
SR BELR - BEE - M MREER o
BEBRABZ RERAIAESEEEZE
BAM{ERRE ©
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D 3% B >

REAZBEHARREFBIULIFNTESA

independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Zhi He iK' BRI Z2MEE(EE) BEELER
(Chairman), Mr. Luo Wei Kun and Mr. Lau Chun Pong. SRR AE o
In 2017, the Nomination Committee held one meeting. The IREZEEN T tFYETXNEE -
attendance record of each member of the Nomination Committee is  IERZE &K BHNEFLENT ¢
set out below:

Attendance

HER

Mr. Wang Zhi He (Chairman) 1/1
T2 ST E(EE)
Mr. Lau Chun Pong (appointed on 13 November 2017) 0/0
BRIBAE(RZT—+F+—A+=HEZE)
Mr. Luo Wei Kun 11
BHRERE
Ms. Pang Yuk Fong (resigned on 30 September 2017) 1/1

CEFLLT(RZZE—FNA=THEHE)
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At the meeting, the Nomination Committee reviewed the structure,
size and composition of the Company’s Board of Directors, made
reference to criteria including, inter alia, reputation for integrity,
accomplishment and experience in the relevant industry, professional
and educational background, and commitment in respect of available
time and relevant interest. The Nomination Committee was satisfied
with the existing composition of the Board and recommended no
change in the near future, and performed the major work as below:

1. examined the structure, size and composition of the Board, to
ensure the Directors have the expertise, skills and experience
required to meet the Company’s business;

2. assessed the independency of all independent non-executive
Directors; and

3. made recommendations to the Board in this regard.

AMENDMENT TO THE TERMS OF REFERENCE OF
NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The terms of reference of the nomination committee of the Company
was amended on 14 August 2013 to include the review of the
Company’s board diversity policy and the progress on achieving the
objectives set for implementing the said policy as one of its duty.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company’s audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) was
established on 28 July 2003 and currently comprises all three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lau Chun Pong
(Chairman), Mr. Luo Wei Kun and Mr. Wang Zhi He. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee are (a) to review the Group’s annual
reports, financial statements, half year reports and quarterly reports;
(b) to serve as a focal point for communication between Directors,
the external auditors and internal auditors; (c) to assist the Board
in fulfilling its responsibilities by providing an independent review
and supervision of financial reporting, and the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control and risk management system; and (d) to
review the appointment of external auditors on an annual basis as
well as to ensure independence of the continuing auditors.
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TEERBRS
In 2017, the Audit Committee held four meetings. The attendance  HMZE €N —ZT—+F LRITINAEE -
record of each member of the Audit Committee is set out below: FMEZEEESKEMNHFLEENT -
Attendance
HER
Ms. Pang Yuk Fong (former Chairman) (resigned on 30 September 2017) 3/3
CEFLL(GIFERE)(RZT—tFNA=THET)
Mr. Lau Chun Pong (Chairman) (appointed on 13 November 2017) 11
BRIBSEE(FE)(RZE—tF+— A+ =BEZE)
Mr. Luo Wei Kun 4/4
BHERE
Mr. Wang Zhi He 4/4
T2 REE
At the meetings, the Audit Committee has carefully reviewed the @ EBERLTEECHAEMNARTNT
Company’s quarterly, half-yearly and annual results and its system B FFERFEEE - ARAZE I
of internal control and has made suggestions to improve them. The & @ WEIRHENEEZ - XL EGNEK

Audit Committee also carried out and discharged its other duties
set out in Code. In the course of doing so, the Audit Committee has
met the company’s management several times during year 2017.
Each member of the Audit Committee has unrestricted access to the
Group’s external auditors and the management.

During the financial year 2017, the Audit Committee has held four
meetings. The Group’s results for the year 2017 have been reviewed
and commented by the Audit Committee members, and performed
the major works as below:

1. reviewed the annual financial results and report for the year
ended 31 December 2016, interim financial results and report
for the six months ended 30 June 2017 and quarterly financial
results and reports for each of the three months ended 31
March 2017 and 30 September 2017;

2. reviewed the internal audit department’s report regarding
the reviewing and procedures of the internal control and risk
management of the Company; and

3. provided opinions to the Board in respect of the terms of
appointment of external auditors.

TR R TR - Bl - BuE
FR-E L ERRARANETER
& - AATLMBHEHRZERE
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The Group’s result for the year ended 31 December 2017 have been
reviewed and commented by the audit committee members, which
was of the opinion that the preparation of such results complied with
the applicable accounting standards and requirements as well as the
GEM Listing Rules and that adequate disclosures have been made.

Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board in writing through mails whose contact details are as
follows:

Room 19, 13/F, Tower A
New Mandarin Plaza

14 Science Museum Road
Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon
Hong Kong

Tel No.: 2366 1613

Fax No.: 2366 1665

Procedures for putting forward proposals at general
meetings by Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association, The Board may
whenever it thinks fit call extraordinary general meetings. Any one
or more members holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or
the Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within
two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-
one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Pursuant to Article 88 of the Articles of Association, no person other
than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless recommended
by the Directors for election, be eligible for election as a Director
at any general meeting unless a notice signed by a member (other
than the person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote
at the meeting for which such notice is given of his intention to
propose such person for election and also a notice signed by the
person to be proposed of his willingness to be elected shall have
been lodged at the head office or at the registration office provided
that the minimum length of the period, during which such notice(s)
are given, shall be at least seven (7) days and that the period for
lodgment of such notice(s) shall commence no earlier than the day
after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for
such election and end no later than seven (7) days prior to the date
of such general meeting.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial reporting

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of the
annual accounts which give a true and fair view of the Group’s state
of affairs of the results and cash flow for the year. In preparing the
accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017, the Directors have:

e adopted suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; and

e made judgements and estimates that are prudent and
reasonable; and ensured the accounts are prepared on a going
concern basis.

The Company recognises that high quality corporate reporting is
important in reinforcing the trust relationship between the Company
and the its stakeholders and aims at presenting a balanced, clear
and comprehensible assessment of the Company’s performance,
position and prospects in all corporate communications.
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Internal Control and risk management

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has reviewed the
effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal control and risk
management over financial, operational and compliance issues for
the year 2017. The Audit Committee concluded that, in general,
the Group has set up a sound control environment and installed
necessary control mechanisms to monitor and correct non-
compliance. The Board, through the review of the Audit Committee,
is satisfied that the Group in 2017, fully complied with the code
provisions on internal controls and risk management as set forth in
the Code. The Audit Committee also concluded that the Group has
employed sufficient staff for the propose of accounting, financial and
internal control. The Group has internal audit department.

External Auditors

The Group’s external auditors are KTC Partners CPA Limited.
The Audit Committee is mandated to ensure continuing auditors’
objectivity and safeguard independence of the auditors, and it has:

e determined the framework for the type and authorisation of
non-audit services for which the external auditors may provide.
In general, the engagement of the external auditors to perform
non-audit services is prohibited except for tax related services;
and

e agreed with the Board on the policy relating to the hiring of
employees or former employees of the external auditors and
monitored the applications of such policy.

During 2017, the remuneration payable to the Company’s external
auditors for audit and non-audit services were approximately
RMB1,480,000 and RMB Nil respectively.
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The accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 were audited
by KTC Partners CPA Limited whose term of office will expire upon
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. The Audit
Committee has recommended to the Board that KTC Partners CPA
Limited be re-appointed as the auditors of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

The Group has not employed any staff who was formerly involved in
the Group’s statutory audit.

Corporate Communication

The Group recognises the importance of shareholder feedback and
the need for ongoing communication with its stakeholders, including
the general public, investors, and the institutional and individual
shareholders. The Company published annual, interim and quarterly
reports which contained detailed information about the Group.
Inquiries by shareholders are directed and dealt with by senior
management of the Group.

Company secretary

Mr. Lui Chi Keung has been appointed as the company secretary
since September 2007. For the details, please refer to page 39 to
this report.

The company secretary has complied with Rule 5.15 of the GEM
Listing Rules in relation to the professional training requirements.

INVESTORS RELATIONSHIP

The Company has established a range of communication
channels between itself and its Shareholders, investors
and other stakeholders. These include the annual general
meeting, the annual, interim and quarterly reports, notices,
announcements and circulars and the Company’s website at
http://www.capitalfp.com.hk/eng/index.jsp?co=8270.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, there had been no
significant change in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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EERTEEEEBEER

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng, aged 54, has been appointed as chairman
of the Board, an executive Director and the compliance officer of the
Company since May 2006. From 9 January 2004 to 26 May 20086,
Mr. Wang was an executive director of Tianjin Jinran Public Utilities
Company Limited (“Tianjin Jinran”) (formerly known as Tianjin Tianlian
Public Utilities Company Limited), a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 01265, former stock
code: 08290), and was responsible for its business strategies. He
graduated from the University of Tianjin with a bachelor degree in
engineering in 1984. Mr. Wang is also a director of Tianjin Leason
Investment Group Company Limited (K32 i B 2% 15 & S= A BR A 7).
Mr. Wang is a substantial shareholder of the company which holds
394,239,983 Shares in person or through controlled corporation,
representing approximately 29.88% of the issued share capital of
the Company as at the date of this report. In addition, as at the
date of this report, Mr. Wang is interested as a grantee of options
to subscribe for 324,750 shares under the share option scheme
adopted by the Company on 18 May 2011 and as a holder of
convertible bonds convertible to 94,142,021 conversion shares.

Mr. Fu Shou Gang, aged 51, has years of experiences in the natural
gas sector. Prior to joining the Group, he worked in Tianjin Jinran,
where was pointed as an executive Director. Mr. Fu is interested as a
grantee of options to subscribe for 324,750 shares under the share
options scheme adopted by the Company on 18 May 2011.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Chun Pong, aged 44, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director on 13 November 2017. Mr. Lau graduated
from the University of California, Los Angeles with a Bachelor
of Arts degree in Business Economics in 1997. Mr. Lau is an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He has over 15 years’ working experience in
the accounting and auditing field. Mr. Lau was a qualified accountant
and company secretary of Shenzhen Mingwah Aohan High
Technology Corporation Limited (31T RAZEBRZRI R BR A
7]), a company listed on the Growth Enterprises Market of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8301), since April 2005 till May 2006. Mr.
Lau was the financial controller and company secretary of O Luxe
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 860), since June 2008 and resigned on
13 November 2017, and he is an independent non-executive director
of China Longevity Group Company Limited (stock code: 1863), a
company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange since June 2016.

Mr. Luo Wei Kun, aged 79, has been an independent non-executive
director of the Company since August 2006. He graduated from the
Tsinghua University with a bachelor’s degree in civil engineering in
1964 and started postgraduate studies in the same year. He was
awarded a postgraduate diploma in civil engineering in 1967. He
acted as a technician in Wuhan Branch of the Chinese Medicine
Industrial Limited during 1968 to 1969 and as a technician, deputy
section chief, section chief, engineer and vice chief engineer in the
State Ministry of Medicine — Hubei Medical Manufactory Branch
during 1969 to 1985. He then worked as a senior engineer, section
chief and assistant factory manager in Tianjin Second Coal Gas
Factory during 1986 to 1992. From 1992 to 2000, he acted as a
vice chief engineer in Tianjin Utility Department and at the same time,
worked as a chief engineer in Tianjin City Gas Administrative Office.
After his retirement in March 2000, Mr. Luo acted as a consultant of
Tianjin City Gas Administrative Office and Tianjin City Gas Planning
Office.
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Ms. Pang Yuk Fong, Yvonne, aged 51, is an experienced practising
certified public accountant in Hong Kong with over 25 years of
professional experience in accounting and auditing. Ms. Pang is a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Hong
Kong Institute of Company Secretaries and the Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators and an associate of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Ms. Pang holds
a Master of Professional Accounting Degree from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University.

Ms. Pang’s professional career started in Deloitte (one of the
Big-4 International Accountancy Firms) and subsequently held
the accounting positions in the listed companies in Hong Kong.
Ms. Pang has been running her own practice of Certified Public
Accountant (practicing) in Hong Kong since 1990’s and has
currently been the Managing Director of Focus Asia CPA Limited.
She has also been the Managing Director of Focus Secretarial
Services Limited which is engaged in providing multilateral company
secretarial services and the Managing Director of Focus Asia Market
Consultants Limited and Focus Corporate Consultancy Limited
which are engaged in providing business advisory services to her
clients in various aspects.

Ms. Pang has been appointed as an independent non-executive
Director since 2006 and resigned on 30 September 2017.

Mr. Wang Zhi He, aged 70, has been an independent non-executive
director of the Company since August 2006. Mr. Wang is a senior
accountant. Mr. Wang graduated from Anhui University of Finance
and Economics in February 1972, and was assigned to finance
department of Anhui Huaibei Mining Bureau and worked as a
commissioner, deputy section chief, section chief, deputy director
and director. Mr. Wang was transferred to the Ministry of Coal
Industry in May 1995, and worked as a director of Asset Capital
Management Division and State-owned Assets Management
department. In October 1997, Mr. Wang was re-designated as a
chief accountant of China Coal Construction Group Corporation, and
worked as a deputy general manager and chief accountant in May
1999. Mr. Wang was transferred to Zhonglian Gas Company Limited
and worked as a chief accountant in March 2004. Mr. Wang has
years of relevant experience.
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BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT

Senior Management

Mr. Lui Chi Keung, aged 60, has been appointed as the company
secretary and authorised representative of the Company since
September 2007. Mr. Lui presently is appointed as the Company’s
secretary and authorised representative. Mr. Lui is a fellow member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He
is also a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Mr. Lui has over 30 years of experience in auditing,
accounting, financial and business management.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 58 to 59.

The state of affairs of the Group and the Company as at
31 December 2017 are set out in the consolidated and company
statements of financial position on pages 60 to 61 and note
40 respectively. The cash flows of the Group are set out in the
consolidated statement of cash flows on pages 63 to 64.

The Directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of a
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2017.

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 30(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year is set out in
page 62 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

In accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and
the Company’s articles of association, the Company’s reserves
available for distribution to its shareholders comprise share premium,
contributed surplus and accumulated losses which in aggregate
amounted to approximately RMB336,144,000 as at 31 December
2017 (2016: RMB345,994,000). The distributable reserves are
available for distribution provided that immediately following the date
on which the dividend is proposed, the Company will be able to pay
off its debt as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year ended 31 December
2017 were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (Chairman)
Mr. Fu Shou Gang

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Chun Pong
(appointed on 13 November 2017)
Mr. Luo Wei Kun
Ms. Pang Yuk Fong (resigned on 30 September 2017)
Mr. Wang Zhi He

In accordance with article 87 of the Company’s articles of association,
Mr. Fu Shou Gang, Mr. Lau Chun Pong and Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng
retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election.

The term of office for each of independent non-executive Directors is
the period up to his retirement by rotation and re-election at annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the provisions
of the articles of association of the Company.
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Biographical information of the Directors is set out on page 36 to
page 39 of this report.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company
considers the independent non-executive Directors have remained
independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries which is not terminable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND KEY MANAGEMENT’S
REMUNERATION

Details of Directors’ and key management’s remuneration for the
year are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Directors’ remuneration are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board
with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance
and the results of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No other contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business
subsisted at the year-end or any time during the year to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly.
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COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or the management shareholders of the
Company or any of their respective associates (as defined in the
GEM Listing Rules) had an interest in a business which causes or
may cause any significant competition with the business of the
Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on Information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company'’s total issued share capital was held by the public as at
the date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2017, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by directors of listed
issuers as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules were as
follows:
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Long positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company

RAXRRD - HERDRES 25

B

Number

of shares/ Approximate

Nature of underlying % of

Name Capacity interest shares shareholdings
87

HE 4 EmME HERHEE BFRBABIL

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng  Interest of controlled Corporate 18,118,500 1.38%
FARBEE corporation interest (Note 1)
RiE L E NAER (MEE1)

Beneficial owner Personal 470,588,254 35.66%
EmEBA &A (Note 2)
(Bftsx 2)

Mr. Fu Shou Gang Beneficial owner Personal 324,750 0.02%
BRI LA A A EA (Note 3)
(M43 3)

Notes: BIE -

Such shares are owned by Jumbo Lane Investments Limited.

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng owns 100% interest in the issued share capital of Jumbo Lane
Investments Limited and he is taken to be interested in the shares owned by Jumbo
Lane Investments Limited pursuant to Part XV of the SFO (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong).

Out of the 470,588,254 long positions, Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng is interested as (i)
a grantee of options to subscribe for 324,750 shares under the new share option
scheme adopted by the Company on 18 May 2011; (ii) a beneficial owner of
376,121,483 issued shares of the Company; and (i) a holder of convertible bonds
convertible to 94,142,021 conversion shares.

Mr. Fu Shou Gang is interested as a grantee of options to subscribe for 324,750
shares under the new share option scheme adopted by the Company on 18 May
2011.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any other interests
or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which were otherwise required, pursuant to the required
standard of dealings by directors of listed issuers as referred to in
Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange. The Group had not issued any debentures
during the Year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND PERSONS
WITH DISCLOSEABLE INTEREST AND SHORT
POSITION IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES UNDER THE SFO

As at 31 December 2017, the following persons (other than the
Directors or chief executive of the Company as disclosed above) had
an interest or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in shares of the Company
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Percentage of

Name Number of shares Nature of Interest shareholding
HE RH&E EmEME BRESL
Ms. Zhao Xin (Note) 488,706,754 Interest of spouse 37.04%
R A+ (M) [P 3

Note:

Ms. Zhao Xin (the spouse of Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng) is deemed to be interested in her
spouse’s interest in the Company pursuant to the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, no other person
(other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) had
an interest or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under to section 336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S RIGHTS
TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the heading “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests or Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures” above and in the section “Share Option Scheme”
below, at no time during the Year were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any Director or their respective spouse or minor children
or chief executive or were any such rights exercised by them; or was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 18 May 2011, the
Company’s share option scheme adopted on 28 July 2003 (the
“Old Share Option Scheme”) was terminated and a new share
option scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”) was adopted
which will remain in force for a period of 10 years from adoption of
the New Share Option Scheme and will expire on 17 May 2021.
On 30 May 2011, the Board approved to grant options in respect
of 258,300,000 ordinary shares to the Company’s Directors,
employees and consultants under the New Share Option Scheme.

There were no share options that had been granted remained
outstanding under the Old Share Option Scheme prior to its
termination.

For details of the New Share Option Scheme, please refer to the
circular of the Company dated 20 April 2011.
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Information in relation to share options disclosed in accordance with
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RIZGEM LM AR RIPA IR BR A BB Y &

the GEM Listing Rules was as follows: BT -
Exercise
price of
Cancelled/ per share Adjusted
Name and Asat Granted Exercised lapsed Asat Date of Exercise asatthedate  exercise price
category of 1 January during the during the duringthe 31 December grant of period of of grant of per share
participants 2017 year year year 2017 share options  share options  share options option
R ER R RERE BfERE
ZE-tf Bi#/  CB-tF B BRE  RiliAH ZRE
SEENLREN -f-A  ERERE  EAEAR %% t=R=t-H RHAE %8 SRiEE %R
Executive Directors
HiEE
Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng 324,750 - - - 324,750 30/5/2011 30/5/2011- 049 381
TRBRE 29/5/2021
Mr. Fu Shou Gang 324,750 - - - 324,750 30/5/2011 30/5/2011- 049 381
%L 29/5/201
649,500 - - - 649,500
Employees 5,486,976 - - - 5,486,976 30/5/2011 30/5/2011- 049 381
€& 29/5/2021
Consuftants 25,982,598 - - - 25,982,598 30/5/2011 30/5/2011- 049 381
B 29/5/2021
32,119,074 - - - 32,119,074
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Notes: MTE_\I_ .
() The terms and conditions of the grants that existed during the year are as follows: () REFEFEZZLERRGHET
Number of Contractual
options Vesting conditions life of options
BREHE SRR BRESHES
Options granted:
ER HEARE
30 May 2011 215,220,000 Vest immediately 10 years
—T——HFhAA=1+H e 53 8 105
30 May 2011 43,080,000 Half on each of the first and second anniversaries 10 years
of grant date
—E——FhA=+H BRHBBzEEARE_@RAFAGR—F 104
(i) The number and weighted average exercise prices of options are as follows: (i)  EEREZHE RIEFEITEENT
Weighted average Number of
exercise price options
IR EE BREHE
HKS
BT
Outstanding as at 1 January 2017 RZE—tF—A—BRTE 3.81 32,119,074
Granted during the year FREFH - -
Outstanding as at 31 December 2017 RZE—tF+ZA=+—BRITE 3.81 32,119,074
Exercisable as at 31 December 2017 REZZE—tF+-A=+—RATfE 3.81 32,119,074
The options outstanding as at 31 December 2017 had an exercise price of HK$3.81 RIE—+F+ A=+ BZARTEBREZTHEES

and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 3.4 years.

3.8187T « MIETFHE KRBT EIRI.4F o

The subscription price per share under the New Share Option HEREAZSE T  BRAEEHESS
Scheme is solely determined by the Board, and shall be at least the — 2#ET  WEEDAUTSBEILSE
higher of: (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock (IR NIZSHHEREE B (BEALER)
Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of offer to grant option, R RIS B MER LAY 2 WTE : (i)l
which must be a business day; (i) the average of the closing prices PR EHEIE2F HHERES AT AL %A
of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations — fEB¢A piE B BRI FHKTHE : &
sheets for the 5 business days immediately preceding the date of (iR IR B EBRES B 2 EE - AR
offer to grant option; and (iii) the nominal value of a share on the date A IRTHER - AIERAEBE LFAE
of offer to grant option, provided that in the event of fractional prices, SR —l -

the subscription price per share shall be rounded upwards to the
nearest whole cent.



MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year under review, the top five customers of the Group
together accounted for approximately 52.97% of the Group’s total
sales for the year while the single largest customers accounted for
approximately 20.91% of the Group’s total sales during the year.

The top five suppliers of the Group for the year under review
together accounted for approximately 68.33% of the Group’s total
purchases for the year and the single largest supplier accounted for
approximately 25.54% of the Group’s total purchases.

None of the Directors, their respective associates or any
shareholders of the Company who owns more than 5% of the issued
share capital of the Company has any interests in the Group’s five
largest customers and suppliers above mentioned.

AMOUNT OF CAPITALISED INTEREST

Save as disclosed in this report, no interest has been capitalised by
the Group during the year.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Particular of the retirement benefits schemes of the Group are set
out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, WARRANTS OR
SIMILAR RIGHTS

As at the date of this report, the Company had outstanding options
to subscribe for 32,119,074 shares under the share option scheme
adopted on 18 May 2011 and outstanding convertible bonds
convertible to 94,142,021 conversion shares.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the bye-laws of the
Company or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

—tEFR PEREREEERAF]
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REIBEFAR  AEBRARFA R(EAEE
FREHETELNS2.97% MEAE—FP
BI{EREEFANBIEEFEL20.91% ©

AEEBAAHEENQBEFAS HEREE
FRBREREL68.33% @ MERAE—HE
B RIME AN SR B AR SR AE R 4025.54% °

B RERAMEBEALREMNHEEAR
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FRAIREFTIREESN
TR BRETTER -

R FETE

REE R F AL EA
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BisE32 ©

AHRRE S - RRREE SR UER

BYBE®EK

RAREBE AWM ER=2E——F
AT N\BRMOBA S8 T AR5
32,119,074 AR 15 BV T) R 1T {55 B A 4 DA K2 ]
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PURCHASE, SALE ORREDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2017, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed
securities of the Company nor any of its subsidiaries.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Company are set out
in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, Shanxi Qinshui
Prefecture Chengrong Investment Limited (“Chengrong Investment”)
has provided financing to the Group in the sum of RMB24,300,000.
As Chengrong Investment owns 17% equity interest in Shanxi
Wanzhi Logistics Limited (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company), Chengrong Investment is a connected person of the
Company under the GEM Listing Rules. As the financing is financial
assistance provided by a connected person for the benefit of the
Group on normal commercial terms (or better to the Company)
where no security over the assets of the Group is granted in respect
of the financial assistance, the transaction are exempt from the
reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
under Rule 20.65 of the GEM Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, Yangcheng Yangtai
Group Industrial Company Limited (“Yangcheng Yangtai”) has
provided financing to the Group in the sum of RMB13,080,000.
As Yangcheng Yangtai owns 20% equity interest in Huiyang
New Energy, (a non- wholly owned subsidiary of the Company),
Yangcheng Yangtai is a connected person of the Company under
the GEM Listing Rules. As the financing is financial assistance
provided by a connected person for the benefit of the Group on
normal commercial terms (or better to the Company) where no
security over the assets of the Group is granted in respect of the
financial assistance, the transaction are exempt from the reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval under Rule
20.65 of the GEM Listing Rules.

BE HEIFEOAQT LHES

REBEZE-_Z—+F+-A=+—HILFE -
ARRHEEAHBERRMEREE - HEX
BRIAR B S EEMNE RN EF _ EHhE
% o

EXBEALIRGREEBRERS

ARRIAEA LR B 2 HIBERGFE MR
FRAFFES9 °

BE_ZT—+F+_A=+—HIEEFEE b
KGRI BAREEAR([ERIRE DA
REBERMEE S AKEH24,300,0007T © H
REBREABLUABSYRER AR CK
NAEIZFEEMBAR) 217%B A -
RIBGEMEMHA - BBRRE/AREZ
BEAL BN EEESREEALIRE R
BRGER(RERRRMEEB®)RTTAE
Bz ER) - BB Z I 5 E B A
SEZEE - #IREBEGEM EmARRIF20.65
k- ZXPEHRETHR - D RIBL
RAEZIRTE -

HE-_T—+F+-A=+—HItFE %
WEEREBEXARAB(EHEER]) M
AEBIRHEE £ AKR¥13,080,0007T ° M
RIGH G R R RS R (AN AR 2 IER
BB AR Z20% AL - IRIEGEM E
MR B ERAA G ZBEAL - A
REBES BEEA TR —MEEER(EK
HARRME BB RBTAEB 2 HBE
B BEWERZMEEDHREAERZE
= HURIEGEM LR RI5E20.650% + 2
SERRBTRE - A RIBYREREZ
I °



The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements
in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. Save
as disclosed above, The Directors consider that those material
related party transactions disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements did not fall under the definition of “connected
transactions” or “continuing connected transactions” in accordance
with the GEM Listing Rules during the year under review.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or the management shareholders of the
Company or any of their respective associates (as defined in the
GEM Listing Rules) had an interest in a business which causes or
may cause any significant competition with the business as of the
Group.

AUDITORS

The accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 were audited
by KTC Partners CPA Limited whose term of office will expire upon
the annual general meeting. A resolution for the reappointment
of KTC Partners CPA Limited as the auditors of the Company for
the subsequent year is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

By order of the Board

Wang Zhong Sheng
Chairman

27 March 2018
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KTC Partners CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

Fofs @ ER F R AT A R 3

Tel E3%: (852)2314 7999

Fax 1% #:(852) 21109498

E-mail & F# 45: info@ktccpa.com.hk
Room 701, New East Ocean Centre,
9 Science Museum Road, Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong

BAENFRRDBARIAALEEIORM R AT E FOTHTIIE

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY
LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with
limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
CBM Group Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 58 to 182,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effect of the matter described
in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report, the
consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2017, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION
Corresponding figures

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2016 which form the basis for the
corresponding figures presented the current year’s consolidated
financial statements were not audited by us. The predecessor
auditor’s audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 was disclaimed
because of the significance of the possible effect of the limitation
on the scope of their audit and fundamental uncertainty relating
to the going concern bases, details of which are set out in the
predecessor’s auditor’s report dated 27 March 2017.
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Any adjustments to the figures mentioned above might have
consequential effects on the Group’s financial performance and
cash flow for the year ended 31 December 2016 and the related
disclosures thereof in the consolidated financial statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 2(b) to the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of
approximately RMB66,971,000 for the year ended 31 December
2017, and as of 31 December 2017, the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by approximately RMB368,917,000.
As stated in Note 2(b), these events or conditions, along with other
matters as set forth in Note 2(b), indicate that a material uncertainty
exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect
of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and

prepaid land lease payments

Refer to notes 15 and 16 to the consolidated financial statements
and the accounting policies on pages 79 to 81 and 82 to 84

respectively.

Key Audit Matter
BREEXEE

Rz PR RRR R = AR T -

%% HERRBURANSLBEE

DRI E M RERNE1I5R16 A KE
7TOHES1BENES2EE84HE Z TR ©

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNECNMFERZEARESLSZE

As at 31 December 2017, the carrying amounts of
property, plant and equipment and the prepaid land lease
payments were approximately RMB664,994,000 and
RMB35,120,000 respectively.
MoZ—LE+—A=+—H 9%  BERREARE
£33 2 M BRE{E 2 Bl R 49 A R #664,994,0007T K2 A
R #35,120,0007T °

We have identified the impairment of property, plant
and equipment and prepaid land lease payments as
a key audit matter because of their significance to the
consolidated financial statements and the involvement of
a significant degree of judgements and estimates made
by the management for the profit forecasts and cash flows
projections for the value-in-use calculations and the fair
value calculation made by the independent valuer.

BAIE - e R %M&ﬁﬁimﬂiM@ﬁ%%ﬁ
REzEE REASHUEGAMBREANEEN - Wk
%ﬁ%%ﬁﬂﬁ%&@%FEJéMEﬁwgﬁwu&%
SHERDPIER A P EFTEEL EA A R AET -

Our procedures were designed to review the
management’s assessment on the indication of
possible impairment and the reasonableness of the
judgements and estimates used by the management
in the value-in-use calculations and the fair value
calculation made by the independent valuer.
BPIEVEF  EEESEEEHAIGRLERETR M
EREREFEREBENTEALE L LERIEN AT
EFtEPERNAE A S R IEEL BT -

We have discussed the indication of possible
impairment with the management and, where such
indication were identified by the management, assessed
the impairment testing performed by the management.

AP EREEEN L RORETR - &iE
D B H S - BT (S 1T R R

?Ito

We have tested the profit forecasts and cash flows
projections on whether they were agreed to the
budgets approved by the directors of the Company and
compare with actual results available up to the report

date.
HPPA SR A TER KRS RE AR ﬁﬁ&?i%
g&mﬁ —H B R B E AR
X o

We have challenged the appropriateness of the
management judgements and estimates used in the
profit forecasts and cash flows projections, including
the sales growth rates and gross profit margins, against
latest market expectations.

BAME 2 R a5 T8 R R A 78 8| )R IR & R = 78 8
PR E IR E A B R (B REEERERENX)
HEA MR E R

We have also challenged the discount rates adopted
in the value-in-use calculations by reviewing its basis
of calculations and comparing the input data to market
sources.

RIMVEFEBES Hat BER Y 5% A BURETIZHR
EITHER - EREREEAETRANMERE -

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s
fair value calculation included assessing the valuation
methodology used and the appropriateness of the key
assumptions based on the public available facts and
circumstances of the property market in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”). We had also checked,
on sample basis, the accuracy and relevance of the
input data used.
BMEBREREL T ETE m%ﬁkfa%mf¢$
,AE/Jﬂl(ﬁPljﬂﬁimﬂ%#J FAS=E
FHEPTAREET ENEARBREREE - ﬁﬁﬁ%%
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Impairment assessment of trade and other receivables

Refer to note 22 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies on pages 85 to 91.

Key Audit Matter
ARELSEIE

BB RS

FE UK BR R 2 HL A B WO IR R B T A

2HGEA Y B RERN 2R ESSHEINE
SRR -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ERNEZNMERZEARELEE

As at 31 December 2017, trade and other receivables of
the Group amounted to approximately RMB81,352,000,
net of accumulated impairment losses of approximately
RMB20,366,000.

RZE—+F+A=+—0 EEENEKERERZEM
FEW R IE B A A R ¥81,352,0007T (k% 2FHREEEL
AR#20,366,0007T) °

We have identified impairment assessment of trade and
other receivables as a key audit matter because the
assessment of allowance for impairment loss required
significant management estimations and judgement.

F AP I UK BR R B B At FE WL R TR AR (B AT A 38k Bl A B i 2
%EE - RESMLREBEREHAEEEFEEEAMET
RHE -

Our audit procedures were designed to challenge the
assumptions and critical judgements of the Group’s
impairment assessment on trade and other receivables
and the management estimations.

BB ZEF EEE R &5 E R WNER T H e
WORTERUE APE B0 R A% N R B2 2 A N B IR g (it -

We have discussed the indication of possible
impairment with the management and, where such
indication were identified, assessed the management’s
impairment testing.
BMELEERENRAUELRABRETR - ke
BAHZETR - QMO EREETORERH -

We have discussed with the management in respect of
the adequacy of the provision of impairment made by
the management.

BMEREREMERERERS T BEETH®

We have challenged the assumptions and critical
judgements used by the management by assessing
the reliability of the management’s past estimates
and taking into account the ageing at year end and
cash received after year end, as well as the recent
creditworthiness of each debtor.

BB B EE IR BB A AR SEME & M FRER
R FERECRRCUARGEREBANTHEEE -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon. The other information is expected
to be made available to us after the date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information identified above
when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981
and our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA’s
website at: http://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/standards-and-regulations/
standards/auditing-assurance/auditre/

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

KTC Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

Chow Yiu Wah, Joseph
Audit Engagement Director
Practising Certificate Number: PO4686

Hong Kong
27 March 2018
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—FT—tF+-A=+—HILEFE

2017 2016
—Z2—+F —E—REF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BEE AR®BTRT ARBETF T
Revenue I zs 5 178,562 218,879
Cost of sales SHER A (145,786) (230,567)
Gross profit/(loss) EF(EE) 32,776 (11,688)
Other income and gains or losses H A YA K Mz ks 18 6 (12,818) (5,012)
Selling and distribution costs SHE RO HK A (9,239) (10,721)
Administrative expenses ITHHX (67,899) (60,961)
Finance costs W%ER 7(0) (9,171) (10,925)
Loss before taxation FREiAIEE 7 (66,351) (99,307)
Income tax expense iSRSz 8(a) (620) (3,077)
Loss for the year AEEFHE (66,971) (102,384)
Attributable to: TR -

Equity shareholders of the Company KRR AR IRER (70,219) (101,002)
Non-controlling interests IR A 3,248 (1,382)
(66,971) (102,384)
RMB RMB
ARE AREE

Loss per share SREE 12
— Basic and diluted - BERREE 5.32 cents® 7.65 cents7

The notes on pages 58 to 182 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.

FE58HE182H 2 M AR I F4R & M 15T
REFEMD ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meBakHMEEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BLZ—%&

—tFE+-A=+t—HLEE

2017 2016
—T—+tF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTRT ARBETF T
Loss for the year AEEBE (66,971) (102,384)
Other comprehensive income AEEHMEZEUA
for the year
ltem that may be reclassified HigneEamotEs
subsequently to profit or loss: BmrIEE -
Exchange differences on translation RMERINEB I B
of financial statements of foreign R ERE
operations (17,540) 116
Total comprehensive expense AEEZHEBAZEEE
for the year (84,511) (102,268)
Total comprehensive expense THIELZEAEEE :
attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company FiN/NGIV- TS (87,759) (100,886)
Non-controlling interests eI 3,248 (1,382)
(84,511) (102,268)
The notes on pages 58 to 182 form part of these consolidated F58H =182 8 7 M A I F47 4 M5 3R

financial statements.

KEFEMD ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ma BRI R

At 31 December 2017 A=F—tH&+=-A=+—H

2017 2016
—Z2—+F —E—REF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BaE AR¥ TR ARBETF T
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment E Y 15 664,994 728,717
Prepaid land lease payments A E 16 34,249 35,074
Deposits and prepayments HESENEEE 18 26,347 26,347
725,590 790,138
Current assets MENEE
Prepaid land lease payments Ef i E 16 871 863
Financial assets at fair value through BAVE ABRZ
profit or loss TREE 20 - 200
Inventories FE 21 1,492 8,115
Trade and other receivables JrE LA BR 2k K LA FE LU FRTE 22 81,378 100,285
Tax recoverable AT U el A IS 2,000 2,000
Cash and cash equivalents ReEMRESZEY 23 8,572 20,534
94,313 131,997
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade and other payables JE AT BR R e ELAth B A< 5RIE 24 378,151 382,927
Bank and other borrowings RITREMER 25 47,280 40,080
Obligations under finance leases AT B A 26 21,912 19,933
Provision B 28 10,963 8,658
Tax payable FEAIFRIR 4,924 6,574
463,230 458,172
Net current liabilities RBEERE (368,917) (326,175)
Total assets less current liabilities (AEERREI&E 356,673 463,963




T EFRPEREREEERAF

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e M BIRR R

At 31 December 2017 R=Z—+tF+=-A=+—8H

2017 2016
—Z2—+F —E—REF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BaE AR¥ETxR AREFTT
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Obligations under finance leases BE T &R IE 26 3,849 25,626
Convertible bonds Al ES 27 9,543 8,316
Deferred tax liabilities FEERRIAE & 29 9,656 11,885
23,048 45,827
Net assets BEERE 333,625 418,136
Capital and reserves BEAXRRGEE
Share capital &z 30(a) 10,910 10,910
Reserves ] 333,578 421,337
Equity attributable to equity RARERR R E (LS
shareholders of the Company 344,488 432,247
Non-controlling interests VAR M (10,863) (14,111)
Total equity HRERS 333,625 418,136

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27

March 2018.

Wang Zhong Sheng

TEB
Director

EF

The notes on pages 58 to 182 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.

T -
Fu Shou Gang
A=A
Director
EF

F58E £ 1828 2 izt AEmM L
REFEG o

CIN=N R
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEREREER

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—FT—tF+-A=+—HILEFE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

ARARRRAELR
Convertible Non-
Share Share General Translation Contributed Share option honds Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve surplus reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
TRRES
Rk ROEE  -REG  HERE  EHER  BREGE i RHEBR g sRER e
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTRE ARETR ARMTR ARBTR ARMTn ARETR ARMTn ARETR ARETR ARETR ARMTR
Balance at 1 January 2016 W=E-E-A-BEH 10910 131,082 8,273 (528 584838 30849 8052 (285943 533183 (12729) 520404
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - - - (101,00 (101,00 (1389 (102,384)
Other comprehensive TEEEMRERA
income for the year . - - 116 = . . - 116 - 116
Total comprehensive TEERERXEE
expense for the year - - - 16 - - - (101,002 (100,886) (1382 (102,268)
Balance at RZZ-R
31 December 2016 TZR=t-REH 10,910 131,082 8,273 (b412) 584838 30849 8652 (336,945 430247 (14111) 418136
Balanceat 1 January 2017~ RZE—t5-F-H&H 10,910 131,082 8,273 (5,412 584,838 30,849 8,652 (336,945 432,247 (14111) 418,136
Loss for the year TEEER > = = = = s - (68024 (68,024) 3248 (64,776)
Deregistration of a subsidlary - BE T —EHERR
(Note 36) (F336) = = = - - - - (2,195) (2,195) - (2,195)
Other comprehensive TEEEMZENA
income for the year - - - (17,540) - - - - (17,540) - (17,540)
Total comprehensive TEERERREE
expense for the year - - - (17,540) - - - (10219)  (87,759) 3,248 (84,511)
Balance at R=8-t£+=H
31 December 2017 S+-REH 10,910 131,082 8,273 (22,952) 584,838 30,849 8,652  (407,164) 344,488 (10,863) 333,625




T EFRPEREREEERAF

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—ZF—tF+-A=+—HILFE

2017 2016
—T—+tF —E—RF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BEE AR®BTRT ARBETF T
Operating activities BB
Loss before taxation BREEATE 1R (66,351) (99,307)
Adjustments for: MY FIEAE
Depreciation of property, plant and M - S REETE
equipment 77,805 80,080
Amortisation of prepaid land lease TEf T HbE 2B IE
payments 817 863
Impairment loss on property, s - HWES R ERERE
plant and equipment 8,329 -
Interest income FLBWA (32) (85)
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property, HEWZE « WERERE
plant and equipment F (M), EiE (406) 228
Impairment loss on inventories FEREESE 4,397 -
Impairment loss on trade receivables  JEURBR 2k & E Ath fE U 208
and other receivables ZREEE 6,080 5,613
Written off of other receivables Tl 8 B At FE LSRR 1,561 -
Finance costs MEER 9,171 10,925
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary ~ #$8E 52— B A R]
B Es 18 2,195 -
Provision for production safely EERERE 3,804 4,293
47,370 2,510
Changes in working capital EEEEE
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERD,(1Em) 2,226 (63)
Decrease in trade and JFE U5 AR R K% ELAth P L
other receivables IR 9,037 5,974
(Decrease)/increase in trade and JE{F BR 3R N L A+t
other payables FIECRA) 1N (3,748) 18,173
Decrease in provision for production EERERER D
safety (1,499) (2,247)
Cash generated from operations BEEREE RS 53,386 24,347
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid B EEMEH (4,387) (1,477)
Net cash generated from operating REEEBEELEZREFE
activities 48,999 22,870

63



64

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED Annual Report 2017

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ =%

—tHE+ZA=T-HLFE

2017 2016
—Z2—+F —E—REF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BEE AR¥ETxr ARBETF T
Cash flows from investing activities REFEELEZHRLSRKE
Payment for purchase of property, BEYHE  MERREZ
plant and equipment (NE (23,090) (9,473)
Proceeds from disposal of property, MEWE -« WS REREZFT
plant and equipment B50R 1,078 1,641
Decrease in deposits and prepayments 5] & M I8 ZIER = 183
Interest received RIS 32 85
Sale proceed of financial assets BAFENEZSREE
at fair value HEFTS A 200 -
Net cash used in investing activities REEEFFAZREFHE (21,780) (7,564)
Cash flows from financing activities BEEEEEZRLSRE
Proceeds from new bank and other FTIEIRIT REMERZ
borrowings PR1SZIR 9,900 -
Repayment of bank and other EERRITREAMBER
borrowings (2,700) (3,000)
Interest paid on bank and other RITREMER BN
borrowings FE (4,043) (3,629)
Capital element of finance leases BEML 2 EAREH (19,798) (28,327)
Interest element of finance leases BE ML 2 F B E D (3,241) (5,796)
Net cash used in financing activities FI& EBFIAZIREFE (19,882) (40,748)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and RERRELSHEWIEM
cash equivalents (R4 )38 7,337 (25,442)
Cash and cash equivalents at R—A—BZzRERALE
1 January =EY)] 20,534 45,437
Effect of foreign exchange rate EREE 25
changes (19,299) 539
Cash and cash equivalents at BW+=-A=+—H2ZRER
31 December ReEEY 23 8,572 20,534
The notes on pages 58 to 182 form part of these consolidated 588 £1828 » M fT4HMK It H47 4 M 5

financial statements.

FEFEMD ©



T EFRPEREREEERAF

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—ZF—tF+-A=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

China CBM Group Company Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in
the Cayman Islands on 15 July 2002 under the Companies
Laws of the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda. The
change of domicile of the Company from Cayman Islands to
Bermuda was effective on 23 April 2014.

The shares of the Company are listed on the GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate
Information” section in the annual report.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are principally engaged in the business of exploitation,
liquefaction production and sale of natural gas in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”).

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong. These consolidated financial statements
also comply with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“GEM Listing Rules”).

—REH

FREEREERRAR(TARF DR
—EE-FLA+AARERERERN
AEERERETMN I AEREAR
REIVHRBERETE - ARFIAMAE
HEBMZEREN_ZT—HNFWNA
—t+=H4E®-

ARRZBINNEBEEBMAERZMBERA
Al ([ B 22 FT 1 )GEM £ o AR R alsEfit
WER R T E LI 2l - TR
RERIRBER—H -

ARRREFED T ER/IREER - AR
AREMBAR (BB AEE D E2E
REARAMBE([FE DRALERA
R - RICEERHER o

FEETBR
(@) FEEH

WERAMBHRKRIVZMEER
ZEEWEREEN(EBHMB
WEEN | ZREEREEES
fing(IBAESHAE])RBM
ZHBER @B BT HHRE
R BAGENTELAER
EH D) MBREBUANEB L BR®Y

SETRADRE - WEHAMT
BRAMTEBERBGH 2 KE
RERBEMARZMERRAR]
GEME 75 £ AR B ([ GEM LT 2
Al ) 2 BRI ERIR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—FT—tF+-A=+—HILEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2017 comprise the Company and its

subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is the historical cost
basis, except those disclosed otherwise in the accounting

policies below.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis of making the judgements about carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these

estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both

current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have a significant effect on the consolidated
financial statements and major sources of estimation

uncertainty are discussed in note 4.

2. EESEE#)

(b) HFEMBRRFERELE

E-—FT-—EtFFT-A=1+—H
LHFEZGEAMBRREELRR
AIREMBARZAREMEERE -

BRTITXZE@ABRZBRES
Sh - REGRAMIERMEREMAZ
STEEEQE L RAREE o

AT EBBWHHRE LR ZER
EMBmARE  FREEEEHFL
TEHURZERARBBEE - &
& WARRXZZ2HREZH
B~ fhET R o R FhEH R
AREDREELEREZHA
AR (BERZFEBERTR/E
B)MIEL - ISERBREEE
i B B RBER E A AR BARR S

BERABENEREEFELDHEZ
HE - BERERISERINMEE

B e

REBEFEFTEM ST BRI
RIEL AT - GatAFT 2280
REEEH  MERTERNMGE
HEE YR - MZBEG A
ZEBHTEEHEARBRE - A
BRZENE M N AR HREER -

A& & 78 B % i S R R I B IR
BFTtE 2 HE (B8 M HRRE
REAFE) REFHAEEE 2 T
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T EFRPEREREEERAF

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—ZF—tF+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the consolidated

financial statements (Continued)

Going concern

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately
RMB66,971,000 during the year ended 31 December
2017 and as at 31 December 2017, the Group had net
current liabilities of approximately RMB368,917,000. These
conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty
that may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and that the Group may be
unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the
normal course of business.

Nevertheless, the directors of the Company had adopted
the going concern basis in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group based on
the following factors:

(1) Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (“Mr. Wang”), a substantial
shareholder, the chairman and executive director of
the Company, has confirmed to provide continuing
financial support to the Group to enable it to continue
as a going concern and to settle its liabilities as and
when they fall due in the foreseeable future;

(2) The directors of the Company will anticipate that the
Group will generate possible cash flows from its future
operations;

(8) 2 major gas suppliers of the Group with an aggregate
amount of approximately RMB135 million, which
represents about 91% of the trade payable balance as
at 31 December 2017, have agreed that their amount
due by the Group would be payable by way of
monthly settlement in accordance with the repayment
schedule;

2. EESFTEHE#)

(b) HREMBRRFEREEE)

FIEKE
HE_T—+F+=-A=+—8
EFE  AREEAFEBEOHA
R ¥66,971,0007C - R =F—+
F+-_A=+—H xEEEF
B B &4 AR 368,917,000
TL e A EMABREFEERTE
Tl HAJge o AEERFELE
ZEENHREBREM  UEAE
BB AT AR EBBRERE
REEERENHBE -

BEWL - ERUTEE - AR
RAEFERUAEELES VKR
REF DR R SRR

(1) ARFIZEERR - EEFEK
HITEETEBEAE([E%
£ DR ARNEERMHF
BUBEXIE  UWSKREERE
WIFERE  ReWENTE
] RARREIEEN 2 15

@ ARREFEHMAEEZH
BEETRELRGRE

B EBEAEHODARK
135,000,000 7T Z I8 (4914
—E—tF+ZHA=+—H
LN R AR 291%) - R
SEMARBHEEREHE
AEEEN 2 HRBHREERE
REPIER FAZA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—FT—tF+-A=+—HILEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

Going concern (Continued)

(4) Certain construction suppliers of the Group with an
aggregate amount of approximately RMB34 million
included in payables for acquisition of property, plant
and equipment as set out in note 24 under trade
and other payables, have agreed not to demand for
repayment for their amount due before 30 June 2019;

(5) The lender of an unsecured loan of approximately
RMB24 million due to a non-controlling shareholder of
PRC subsidiary as at 31 December 2017 as set out in
note 25, has agreed to extend repayment period up
to 27 August 2019;

(6) To raise funds by way of issuing additional equity or
debt securities; and

(7) To negotiate with certain bankers to obtain additional
banking facilities, if necessary.

Provided that these measures can successfully improve
the liquidity of the Group, the directors of the Company
are satisfied that the Group will be able to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due for the foreseeable
future. According, the consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis.

2. EESEE#)

(b) HREMBRRFEREEE)

42 e s [ g
SIS (1B

(4) BB EE 24 P L AH A E S BR
AN HA BN RIAR T 2
BYE HBuELREBEN
REZZBEHHARE
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=+ RZAEERS BN
18 ;

G) BHFSSFER T —+
F+_A=Z+—BERMF
B B B A Bl — 44 FE I IR AR
BzEBEBFEROARE
24,000,000 2 KB - ER
AEWEERERHE T
—hENA=++H:

(6 BB (TRINR K B
HEE R

(7) EETFIRTETER U
SEBIMRITRVE (WFE) »

fid bt iE FERE R T B N R B 2
MBETMN » KRRIEFER
AREBEKREHRA] R ARREITH
B EAREN 2 B RS - At - 47
EUBBRDBEFELEEE
MR



— =

T EFR PERKEREEGRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—ZF—tF+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the consolidated

(c)

financial statements (Continued)

Going concern (Continued)

Should the Group be unable to operate as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to write
down the value of assets to their recoverable amounts,
to provide for further liabilities which might arise and to
reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as current assets
and liabilities respectively. The effects of these adjustments
have not been reflected in the consolidated financial
statements.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and
other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only
to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

2. EESFTEHE#)

(b) HREMBRRFEREEE)

(c)

+ 42 g s [ g
SIS (1B

i N 52 B R BE DA R B 48 28 EL B K
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e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—FT—tF+-A=+—HILEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

(Continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each
business combination, the Group can elect to measure any
non-controlling interests either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s
net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the
Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of the
Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between non-controlling interests
and the equity shareholders of the Company. Loans from
holders of non-controlling interests and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are presented as
financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial
position in accordance with the accounting policies in note
2 depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no
gain or loss is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—ZF—tF+-A=+—HILFE

2. EESEE#)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair value
and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset (see note 2(e)) or, when
appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment
in an associate or joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(j)), unless the investment is
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group
that is classified as held for sale).

Business combinations and goodwill

(i) Business combinations
Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using
the acquisition method. The consideration transferred
in a business combination is measured at fair value,
which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date
fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

(c)

(d)
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e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—FT—tF+-A=+—HILEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(d) Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

(i) Business combinations (Continued)
At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets
or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree
or share-based payment arrangements of the
Group entered into replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment
at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy
below); and

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—ZF—tF+-A=+—HILFE

2. EESEE#)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d) Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

U]

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of
the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately
in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

When the consideration transferred by the Group
in a business combination includes assets or
liabilities resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement, the contingent consideration is
measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
included as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that qualify as measurement
period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with
the corresponding adjustments against goodwill.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments
that arise from additional information obtained during
the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed
one year from the acquisition date) about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d) Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

U]

Business combinations (Continued)

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair
value of the contingent consideration that do not
qualify as measurement period adjustments depends
on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset
or a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting
dates in accordance with HKAS 39, or HKAS 37
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets, as appropriate, with the corresponding gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages,
the Group’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition
date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains control)
and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in
the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have
previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss where such
treatment would be appropriate if that interest were
disposed of.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A IERARMTE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—ZF—tF+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHEEE)

(Continued)
d) ¥EBEstREEE)

(d) Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

(i) Goodwill (OGEE

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period (see above), and
additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to
reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date
that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognised at that date.

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business (see the accounting policy above) less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(d) Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

(ii) Goodwill (Continued)

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may
be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then
to the other assets of the unit on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised
directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised
for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A IERARMTE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—ZF—tF+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHEEE)

(Continued)

(e) Other investments in debt and equity securities

() MEMRIAES 2 Hithik

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, are as follows:

Investments in debt and equity securities are initially stated
at fair value, which is their transaction price unless it is
determined that the fair value at initial recognition differs
from the transaction price and that fair value is evidenced
by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset
or liability or based on a valuation technique that uses only
data from observable markets. Cost includes attributable
transaction costs, except where indicated otherwise
below. These investments are subsequently accounted for
as follows, depending on their classification.

Investments in securities held for trading are classified
as current assets. Any attributable transaction costs are
recognised in profit or loss as incurred. At the end of
each reporting period the fair value is remeasured, with
any resultant gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does
not include any dividends or interest earned on these
investments as these are recognised in accordance with
the policies set out in note 2(s).

Dated debt securities that the Group have the positive
ability and intention to hold to maturity are classified as
held-to-maturity securities. Held-to-maturity securities are
stated at amortised cost less impairment losses (see note

2().
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e) Other investments in debt and equity securities

(f)

(Continued)

Investments in securities which do not fall into any of
the above categories are classified as available-for-
sale securities. At the end of each reporting period the
fair value is remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss
being recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the fair value reserve.
As an exception to this, investments in equity securities
that do not have a quoted price in an active market for an
identical instrument and whose fair value cannot otherwise
be reliably measured are recognised in the statement
of financial position at cost less impairment losses (see
note 2(j)). Dividend income from equity securities and
interest income from debt securities calculated using the
effective interest method are recognised in profit or loss in
accordance with the policies set out in note 2(s). Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from changes in the
amortised cost of debt securities are also recognised in
profit or loss.

When the investments are derecognised or impaired (see
note 2())), the cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity
is reclassified to profit or loss. Investments are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/
sell the investments or they expire.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management
are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated statement
of cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—ZF—tF+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHEEE)
(Continued)

(g) Property, plant and equipment (0) 3% - HEBEBREE

Property, plant and equipment (other than construction in
progress) are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses (see note 2())).

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the
initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling
and removing the items and restoring the site on which
they are located, and an appropriate proportion of
production overheads and borrowing costs (see note 2(u)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit
or loss on the date of retirement or disposal. Any related
revaluation surplus is transferred from the revaluation
reserve to accumulated losses and is not reclassified to
profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight line method over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

Over the shorter of
unexpired term of
the leases or 20 to

— Buildings held for own use

30 years
— Leasehold improvements 2 — 5 years
— Pipelines 5-20 years
— Plant and machinery 3 - 15 years
— Computer equipment 3 -5 years
— Furniture and equipment 3-10years
— Transportation and motor 4 —10 years

vehicles
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(g) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and
its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and
equipment under construction and pending installation
and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses,
if any. Cost includes the costs of construction of the
buildings, the costs of plant and machinery and interest
charges arising from borrowings used to finance these
assets during the period of construction or installation
and testing. No provision for depreciation is made on
construction in progress until such time the relevant assets
are completed and are available for their intended use.
When the assets concerned are brought into use, the costs
are transferred to other property, plant and equipment and
depreciated in accordance with the policy as stated above.

Expenditure on the construction, installation or completion
of infrastructure facilities such as platforms, pipelines and
the drilling of commercially proven development wells but
do not include geological and geophysical costs which are
expensed directly to profit or loss as they are incurred, is
capitalised as coalbed methane development costs within
construction in progress. Coalbed methane development
costs are stated at cost less any identified impairment loss.
Coalbed methane development costs are classified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation
on these assets, on the same basis as other property
assets, commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—ZF—tF+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(9)

(h)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Tangible assets acquired for use in well driling works of
ground drainage activities are classified as property, plant
and equipment.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and
recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded
as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination are reported at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are
acquired separately.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the
estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses (see
note 2(j)).

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
assets’ estimated useful lives. Intangible assets with finite
useful lives are amortised from the date they are available
for use over their estimated useful lives.

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed
annually.

(9)

(h)
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h) Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives
are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the useful
life of an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed annually to
determine whether events and circumstances continue to
support the indefinite useful life assessment for that asset.
If they do not, the change in the useful life assessment
from indefinite to finite is accounted for prospectively from
the date of change and in accordance with the policy for
amortisation of intangible assets with finite lives as set out

above.

() Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines
that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific
asset or assets for an agreed period of time in return for
a payment or a series of payments. Such a determination
is made based on an evaluation of the substance of the
arrangement and is regardless of whether the arrangement

takes the legal form of a lease.

(i) Classification of assets leased to the Group
Assets that are held by the Group under leases which
transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as being held
under finance leases. Leases which do not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the Group are classified as operating leases, except
that land held for own use under an operating lease,
the fair value of which cannot be measured separately
from the fair value of a building situated thereon at
the inception of the lease, is accounted for as being
held under a finance lease, unless the building is
also clearly held under an operating lease. For these
purposes, the inception of the lease is the time that
the lease was first entered into by the Group, or taken

over from the previous lessee.
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2. EESEE#)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i) Lease assets (Continued)

(ii)

Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under
finance leases, the amounts representing the fair
value of the leased asset, or, if lower, the present
value of the minimum lease payments, of such assets
are included in property, plant and equipment and
the corresponding liabilities, net of finance charges,
are recorded as obligations under finance leases.
Depreciation is provided at rates which write off the
cost or valuation of the assets over the term of the
relevant lease or, where it is likely the group will obtain
ownership of the asset, the life of the asset, as set
out in note 2(g). Impairment losses are accounted
for in accordance with the accounting policy as set
out in note 2(). Finance charges implicit in the lease
payments are charged to profit or loss over the period
of the leases so as to produce an approximately
constant periodic rate of charge on the remaining
balance of the obligations for each accounting period.
Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.
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e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—Z—tF+-A=+—HLEFE
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEEFHBE®)
(Continued)
() Lease assets (Continued) (i) HEEE#E)
(iiiy Operating lease charges (i) LEHEER
Where the Group has the use of assets held under MASEEREBELCERLYFEH
operating leases, payments made under the leases BE  rHOBT 2R BIZ

are charged to profit or loss in equal instalments THEFTRE 2 25T I RS
over the accounting periods covered by the lease EnHeEEBEENR

term, except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived
from the leased asset. Lease incentives received are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments made. Contingent
rentals are charged to profit or loss in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating
lease is amortised on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease term except where the property
is classified as an investment property or is held for
development for sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—ZF—tF+-A=+—HILFE

2. EESEE#)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

() Impairment of assets

U]

Impairment of investments in debt and equity
securities and other receivables

Investments in debt and equity securities and other
current and non-current receivables that are stated at
cost or amortised cost or are classified as available-
for-sale securities are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period to determine whether there is
objective evidence of impairment. Objective evidence
of impairment includes observable data that comes to
the attention of the Group about one or more of the
following loss events:

significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor; and

— asignificant or prolonged decline in the fair value
of an investment in an equity instrument below its
cost.

() BEERME

U]

REBEBRAZFSZZRER
HibEWFRIE ZRE

REBRBRAFRZZER
H 35 BF K JE 3R B B LGRIR
(FRPK AN Sl SH A AN 51| BR ok 57
HAMHHERESR)TIRER
EHRTUEZ  UEBETER
GHERBBEZEEZR - BAE
CEREEBRBEASESEE
MBI —ENXZIEEE
FIEMABRER

- EBAEBERUBRN
%

- EX - BUERKRM
MBEARE R

- EBAFTRESETHE
RFIETEMMBE
I

- ﬂ'%ﬁ N miﬁ 5 /)”‘-ﬁ“ /2?
RRELAHEB AL
KREEEENERE
&

- BRATARENRFE
RNIEHEHTIEEER
HARA o

85



86

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED Annual Report 2017

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—FT—tF+-A=+—HILEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

() Impairment of assets (Continued)

(i) Impairment of investments in debt and equity
securities and other receivables (Continued)
If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is
determined and recognised as follows:

—  For unquoted equity securities carried at cost,
the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the carrying amount of the financial asset
and the estimated future cash flows, discounted
at the current market rate of return for a similar
financial asset where the effect of discounting is
material. Impairment losses for equity securities
carried at cost are not reversed.

— For trade and other current receivables and
other financial assets carried at amortised
cost, the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition of
these assets), where the effect of discounting is
material. This assessment is made collectively
where these financial assets share similar risk
characteristics, such as similar past due status,
and have not been individually assessed as
impaired. Future cash flows for financial assets
which are assessed for impairment collectively
are based on historical loss experience for assets
with credit risk characteristics similar to the
collective group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—ZF—tF+-A=+—HILFE

2. EESEE#)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

() Impairment of assets (Continued)

U]

Impairment of investments in debt and equity
securities and other receivables (Continued)

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be linked
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised, the impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss. A reversal of an impairment
loss shall not result in the asset’s carrying amount
exceeding that which would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised in prior
years.

Impairment losses are written off against the
corresponding assets directly, except for impairment
losses recognised in respect of trade debtors and bills
receivable included within trade and other receivables,
whose recovery is considered doubtful but not remote.
In this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts
are recorded using an allowance account. When
the Group is satisfied that recovery is remote, the
amount considered irrecoverable is written off against
trade debtors and bills receivable directly and any
amounts held in the allowance account relating to
that debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously charged to the allowance account
are reversed against the allowance account. Other
changes in the allowance account and subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off directly
are recognised in profit or loss.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

() Impairment of assets (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to identify
indications that the following assets may be impaired
or, except in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

- goodwill;

—  property, plant and equipment;
—  prepaid land lease payments;

— intangible assets;

—  deposits and prepayments; and
— investments in subsidiaries.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill,
intangible assets that are not yet available for use and
intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives, the
recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or
not there is any indication of impairment.

2. EESEE#)
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(ii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—ZF—tF+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHEEE)

(Continued)
() Impairment of assets (Continued) () BEEBE®R

(i) HtbBEEREE)

(i) Impairment of other assets (Continued)

—  Calculation of recoverable amount STERIE &5
The recoverable amount of an asset is the BEzAKOeREEHE
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal NV ER A SR A R

and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is determined for
the smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHEEE)

(Continued)
() Impairment of assets (Continued) () EEREGE)
(i) Impairment of other assets (Continued) (i) HbEERMEGE)
- Recognition of impairment losses - WRBEEBRE

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds
its recoverable amount. Impairment losses
recognised in respect of cash-generating units
are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating
unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce the
carrying amount of the other assets in the unit
(or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except
that the carrying value of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).

EEEREMBRETE
EEMZREEBBE
AElesE - AR ER
RHERRMEREE - BLIR
CELBMERZRE
BE - A ERD RN
BMODEERECELE
7 (S ERIAERI) Z
BEZREE A&
Fic LAIR EE R > 3% B AU
(REBEMAR) 2 HME
EZEREE HEEEZ
FREES T BN =R
P E B B A SR &
PRAS (AR A] T 5T 8 ) Sk
REERTFEE) -

- Reversals of impairment losses - BEUREEE
In respect of assets other than goodwill, an HEEBUIINZEEM
impairment loss is reversed if there has been = WANEE T E
a favourable change in the estimates used CRRMGETHRENE

to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in
the year in which the reversals are recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—ZF—tF+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

() Impairment of assets (Continued)

(iii) Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the GEM Listing Rules, the Group is required
to prepare an interim financial report in compliance
with HKAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting, in respect
of the first six months of the financial year. At the end
of the interim period, the Group applies the same
impairment testing, recognition, and reversal criteria as
it would at the end of the financial year (see notes 2(j)(i)
and (ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in
respect of goodwill, available-for-sale equity securities
and unquoted equity securities carried at cost are
not reversed in a subsequent period. This is the case
even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have been
recognised had the impairment been assessed only
at the end of the financial year to which the interim
period relates. Consequently, if the fair value of an
available-for-sale equity security increases in the
remainder of the annual period, or in any other period
subsequently, the increase is recognised in other
comprehensive income and not profit or loss.

(k) Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula
and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k) Inventories (Continued)

()

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all
losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the
period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any
reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as
a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an
expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair
value and thereafter stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less allowance for impairment of
doubtful debts (see note 2(j)), except where the receivables
are interest-free loans made to related parties without any
fixed repayment terms or the effect of discounting would
be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are stated at
cost less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A IERARMTE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—ZF—tF+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHEEE)
(Continued)
(m) TR ES

(m) Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds that contain an equity component

Convertible bonds that can be converted to equity share
capital at the option of the holder, where the number of
shares that would be issued on conversion and the value
of the consideration that would be received at that time
do not vary, are accounted for as compound financial
instruments which contain both a liability component and
an equity component.

At initial recognition the liability component of the
convertible bonds is measured as the present value of
the future interest and principal payments, discounted
at the market rate of interest applicable at the time of
initial recognition to similar liabilities that do not have
a conversion option. Any excess of proceeds over the
amount initially recognised as the liability component is
recognised as the equity component. Transaction costs
that relate to the issue of a compound financial instrument
are allocated to the liability and equity components in
proportion to the allocation of proceeds.

The liability component is subsequently carried at
amortised cost. The interest expense recognised in profit
or loss on the liability component is calculated using
the effective interest method. The equity component is
recognised in the capital reserve until either the note is
converted or redeemed.

If the note is converted, the capital reserve, together with
the carrying amount of the liability component at the time
of conversion, is transferred to share capital and share
premium as consideration for the shares issued. If the note
is redeemed, the capital reserve is released directly to
retained profits.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHEEE)

94

(Continued)

(n) Interest-bearing borrowings (n) sHrEER
Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair FFRERVITSEAFEREMLR
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to SKATER o RYIPHERE » 7
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated BEFIREBHEKARS R - V)T
at amortised cost with any difference between the amount RemEBEREAERMMNEMRNERE
initially recognised and redemption value being recognised (EREMNENFMERER) ST
in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings, together BRHAANERMNEERNIBEER
with any interest and fees payable, using the effective TR o
interest method.

(0) Trade and other payables (o) EERFREMENRIE
Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair FERTRR R R E A B SRIBT 91 28
value. Trade and other payables are subsequently stated BAFEER - BNERZREREAM
at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be &S 3R I8 HL 18 R SH R AR B B
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. MEMBEBIR o EWTEK - 8

1R AT B o

(p) Employee benefits p) EEER

(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in
the year in which the associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or settlement is
deferred and the effect would be material, these
amounts are stated at their present values.

Contributions to Mandatory Provident Funds required
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance and mandatory central pension
schemes organised by the local government of the
PRC government are recognised as an expense in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss as incurred.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—ZF—tF+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHEEE)
(Continued)

(p) Employee benefits (Continued) ) EETRE)

(i) Share-based payments iy UARMBAERZHAR

Share options granted by the Company to employees
of the Group in an equity-settled share-based
payment arrangement.

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in a share option reserve within equity. The
fair value is measured at grant date using the Binomial
option pricing model, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the options were granted.
Where the employees have to meet vesting conditions
before becoming unconditionally entitled to the share
options, the total estimated fair value of the share
options is spread over the vesting period, taking into
account the probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in
prior years is charged/credited to the profit or loss for
the year of the review, unless the original employee
expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, with
a corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as
an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number
of options that vest (with a corresponding adjustment
to the share option reserve) except where forfeiture
is only due to not achieving vesting conditions that
relate to the market price of the Company’s shares.
The equity amount is recognised in the share option
reserve until either the option is exercised (when it
is transferred to the share premium account) or the
option expires (when it is released directly to the
accumulated losses).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHEEE)
(Continued)

(p) Employee benefits (Continued) ) EETRE)

(i) Share-based payments (Continued)
Share options granted to consultant in an equity-
settled share-based payment transactions.

Share options issued in exchange for goods or
services are measured at fair values of the goods or
services rendered, unless that fair value cannot be
reliably measured, in which case the goods or services
received are measured by reference to the fair value
of the share options granted. The fair values of goods
or services received are recognised as expenses
immediately, unless the goods or services qualify for
recognition as assets. Corresponding adjustment has
been made to equity (share option reserve).

(9) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts
of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A IERARMTE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—ZF—tF+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHEEE)
(Continued)
() FriB%i(#&)

(9) Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority and
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a
period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilised.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHEEE)

(Continued)

(a) FrBBiE)

(9) Income tax (Continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part
of a business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that,
in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of
deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will
reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of
the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that
it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution
of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the
related dividends is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—ZF—tF+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(9) Income tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group
has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the following additional
conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

— inthe case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

—  the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled
or recovered, intend to realise the current tax
assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a
net basis or realise and settle simultaneously.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(r

(s)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group or the Company has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Provided it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue
and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue
is recognised in profit or loss as follows:

(i) Sales of liquefied coalbed gas and piped natural
gas
Revenue from sales of liquefied coalbed gas and
piped natural gas are recognised when the gas is
delivered and title has passed. Revenue excludes
value-added and business taxes and trade discounts.

(i) Income from provision of gas supply connection
services
Revenue from provision of gas supply connection
services is recognised when the relevant construction
work is completed and connection services are
rendered.
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(s)
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2. EESEE#)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

Income from provision of liquefied coalbed gas
logistics services

Revenue from provision of logistics services is
recognised when services are rendered.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position initially when there
is reasonable assurance that they will be received
and that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them. Grants that compensate the Group
for expenses incurred are recognised as revenue
in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same
periods in which the expenses are incurred. Grants
that compensate the Group for the cost of an asset
are deducted from the carrying amount of the asset
and consequently are effectively recognised in profit or
loss over the useful life of the asset by way of reduced
depreciation expense.

A government grant that becomes receivables as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial
support to the entity with no future related costs shall
be recognised in profit or loss of the period in which it
becomes receivable.

Rental income
Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the period of the lease.

(s) WzmEss (&)

(iii)
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(vi)
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHEEE)

(Continued)

() MEBE

(t) Translation of foreign currencies

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”).

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”) and the presentation currency is RMB. The
reason for using RMB as a presentation currency is that
the functional currency of the principal entities within the
Group is RMB.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange
gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair
value was measured.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(t)

(u)

Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

The results of foreign operations are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement
of financial position items, including goodwill arising on
consolidation of foreign operations acquired on or after
1 January 2005, are translated into RMB at the closing
foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated separately
in equity in the translation reserve. Goodwill arising on
consolidation of a foreign operation acquired before
1 January 2005 is translated at the foreign exchange
rate that applied at the date of acquisition of the foreign
operation.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount
of the exchange differences relating to that foreign
operation is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when
the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred.
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2. EESEE#)
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(u) Borrowing costs (Continued)

(v)

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of
a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the
asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for
its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of
borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially
all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset
for its intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified from
the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of,
the Group’s lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments
have similar economic characteristics and are similar in
respect of the nature of products and services, the nature
of production processes, the type or class of customers,
the methods used to distribute the products or provide
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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2. EESEE#)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(w) Related parties

(@)

(b)

A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is @ member of the key management personnel
of the Group or the Group’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

M

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others);

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member);

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party;

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(w) Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vi) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.

(b)

2. EESEE#)

(w) BEEANL(#E)

i 77 & T HEMMRAE - BIE
BEAEBEARE : (&)

ERAAREENEARE
BEHECERERER
F 25 8% 37 B B B 12 42 A
BEK

=

(Vi) BEEEX(PTHERIALE
Bl HKEES]

R(@)() PRI A T ¥ E 8
BEAFENSIEBZE

(HZEERNEAAF))
ZEHEKE &

(vii)

H-Wﬁ?iﬂﬁf//

—EEBEZF
T%E@Z—
RN e N
AREBEFrEERE

(viii) E

L\) = m
b) ><F

”ﬂ“#ﬁ/%‘r?ﬁ’%

> N B B
e
»Jd
S 2

AR RRER B HEER
ZERETR IHFEA
2 YXZBPAFTENRE
B4

o

o

\



T EFRPEREREEERAF

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—ZF—tF+-A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatory
effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time in the current year:

Amendments to Disclosure Initiative
HKAS 7

Amendments to Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised
HKAS 12 Losses

Amendments to As part of the Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
HKFRS 12 2014-2016 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on
the Group’s financial performance and positions for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 “Disclosure Initiative”

The Group has applied these amendments for the first time in
the current year. The amendments require an entity to provide
disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including
both cash and non-cash changes. In addition, the amendments
also require disclosures on changes in financial assets if cash
flows from those financial assets were, or future cash flows will
be, included in cash flows from financing activities.

Specifically, the amendments require the following to be
disclosed: (i) changes from financing cash flows; (i) changes
arising from obtaining or losing control of subsidiaries or other
businesses; (i) the effect of changes in foreign exchange rates;
(iv) changes in fair values; and (v) other changes.

A reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of
these items is provided in note 37. Apart from the additional
disclosure in note 37, the application of these amendments
has had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 9
HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16
HKFRS 17
HK(IFRIC) - Int 22

HK(IFRIC) - Int 23

Amendments to
HKFRS 2

Amendments to
HKFRS 4

Amendments to
HKFRS 9
Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28
Amendments to
HKAS 28
Amendments to
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKAS 40

Amendments to
HKFRSs

Financial Instruments'

Revenue from Contracts with Customers and the
related Amendments'

Leases?

Insurance Contracts®

Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance
Consideration’

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments?

Classification and Measurement of Share-based
Payment Transactions'

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with HKFRS
4 Insurance Contracts'

Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture*

Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures?

As part of the Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2014-2016 Cycle'

Transfers of Investment Property'

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs and
interpretations mentioned below, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of all other new and amendments
to HKFRSs and interpretations will have no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial assets, financial liabilities, general
hedge accounting and impairment requirements for financial
assets.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 which are relevant to the Group
are:

e all recognised financial assets that are within the scope of
HKFRS 9 are required to be subsequently measured at
amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments
that are held within a business model whose objective
is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have
contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal outstanding are generally
measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequent
accounting periods. Debt instruments that are held within
a business model whose objective is achieved both by
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial
assets, and that have contractual terms that give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding,
are generally measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”). All other financial assets
are measured at their fair value at subsequent accounting
periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9, entities may make
an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in
the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held for
trading) in other comprehensive income, with only dividend
income generally recognised in profit or loss.

e in relation to the impairment of financial assets, HKFRS 9
requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed to an
incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39. The expected
credit loss model requires an entity to account for expected
credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition. In other words, it is no longer necessary
for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are
recognised.
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3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued)

Based on the Group’s financial instruments and risk
management policies as at 31 December 2017, the directors of
the Company anticipate the following potential impact on initial
application of HKFRS 9:

Impairment

In general, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of the expected credit loss model of HKFRS 9 will
result in earlier provision of credit losses which are not yet
incurred in relation to the Group’s financial assets measured at
amortised costs and other items that subject to the impairment
provisions upon application of HKFRS 9 by the Group.

Based on the assessment by the directors of the Company,
if the expected credit loss model were to be applied by the
Group, the accumulated amount of impairment loss to be
recognised by Group as at 1 January 2018 would be slightly
increased as compared to the accumulated amount recognised
under HKAS 39 mainly attributable to expected credit losses
provision on rental and other receivables and fixed deposits with
financial institutions. Such further impairment recognised under
expected credit loss model would reduce the opening retained
profits at 1 January 2018.

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers”

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will
supersede the current revenue recognition guidance including
HKAS 18 “Revenue”, HKAS 11 “Construction Contracts” and
the related interpretations when it becomes effective.

3.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers” (Continued)

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the Standard
introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
e  Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
e  Step 3: Determine the transaction price

e  Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

e  Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies
a performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’ of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive
guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific
scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by
HKFRS 15.

In 2016, the HKICPA issued Clarifications to HKFRS 15 in
relation to the identification of performance obligations, principal
versus agent considerations, as well as licensing application
guidance.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of HKFRS 15 in the future may result in more disclosures,
however, they do not anticipate that the application of HKFRS
15 will have a material impact on the timing and amounts of
revenue recognised in the respective reporting periods.
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3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting treatments
for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS
17 Leases and the related interpretations when it becomes
effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the
basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a customer.
Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are removed
for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model where a right-
of-use asset and a corresponding liability have to be recognised
for all leases by lessees, except for short-term leases and
leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions)
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted
for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease liability
is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments
that are not paid at the date. Subsequently, the lease liability is
adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact
of lease modifications, amongst others. For the classification
of cash flows, the Group currently presents upfront prepaid
lease payments as investing cash flows in relation to leasehold
lands for owned use and those classified as investment
properties while other operating lease payments are presented
as operating cash flows. Under the HKFRS 16, lease payments
in relation to lease liability will be allocated into a principal and
an interest portion which will be presented as financing and
operating cash flows.

In contrast to lessee accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially carries
forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS 17, and
continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.

3.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

As at 31 December 2017, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of RMB584,000 as disclosed
in note 35(b). A preliminary assessment indicates that these
arrangements will meet the definition of a lease under HKFRS
16, and hence the Group will recognise a right-of-use asset and
a corresponding liability in respect of all these leases unless they
qualify for low value or short-term leases upon the application of
HKFRS 16. In addition, the application of new requirements may
result changes in measurement, presentation and disclosure as
indicated above. However, the directors of the Company do not
expect the adoption of HKFRS 16 as compared with the current
accounting policy would result in significant impact on the result
and the financial position of the Group.

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

Judgements and estimates are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

(a) Sources of estimation uncertainty
Key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(i) Estimation of impairment of trade and other

receivables

The policy for recognising impairment on receivables
of the Group is based on an evaluation of the
collectibility and ageing analysis of accounts and on
management’s judgement. A considerable amount
of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate
realisation of these receivables, including the current
creditworthiness and the past collection history of
each debtor. If the financial conditions of the Group’s
debtors were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment
of their ability to make payments, additional
impairment may be required.
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4. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(a) Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
prepaid land lease payments

The Group tests annually whether property, plant
and equipment and prepaid land lease payments
have suffered any impairment in accordance with
relevant accounting policies. The recoverable
amounts have been determined based on value-in-
use calculations and fair value calculation. The value-
in-use calculations require the use of estimates such
as the profit forecast, cash flows projections and
pre-tax discount rates. In determining the fair values,
an independent professional valuer assesses the
significant unobservable input by reference to market
data and takes into consideration certain estimates
of market conditions. As at 31 December 2017, the
carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment
and prepaid land lease payments are approximately
RMB664,994,000 (2016: RMB728,717,000)
and RMB35,120,000 (2016: RMB35,937,000)
respectively net of accumulated impairment losses
recognised of approximately RMB100,415,000 (2016:
RMB92,086,000) and RMB Nil (2016: RMB Nil)
respectively.

Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves judgement
on the future tax treatment of certain transactions.
The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of
transactions and tax provisions are set-up accordingly.
The tax treatment of such transactions is reconsidered
periodically to take into account changes in tax
legislations. Deferred tax assets are recognised for all
unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the losses
can be utilised. Significant management judgement
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely
timing and level of future taxable profits together with
future tax planning strategies.
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4. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b) Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following critical accounting
judgements:

U

(ii)

Renewal of gas business operating permits

The Group holds certain gas business operating
permits with licence period of 3 to 5 years at date
of issue which will be expired in year 2018 to 2021
and the renewal of which is subject to the approval
by the relevant PRC authorities. In the opinion of the
directors, taking into account legal opinion from the
Company’s PRC legal counsel, there are no legal
impediments for the Group to renew its gas business
operating permits upon expiry.

If the Group were unable to renew these permits
upon expiry, the carrying amounts of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment of approximately
RMB664,994,000 (2016: RMB728,717,000) and
prepaid land lease payments of approximately
RMB35,120,000 (2016: RMB35,937,000) might be
significantly reduced, and the Group might increase
depreciation and amortisation charges of those
assets where their useful lives are less than previously
estimated, or it might write off or write down the
carrying amount of those assets.

Going concern consideration

The assessments of the going concern assumptions
involve making judgement by the directors of the
Company, at a particular point of time, about the
future outcome of events or conditions which are
inherently uncertain. The directors of the Company
consider that the Group has the ability to continue as
a going concern and the major events or conditions,
which may give rise to business risks, that individually
or collectively may cast significant doubt about the
going concern assumptions are set out in Note (2b) to
the consolidated financial statements.
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5. REVENUE 5. W
2017 2016
—Z2—+tF ZE—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARET T
Sales of liquefied coalbed gas RICHERHEE 35,684 146,951
Provision of liquefied coalbed gas R E R YRS
logistics services 7,263 10,013
Sales of piped natural gas (including EBRARHEE
provision of gas supply connection (BIERHERERR)
services) 135,615 61,915
178,562 218,879
OTHER INCOME AND GAINS OR LOSSES 6. HWARWzmNEE
2017 2016
— TE-RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBETF T
Other income Hitug A
Interest income from bank deposits RITHERZFEHRA 32 85
Net foreign exchange gain HNE Wz FEE = 72
Rental income HEUWA 303 148
Value-added tax refund AIEAIBER 4,003 -
Sundry income EAET PN 603 424
4,941 729
Other gains or losses Hitth =618
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, HEWZE - #es R E
plant and equipment Wiz, (E518) 406 (228)
Impairment loss on property, EI YN
plant and equipment BIEEE (8,329) -
Impairment loss on trade and JRE LS BR 3 I L FE MR IE 2.
other receivables WIEEE (6,080) (5,513)
Written-off of other receivables T 8H B Ath FE L FR IR (1,561) -
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary ~ HiSEE —FEHE AR
(Note 36) HEs 18 (PP7E36) (2,195) -
(12,818) (5,012)
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LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 7. BREIATEE
Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging: BRI RIEIEE R AT &IE -
2017 2016
—E—+fF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR ARETT

(a) Staff costs (including directors’ (a) B THRA(RIFHMIzEOH

and chief executive’s NEZERESTH
emoluments in note 9) AEE®)
Salaries and other benefits e REAMAMEF 24,658 26,566
Retirement benefits schemes RREFIFH IR
contributions 4,161 4,162
Total staff costs* 488 T A 28,819 30,728
Amount excluded staff costs capitalised in construction in progress of * SHETBEEREEZIRERNMEZBEIRALY
approximately RMB29,000 (2016: RMB31,000). AR#29,0007t (ZZF—7~F : AR%31,000

JT) e
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7. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging: (Continued)

MREAIEE (&)

BREAIEIECHIRIA T RIR © (&)

2017 2016
—F—+tF ZE—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR ARETF T
(b) Other items (b) Hfth1EH
Cost of inventories (Note 21(b)) FE 2K A(FiEE21() 81,216 132,301
Auditors’ remuneration 2GR
— audit services - ZEARTE 2,033 1,716
- non-audit services - X BURT = 189
Depreciation of property, plant and Yzt - SN EREITE
equipment 77,805 80,080
Amortisation of prepaid land lease TEf L HbAE S8 5H
payments 817 863
Operating lease charges in respect of ~ Tith MIEF 2 &F&FHL
land and buildings =53 428 811
Research and development costs [N 317 579
(c) Finance costs (c) B KA
Interest expenses on bank and other HRIT R EABIER
borrowings 2 BRX 4,043 3,625
Effective interest on convertible bonds ~ AI# A% (&% 2 B F & 1,887 1,504
Finance charges on obligations under ~ EYEFAEFIE 2 B E & F
finance leases 3,241 5,796
Total interest expenses on financial W IR N FER ABE
liabilities not at fair value through ZEMBEIHE
profit or loss s 4858 9,171 10,925
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—ZF—tF+-A=+—HILFE

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(@)

Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
represents:

8.

mEEBRAZHMED

(@) #RBBImAAZIHIALRE

2017 2016
—EF—+tF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR ARETF T
Current tax - PRC Enterprise BNEAFRIE — RE 2
Income Tax (“EIT”) Frigfi ([ EEFEH 1)
Provision for the year NEFEEE 2,738 4,769
Deferred tax IBERIE
Origination and reversal of temporary TR EEELE REE
differences (2,118) (1,692)
Income tax expense PSRz 620 3,077

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and continued in Bermuda as an exempted company
under the laws of Bermuda and, accordingly, is exempted
from payment of the Bermuda Income Tax.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of
the estimated assessable profits for the year ended
31 December 2017 (2016: 16.5%). No provision for Hong
Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group has no
estimated assessable profits arising in or derived from
Hong Kong for the years ended 31 December 2017 and
2016.

Taxation for overseas subsidiaries is charged at the
appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in the relevant
countries.

ADEER SRS MK LR
BEREANN T REFERE
BRAT  ELEREHAER
RIS -

HE-_T—+tF+=-HA=+—8H
IEFEZEBNFHRILMEETER
Hmfz1656%(ZFE—RF :
16.5% )5t E - HRAEEREE
—E—+tERZE-RE+=ZA
=+t HEFEVERBBEE
HIRE BB AT ERTEF -
WAL & A EABNEBED A8
K

BN B A BRI T IR A R
RRITEE R R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—FT—tF+-A=+—HILEFE

8.

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 8.
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

(@

Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

represents: (Continued)

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulations of the EIT Law, the tax rate
of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008

onwards.

Reconciliation between income tax expenses and

mEBERAZFEH#)

(@) #HFABERRANZBHARE: (#)

REERERMABHROPEIER
(TREMEBE]) REEMFHR
EEHGD - PEMBARA
TENFEF-A-BHEZHREXR
25% °

(b) REABREREZPTEHF MR

accounting loss at applicable tax rates: DEEEZEHERNOT ¢
2017 2016
—EF—+tF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR ARETF T
Loss before taxation BR% Al ES 1R (66,351) (99,307)
Notional tax on loss before taxation, LB R A EE A
calculated at the rates applicable MEGTE 2 BREAIEE
to the tax jurisdictions concerned BEMIA (14,752) (23,000)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses N AIFIFF S 2 i i/ & 6,953 11,387
Tax effect of unrecognised temporary RERELRFERE L
differences Mg E (3,403) 1,328
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised KR IEEIE 2
T 2 13,332 14,568
PRC withholding tax R EITEHEL (1,510) (1,206)
Income tax expense PSRz 620 3,077
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8. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

©)

Pursuant to the EIT Law in the PRC, from 1 January 2008,
non-resident enterprises without an establishment or place
of business in the PRC or which have an establishment or
place of business in the PRC but whose relevant income is
not effectively connected with the establishment or a place
of business in the PRC, will be subject to withholding tax
at the rate of 10% (unless reduced by tax treaty) on various
types of passive income such as dividends derived from
sources within the PRC.

Pursuant to the Sino-Hong Kong Double Tax Arrangement
and the related regulations, a qualified Hong Kong tax
resident will be liable for a reduced withholding tax rate
of 5% on dividends from a PRC enterprise if the Hong
Kong tax resident is the “beneficial owner” and holds 25%
or more of the equity interest of the PRC enterprise. A
withholding tax rate of 5% is applicable to entities held by
a qualified Hong Kong incorporated subsidiary.

8. MEBERRAZHER &)

(©)

REFBECERMAERE AT
ENF—A—BE EPEERN
ARRIBBREEWE > HEH
EHBRARLEEE X
BES 2 WA B E A R Bl A P
REBRERBFERAERBE
ZHEREE  BARZERS
WA (IR R BRI 2 I B 3%
10% 5% & (B FE IR B U 15 TE IR %2 )
BUANTEINML ©

REFEEEHHLBEREHER
T HABHRERASTEER
MIBESHEBA]l URFBEZTE
DER2B%BIA LEAEDE A&
REBHHERES B LR
FALE B R = A R TR
5% o HAEEE ML M
BRARKBZEBZAMRER
5% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—FT—tF+-A=+—HILEFE

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the six (2016: five)

directors and the chief executive were as follows:

9. EERBSITRAEME

ENSENAR(ZE—RF: AR)E
ERESTRABSEAZMEWT

Salaries, Retirement Equity-settled
allowances benefits  share-based
and benefits  Discretionary schemes payment 2017
Fees in kind bonuses contributions expenses Total
NREEE
2R RINER Btz ZB-tF
ik ENER BfEa HE (L NEAF3 &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®Tr ARBTr ARETn ARt ARET=:
Executive directors BIES
Wang Zhong Sheng TRk - 867 - - - 867
Fu Shou Gang e - 87 - - - 87
Independent non-executive  BUFHMITEE
directors
Lau Chun Pong (appointed on 311573
13 November 2017) (R=—t%
+-A+=H
Bz ) - - - - - -
Wang Zhi He TzM 43 - - - - 43
Luo Wei Kun i3 43 = = = = 43
Pang Yuk Fong resignedon &% %
30 September 2017) (R=F—tF
NAZTBEE) 3 = = = = 3
119 954 - - - 1,073
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

9. EERBSITBRAEME#)

Salaries, Retirement  Equity-settled
allowances benefits  share-based
and benefits  Discretionary schemes payment 2016
Fees inkind bonuses  contributions EXpenses Total
DRERE
Ec SRR B
EHR RIRARR Az ZERE
ik ENET| BigTEa FE L NRFEX &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARETR  ARETRT  AR%TT  ARBTRT  AREBTR
Executive directors BOES
Wang Zhong Sheng TRk - 1,098 - 6 - 1,104
Fu Shou Gang el - 252 - - - 252
Independent non-executive  BUFHMITEE
directors
Wang Zhi He Tz 86 - - - - 86
Luo Wei Kun BlEE 43 - - - - 43
Pang Yuk Fong ;) 43 - - - - 43
172 1,350 - 6 - 1,528

During the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, since
the appointment of the chief executive officer of the Company
remains outstanding, no emoluments were paid to the chief

executive officer of the Company.

Neither the chief executive officer nor any of the directors
waived any emoluments in the years ended 31 December 2017
and 2016. No inducement payments to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office were paid or
payable to any director or the chief executive officer for the

years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.

RBE-B—+FR-T—AF+-A
SH—AULFE - mRADTMKRES
TREE, - B E A AR ER Y

BN

REBEE-_Z—+FER-_T—XRF+-H
=—t+—HIEFE - BETBEE TR
BENELMNHE - REBE-Z—tF
EZE-RF+_A=t+—HILFE -
W A E Bl TR AR S S s S
A MAREF S INAAER G 2 EE

SRR o
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—FT—tF+-A=+—HILEFE

10. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 10. REFAL
EMOLUMENTS
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, AEELEGEIHALTH ME(ZF
two (2016: two) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed —REFMB)RESF  KEZMER
in note 9. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the MIEFO TR - Ht =R (=T —RF :
other three (2016: three) individuals are as follows: =R)ANTZMESBENT
2017 2016
—E—+iF —E—RE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARET T
Salaries and other emoluments e RHAMREF 1,512 1,681
Retirement benefits schemes RREAET K
contributions 40 41
1,552 1,722
The emoluments of the three (2016: three) individuals with the ZR(CERE ZR)REFALTY
highest emoluments are within the following bands: BN FIATEE -
2017 2016
—Z2—+fF NS
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR ARBETF T
Nil to RMB1,000,000 T & AR¥1,000,0007T 3 3
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—ZF—tF+-A=+—HILFE

DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been proposed or declared by the directors for
the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

The basic and diluted loss per share is RMB5.32 cents per
share (2016: RMB7.65 cents per share). The calculation of
the basic loss per share for the year ended 31 December
2017 is based on the loss attributable to equity shareholders
of the Company of approximately RMB70,219,000 (2016:
RMB101,002,000) and the weighted average number of shares
of approximately 1,319,484,000 (2016: 1,319,484,000) in issue
during the year ended 31 December 2017.

The calculation for diluted loss per share for the year ended
31 December 2017 is based on the loss attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company of approximately RMB70,219,000
(2016: RMB101,002,000) and the denominator used are the
same as for the basic loss per share. Diluted loss per share
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company for the years
ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 is the same as the basic
loss per share as the effect of potential ordinary shares from the
exercise and conversion of share options and convertible bonds
are anti-dilutive.

11.

12.

3=\

BHE-_ZT—+F+-A=t+—HIF
B BEFVEZZRNIEREE(Z
T—REE) o

BREE

EREAREITIEERERARYK
520 (ZF—RF : BRARKT7.65
D) HEZZE—+FF+ZA=+—
AIEFECERENEEDRENE
2 Z—+HF+-_A=+—HILFE
AR TR EEEEBEEOARE
70,219,000 (= —RF : AR
101,002,0007T ) K& B 1T 0 b4
HE#91,319,484,0000% ( — T — /<4 -
1,319,484,0000%) st &5 »

HE_ZT—+F+_A=1+—HILFE
2 BB EBBREAA REERE
FE(LE 184 AR ¥670,219,0007 (= F
—7RNF  AR¥101,002,0007T) 5t &
FH - MARGE S HHEGRERE
BAER - BEZZ—+FRZT—RF
+ZA=+—HIEFEARRERRE
EhEREEEEEGREREIEE
B RERREITE REREERE R
BRERZBELBRAESREEN
J}go
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13. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group’s operating segments are determined based on
information reported to the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM”), being the Company’s board of directors, for the
purpose of resources allocation and performance assessment.
The CODM reviews the Group’s internal reporting, assesses
the performance and allocates the resources of the Group
as a whole, as all of the Group’s activities are considered to
be primarily dependent on the performance of exploitation,
liquefaction production and sale of natural gas in the PRC.
Therefore, the CODM considers there is only one operating
segment under the requirements of HKFRS 8 Operating
Segments. In this regard, no segment information is presented.

Additional disclosure in relation to segment information is
not presented as the CODM assess the performance of the
sole operating segment identified based on the consistent
information as disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements.

The total segment result is equivalent to total comprehensive
expense for the year as shown in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and the total
segment assets and total segment liabilities are equivalent to
total assets and total liabilities as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 2 —Z—tF+-A=+—HLLFE

REBNZEDEIREMEREEER
RATERELERRAL BIARAE
EQ)NERD I RRRF AT 2 A
BRMETE - ERAKENMREEEH
BRERRENETEFR  BICEE
FEERARNKI - BEEERRA
feER E R AEENREB25H - 5F
EARENRBELDEAKEER - B
It BEEERRADB/RIEEENE
WEERNESHFL LD HHRE - A&

BEA—(AZEDE - B E - W
2D EER -

BN E R L ERRARBSR S P HRR
RREAN S —E R MR BRI R ME—
REDE KRB - AW EZ5IERED
AR HRESMKER ©

7 BPRAR B RE AR F AR ?éﬁﬁ,ﬁﬁﬂ
T Y85 2R FAT7S BO AN 4R T2 2 T ) S AR AR
Mo e E ERE NS B R EAER! 'JFFH
REREMBARRARNBEERER
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—ZF—tF+-A=+—HILFE

13. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(a) Geographical information

The Group principally operates in Hong Kong and the

PRC.

The Group’s revenue from external customers and
information about its non-current assets by geographical

locations are detailed below:

13. D2, A

(a

Revenue from external

IEE R

AEET2ERERTEEER
?r%o

S5 52 1 B 5 0 5 51
BE PR RIER D& ENE
RIESI

customers Non-current assets*
REIEBEF HIURES FREEE

2017 2016 2017 2016
—¥—tF T AF Bt —TAF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARSTR ARET T AEETn ARETTT
Hong Kong B - - - 210
PRC =s) 178,562 218,879 725,590 789,928
178,562 218,879 725,590 790,138

Non-current assets excluding deferred tax assets.

FERBEETBRRBEEHARE
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—FT—tF+-A=+—HILEFE

13. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of corresponding years
contributing over 10% of total revenue of the Group is as

13. D EBE], )
(b) EREEFHNEHR

HEFEER W BBEAER
BERZF10%MEFIT ¢

follows:
2017 2016
—EF—+tF —E—RE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AREFTT
Customer A ZEA 37,338 -
Customer B ZFEB 26,852 -
Customer C BFPC - 31,047
Customer D EFD - 26,419
Customer E XPFE - 25,354
64,190 82,820
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14. GOODWILL 14. B8
RMB’000
AR¥TT
Cost: AN :
At 1 January 2016, 31 December 2016 R _-ZT— X F—A—H —ZT—F
and 2017 M_T—+F+_A=+—H 347,651
Accumulated impairment losses: HFHREREE -
At 1 January 2016, 31 December 2016 R -ZT— X F—A—H —ZT—F
and 2017 M_FE—+F+_A=+—H 347,651
Carrying amount: RS :
At 31 December 2016 and 2017 RZB-—RER_ZT—+F+A=+—H -
The carrying amount of the goodwill was fully impaired during HE_ZT—hAF+-A=+—HLF
the year ended 31 December 2015. - BEZERAECZEHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 2 —Z—tF+-A=+—HLLFE

15. ¥1% - HBERRE

Buildings Furniture Transportation
heldfor  Leasehold Plantand ~ Computer and  andmotor Construction
ownuse improvements Pipelines ~ machinery  equipment  equipment vehicles  in progress Total
hfFa R i ERIR
LBF EBIR BE  HEREM BERE  BERR RivE IR E]
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETn  ARETn  ARETR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR
Cost RfE
At1 January 2016 RZF-"E-A-H 156,742 675 169,328 619480 318 2,064 36,400 144,769 1,130,366
Addttions hE 1182 930 - 1,302 - 311 3,118 3,146 9,959
Translerfomconstuction (AR TREN
in progress - - 9,387 - - - - (9.337) -
Disposals ik - - - - - - (3479) - (3479)
Exchange adjustments EjifE - i - - 2 7 110 - 166
At31 December 2016end  R=F—"ETZA=T-R
1 January 2017 R-E-+E-f-H 157,8% 1,692 178,66 620,782 320 2972 36,149 138,578 1,137,012
Addtions hE - - - 24 - 2 58 2,781 23,090
Disposals ik - - - - - - (5,764) - (5,764)
Deregistration of a subsidiary BB -FEIERF - - - - 4 - - - 3]
Exchange adjustments EigE - (51) - - K] 6 (121) - (189
At 31 December 2017 RZE-tF+ZA=1-A 167,894 1,601 178,66 621,006 312 2,991 30,316 161,359 1,164,144
Accumulated depreciation  RiHTERHE
and impairment
At1 January 2016 RZF-7"E-A-H 83,711 675 29964 181976 271 2,143 23,061 729 329,685
Charge for e year RERRH 8048 2% 9454 57,387 21 25 4687 - 80,080
Witien back on disposals &M - - - - - - (1610) - (1610)
Exchange adustments EiEE - i - - 2 7 8 - 140
A3t December 2016and R =F-~ETZA=1-A
1 January 2017 R=3-t+5-A-A 91,759 980 39408 239,363 2% 2,315 26,822 729 408,2%
Charge for the year RERRH 8062 310 10574 5,270 10 16f 3418 - 77805
Impaiment i - - - 4,408 - | - 3,981 8,329
Witten back on disposals & - - - - - - (5,092) - (5,099)
Deregistration of asubsidlary BB -EHERT - - - - @ - - - {
Exchange adjustments 5 - (51) - - @ 6 (121) - (183)
At 31 December 2017 et 2 i ey 99,821 1,239 49982 299,041 207 2,568 25,027 1,175 489,150
Carrying amount HEE
At 31 December 2017 W=B-t¥+2A=+-B 58,073 32 128,683 321,965 15 40 5,289 150,184 664,994
At 31 December 2016 RZE-ETZA=1-8 66,135 672 139,267 381,419 26 597 9321 131,284 728717
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Notes:

(0] The buildings held for own use are situated on land held under medium-term
leases in the PRC.

(i) The pipelines of the Group are located in the PRC.

(i) At 31 December 2017, the Group’s building held for own use and plant and
machinery with carrying amount of approximately RMB53,210,000 (before
impairment) (2016: RMB57,301,000 before impairment) and RMB66,220,000
(before impairment) (2016: RMB76,721,000 before impairment) respectively
were pledged.

(iv)  The carrying amount of the Group’s assets held under finance leases at 31
December 2017 of approximately RMB66,220,000 (before impairment) (2016:
RMB76,721,000 before impairment) was included in plant and machinery and
approximately RMB454,000 (2016: RMB601,000) was included in transportation
and motor vehicles.

In view of the continuing operating losses of certain subsidiaries
operating in the PRC during the years ended 31 December
2017 and 2016, the directors of the Company have performed
impairment assessment on the property, plant and equipment
of these subsidiaries as at 31 December 2017 and 2016. The
recoverable amounts of these property, plant and equipment
have been determined by an independent professional valuer,
Asset Appraisal Limited (“Asset Appraisal”) based on value-in-
use calculations. The pretax discount rates in measuring the
amounts of value-in-use range from 24% to 27% per annum in
relation to these property, plant and equipment (2016: range
from 22% to 29% per annum). There has been no change
from the valuation technique used in prior year. As a result
of the impairment assessment, no impairment loss had been
recognised in respect of these property, plant and equipment
during the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: RMB Nil).

However, due to wear and tear, an impairment loss of
approximately RMB8,329,000 (2016: RMB Nil) was recognised
in respect of certain property, plant and equipment.

15. Y13 - B R RE @)

PRE -

() FHIFERZBFMURETERTHEN[EZL
ke

iy  AEEZEBLRPE -

iy MZT—EF+ZA=+—H TEEHE
BRAZEFTARMEE LW REED 5
# AN R 53,210,000 CRERT) (ZZF — <
£ AR#57,301,0007T CRER ) ) R AR
66,220,0007C GRERT) (=T —7RF : AR
76,721,0007C CRU{ERT) ) B IR ©

vy RZE—+t&+-A=+—0 XEHRE
EREMERACZEEZREENARE
66,220,0007T GRERT) (ZF—75F : AR
76,721,0007C ORERT) ) That AHE2s R, -
BEINRHKE454,000T(ZFT—RF : ARW
601,0007T) st AiBEBI T A K 9E o

ERNEHEZE—tFRZFT—RF1+=
H—+—E¢$fﬁ¢l%%m%$w
BARINBEKEEE  ARAES
ERZE—tFRTE—AR"F+=A

=+ BRZEWNBRRNE - K
NERBHEITRETE - ZEWE - e
BEHAKRE SR HE Y B GE
AR S ETERE AR A A ([
FEEENEDREBEFEREEFEET
STEZEYE  MERREEREERN
EAMMATANIRFENF24%E27%
(ZZ—RF  FENF2%E29%) °
FTfE AREET EREAFHER - ERE
TENER  BEZE—+F+A
=+ HIEFE - TERZEWE - %
BRBEERREBE(ZT— 5

ARBEZIT) o

%ﬁ'mﬁaﬁﬁﬁ’E%%FW

¥ KERRKEERABREBEBEHAR
%8,320,0007T (=B — A F : ARKT
JC) ©
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16. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

The carrying amount of the Group’s prepaid land lease
payments is analysed as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—FT—tF+-A=+—HILEFE

16. AL H#biEE

AEEBEMNTHEES 2 REED T

2017 2016

—E—+tF —E—RE

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTR ARBETF T

Carrying amount at 1 January R—RA—BZEEE 35,937 36,800
Amortisation for the year NEGHE (817) (863)
Carrying amount at 31 December Rt A=1+—HZEmEE 35,120 35,937
Less: Current portion B BIHAERD (871) (863)
Non-current portion FEBNERER D 34,249 35,074

The prepaid land lease payments are held under medium-term
leases and situated in the PRC.

At 31 December 2017, the Group’s prepaid land lease
payments with a carrying amount of approximately
RMB16,341,000 (2016: RMB17,192,000) were pledged.

The amortisation charges for the year ended 31 December
2017 of approximately RMB Nil (2016: RMB154,000) and
RMB817,000 (2016: RMB709,000) are included in cost of sales
and administrative expenses respectively in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

The directors of the Company have performed an impairment
assessment on the related prepaid land lease payments with
carrying values of approximately RMB35,120,000 (2016:
RMB35,937,000) of the Group as at 31 December 2017
based on a valuation performed by Asset Appraisal using the
comparable approach where comparison based on prices
realised or market prices of comparable real properties.
Comparable real properties of similar size, character and
location are analysed and weighed against all the respective
advantages and disadvantage of each of real property.
Adjustments in the prices of the comparable real properties
are then made to account for the identified differences
between such real properties and the real properties in the
relevant factors. As a result of the impairment assessment, no
impairment loss had been recognised in respect of the prepaid
land lease payments during the year ended 31 December 2017
(2016: RMB Nil).

BN HEE R EORE - Bl
KRR o

WZ_ZE—+F+-A=+—8 K&
EEMETHHEESZERENARE
16,341,000 L ( ZFE—RF : ARK
17,192,0007T) B #EHK I -

HE-_Z—+E+-A=+—HIEE
BT HOARBZ L (ZE—RF
AR 154,000t ) & A R#817,0007T
(ZZ—RF : AR¥709,0007T) % Bl
PEREBRRZHERARITHRAYY
/EE °

RZZE—+FE+-_A=1+—H  &AA
AESCRETHEEETEFERL
ERETHGE  mEEEHOARE
35,120,000 L (ZZE—RF : AR¥
35,937,00070) KB TR i & i
ITRERHE - MR TR & LT &)
ENESRERKMEED - ARFE
BB TERFTE @ 5E 20 e -
D REEEE - & XA A
BB EE - Hi% - REB@ETEE
HABERBEEZ ENEHMAZEY
AE LB T EMEREITHARE - BR
BEFENER HE-_T—+F+=-A
=t+—HIFE  @EREMLES
BRAREBE(ZE—XRE : ARKZ

JC) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A IERARMTE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—ZF—tF+-A=+—HILFE

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. B EE
Operating
Exclusive license for
right for liquefied
piped natural coalbed gas
gas operation logistics Total
BEXAR BILEER
EBZBREF  WREEHR gt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETR AR®ETT ARETR
Cost 5%
At 1 January 2016, RZE—RF—H—A"
31 December 2016 and 2017 ZERFERZT—LF
+-A=+—H 334,811 97,300 432,111
Accumulated amortisation BEHEHERAE

and impairment
At 1 January 2016, 31 December R-Z— X F—HF—H -

2016 and 2017 TE-RERZE—4F
+-A=+—H 334,811 97,300 432 111
Carrying amount IREE
At 31 December 2016 and 2017 HR=-T—RER-ZF—LtF
+=A=+—H - - _
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17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(a

(b)

(c)

Exclusive right for piped natural gas operation
in Beiliu City

It represented the exclusive right to operate in gas pipeline
infrastructure and provision of piped natural gas in Beiliu
City, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, the PRC and
was amortised as cost of sales on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful lives of 45 years starting from 2009.

The carrying amount of this exclusive right was fully
impaired in 2015.

Exclusive right for piped natural gas operation
in Ruyang County

It represented the exclusive right to operate in gas pipeline
infrastructure and provision of piped natural gas in Ruyang
County, Luoyang City, Henan Province, the PRC and was
amortised as cost of sales on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of approximately 28.5 years starting
from 2011.

The carrying amount of this exclusive right was fully
impaired in 2015.

Operating license for liquefied coalbed gas
logistics

It represented the operating license for liquefied coalbed
gas logistics in the PRC and was amortised as cost of
sales on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives
of 5 years starting from 2010. The carrying amount of this
operating license was fully amortised /impaired in 2015.

17. &

PARYY

(a

(b)

(c)

WEEE)

ERTEEEERARRE
B2 BEER

ZAETNIEETBEERMLK B AR
LR EMNRE BERRIEN
RUEERARZBREN - A
REREERE _TTAFREA
45%F Z fhET R T F IR = 85
ERAREEH o

ZEEEN2EREER -F
—hFRHRE -

EAEBELEEBRARE
Bz BRER

ZEMBEETBRAEERBETR
BREEMAEBERRIENIE
HEERARZBREN - Wz
BEREERE T —FEBHY
285F Z A ERFHAER
SHE R A E S

ZBEEENEREDER -F
—hFEEURE

RICKEBRIREEDR

ZAREETEEZERIERER
MR EERR  WIRBEREE
KRBT —TFEs 5 F2Mbat
] {58 P 4 B A 1 % 6 6 R A
o ZEERRZEEEER
T-RFEFEEEORE -
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TEFR PEREREBERD

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ =%

18. DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

e MR M EE

—tFE+-A=+t—HLEE

18. Rl E RFANIE

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETF T
Warranty money paid for the acquisition FLEVEFREZHEE
of equipment under finance lease WHER B2
arrangements (note (i)) ReEE (FEEq) 14,700 14,700
Other deposits for acquisition WEE T iR 2
of interests in land (note (ii)) HAET & (M%) 10,462 10,462
Prepayments SELNERCE 1,185 1,185
26,347 26,347
Notes: k=S

[0) On 28 January 2015, ILFA L /KIEZREEIREE R AR AR (transliterated as Shanxi
Qinshui Shuntai Energy Development Company Limited) (“Shanxi Qinshui”)
entered into a conditional equipments with g & EHBR A 7] (transliterated
as CIMC finance lease agreement in relation to the sale and lease of Capital
Ltd.) (“CIMC”) (“2015 Finance Lease Arrangement”), pursuant to which, (i)
Shanxi Qinshui conditionally agreed to sell and CIMC conditionally agreed
to purchase the certain liquefied natural gas equipment (“Equipments”) for a
total consideration of RMB98,000,000; and (i) Shanxi Qinshui conditionally
agreed to lease from CIMC, and CIMC conditionally agreed to lease to Shanxi
Qinshui, the Equipments for a total lease consideration of RMB114,836,400 for
a term of 36 months by monthly installments inclusive of interest, with a lump
sum handling fee in the sum of RMB980,000. The lease consideration may be
adjusted according to the floating lending interest rate to be promulgated by
PBC from time to time. Shanxi Qinshui shall pay an amount of RMB14,700,000
as warranty money to CIMC. The 2015 Finance Lease Arrangement constituted
a major transaction on the part of the Company under the GEM Listing Rules.
The 2015 Finance Lease Arrangement was approved by the shareholders
by way of ordinary resolution at the special general meeting of the Company
held on 30 March 2015. During the year ended 31 December 2016, Shanxi
Qinshui entered into a supplemental agreement to extend the term for a further
12 months up to February 2019.

(i) The balance represents deposits paid by the Group for the acquisition of
interests in land located in the PRC which will be held for own use under
operating leases.

(i)

RZZ—RF—A=Z+//\H » WEWKIEZRRE
RERARAR(NWUTENK D EhiEE REER
HHEPERERESRARN(RENDFTR
EHERERERS( S AFRERAEH
D B LBV KB EERELEmR
EEBRHREBESE TRIERARZHE (R
#]) - BRI1EABARK98,000,0007T : KL
KB IR ERFEATR - MPEBIEE
BEALFEVKEHERE  BHEEREAAR
#114,836,4007T + A HAS6ME A (& A 5 #ifS
FoOBERRE) BN—EFEBEEARE
980,0007T  EREAIRFEFRBEAREITT
B R R ZENE BRI REL FE - (LK
AR £ AR 14,700,000 7L 1 A 1R &
& o REBEGEMLEMRE  —T—AFREMR
ERFERARRN—HEEZRS - REER
A= AT HASRTZAARREER
ARG FUEBRRBERME-_T—AFtEHE
ik BE—_T— f\¢+:ﬂ =+t—HIEE
A ILPEKET S — (e iR i R B %
12EAZE=T—hF=A -

IR AN E B AIBALA th B ) 3 2 s
MNZEE - R RBEEEORFIES
A e
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—FT—tF+-A=+—HILEFE

19. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at

19. ZARBREEMB AR ZFH1E

R-ZE—+F+-A=+—H  KAQ7F

31 December 2017 are as follows: FEMBARZFBLT
Proportion of
ownership interest
frRgLLp
Place of Particulars of issued
incorporation/ and paid-up Group’s
establishment/ share/registered effective
Name of subsidiary operations capital interest ~ Direct Indirect  Principal activities
A
RIS, BRTRAG 558
WEARER gek A/ mEREHE Rz EE Mg IEXH
LAEGRHERERERBR AT PRC Registered capital of 100%  100% - Investment holding
(transliterated as Shanxi H HK$83,000,000 REER
Yangcheng Shuntai Energy FHER
Development Company Limited) 83,000,000 7T
(“Shanxi Yangcheng Shuntal”)
(notes (@) and (e))
(NUERIESR])
GEEVE)
Shanxi Qinshui PRC Registered capital of 100% 100% - Manufacture and sales
(notes (a) and (d) H HK$300,000,000 of liquefied coaloed
WK (FifaE(e) R (o) FMER gas
800,000,000 7 EERBERLEER
BRLTMRERAR PRC Registered capital of 97.5% - 975%  Sales of piped natural
(transliterated as H RMB20,000,000 gas and provision of
Guangxi Beillu Gas HER gas supply connection
Company Limited) (note (b)) AK#20,000,0007 services
(Fi3E(0)) HEEBANR R
HRER RS
Hebei Shuntai (note (a)) PRC Registered capital of 100%  100% - Sales of liquefied
B (MizE() H RMBS7,280,000 coalbed gas
HMER HERILKER
AK#87,280,0007
LAEEMRBRAT PRC Registered capital of 83% - 83%  Provision of liquefied
(transliterated as H RMBG60,000,000 coalbed gas logistics
Shanxi Wanzhi FMHER services
Logistics Limited) AR 60,000,007 RERICEER
(‘Wanzhi Logistics”) (note (c)) Mm%
(r&=xmin)) (k)
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—ZF—tF+-A=+—HILFE

19. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 19. XATFEMB AT ZFHB#E)
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Proportion of
ownership interest
i 14t

Place of Particulars of issued

incorporation/ and paid-up Group’s

establishment/ share/registered effective

Name of subsidiary operations capital interest ~ Direct Indirect  Principal activities

A

RIS BRTRAG 558

WEARER genk A/ mEREHE Rz EE Mg IEXH

Hong Kong Chung Wo Energy Hong Kong HK$1 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Investments Limited BB AT REER

BRPNYRERREERAT]

REBIERNERER AR PRC Registered capital of 100% - 100%  Sales of natural gas
(transliterated as Luoyang EF HK$60,000,000 RRRHE
Shunhe Energy Company Limited) HER
(‘Luoyang Shunhe”) (note (b)) 60,000,000/% 70
(M&RBIER ) (F3E)

G EEG AR AT PRC Registered capital of 60% - 60%  Exploration,
(transliterated as H RMB30,000,000 development and
Yangcheng Hulyang New FHER production of coalbed
Energy Development AK#30,000,0007 methane
Company Limited) ik FER
(“Yangcheng Huiyang’) (note (b)) EERER
2 ECHIE)

BNgEL S8 EEERAT PRC Registered capital of 100% - 100%  Gas distrioution
(transliterated as H RMB10,000,000 RARAH
Yangcheng Shun An FHER
Gathering Pipeline A 10,000,0007T
Company Limited) (note (a))

(Fi3a)

HE (B ER TR ERAT PRC Registered capital of 100% - 100% Manufacturing and sales
(transliterated as Nuoxin (Xian s RMB47,564,900 of PE gas pipelines
County) Engingering Materials HMER HERBERLE
Company Limited) (‘Nuoxin ANE#47 564,9007C HREE
Engineering’) (note b)

({5 1) (Ktzto)
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19. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or
assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

Notes:

(@) Registered under the laws of the PRC as a wholly-owned foreign enterprise.

(b) Registered under the laws of the PRC as a limited liability enterprise.

(c) Registered under the laws of the PRC as a Sino-foreign equity joint venture.

(d)  The registered capital of Shanxi Qinshui was HK$300,000,000, of which

HK$240,000,000 (2016: HK$240,000,000) has been paid up as at 31
December 2017.

(6)  The registered capital of Shanxi Yangcheng Shuntai was HK$83,000,000 (2016:
HK$300,000,000), of which HK$83,000,000 (2016: HK$85,000,000) has been
paid up as at 31 December 2017.

19. XA RFREEMB AR ZFHE @)

EER R LAARRRINB AR RERR
EREERENEEL - EFRA 1B
HEMMBLR FHEEEHREBN
Tk °

PRE -

@ IREREVEEEMAINEBERRE -
() RETEEEEMAEREMEDRE
© RETEEEEMATIEGEDRE -

d b 7D Kz & it B A& A& 300,000,000 7
7T+ H F1240,000,0005% 7T ( = F — N4 ¢
240,000,000 L) ER =T —+tF+=A
=+— A%t -

() th7aks e IE SR 2 i it & 7K % 83,000,000 /%
7L (=% — 7<% : 300,000,00058 ) » He
83,000,000 7t (== — /< & : 85,000,000/
TIBRZZ—tF+A=1+—8&-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A IERARMTE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—ZF—tF+-A=+—HILFE
19. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 19. XA EEMBARIZFHE @)
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

The following table shows information of subsidiary that has
non-controlling interest (“NCI”) material to the Group. The ([SEfEpEtERR ) 2 B AT ZEH - BF
summarised financial information represents amounts before BERBEZ2YEB RN EHEET Z
inter-company eliminations. SFE o

TRIVRAEBHESERFFERER

BB ESHERARLQE

(transliterated as Yangcheng Huiyang New Energy Development

Company Limited)
2017 2016
—F—+iF —E—RF
Principal place of business/country of = Z4& %25/ FH PRC PRC
incorporation RS BIR R Gy
% of ownership interests/voting rights ~ JEEERZEZ A S
held by NCI W% RERES L 40%/40% 40%/40%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT AREFTT
At 31 December: W+=A=+—H:
Non-current assets EMBNEE 430,439 471,047
Current assets MEVEE 21,634 75,265
Current liabilities REAE (565,959) (568,167)
Net liabilities FRE (13,886) (21,855)
Accumulated NCI ZET IR S (5,554) (8,742)
Year ended 31 December: BE+-A=+—HLFE:
Revenue Yezs 68,925 61,762
Impairment loss on other receivables Hith fE IR E & 18 (3,688) -
Profit/(Loss) @A, (E1R) 7,969 (2,012)
Total comprehensive income FHEINALBEER 7,969 (2,012)
Profit/(Loss) allocated to NCI DELEIEER RS 2
wmAl (E18) 3,188 (805)
Dividends paid to NCI I T IR A =R 2 AR B = -
Net cash generated from/ wEEEEY(FTA)Z
(used in) operating activities R& F58 4,107 (3,545)
Net cash used in investing activities WEEBFTRA AT (2,839) (112)
Net cash generated from financing BMEEBEEZHEFRE
activities = -
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash IR& &IBREEEYBIMN,
equivalents OB ) %58 1,268 (3,657)
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20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

20 BAVEHFFABRZERMEE

2017 2016
—F—+tF ZE—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR ARETT
Financial assets at fair value through BATERAERZ
profit or loss: EEEE ¢
— Unlisted investment fund outside —EBEIELTMREES
Hong Kong = 200

21. INVENTORIES

(a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of

21. &

(a) REEMBRRRAZEER

financial position comprise: BIE
2017 2016
—F—+tF ZE-RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETx AR¥TT
Raw materials R 788 6,003
Finished goods BUAK TR 704 2,112
1,492 8,115

(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories

(b) EERR/FEXILFABTZ

recognised as an expense and included in GFESE2OWWT :
profit or loss is as follows:
2017 2016
—T—+tF —E-RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBFIT
Cost of inventories sold EEFE 81,216 132,301

The cost of inventories recognised included approximately
RMB4,397,000 (2016: RMB Nil) in respect of written-

downs of inventories to net realisable value.

MR FEE 2R FEER
FEERK AL A ARE4,397,00070
(ZZ—R%F : ARBZTL) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—ZF—tF+-A=+—HILFE

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

22. EWERR R Lt FE U R 1B

2017 2016

—E—+tF —E—NE

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETIT

Trade and bills receivables BRI R Z 19,107 20,796

Less: Allowance for doubtful debts A REREHE (13,609) (13,257)

5,498 7,539

Other receivables H b eI OB 12,840 22,328
Amount due from a related eI FE A R FOE

company (note 39(a)(i)) (P 5E39(2)()) 3,813 3,730

Loans and receivables BERNENERTE 22,151 33,597

Advances to suppliers MR B 4,848 1,840
Prepayment relating to construction HRERFAT AR

expenses SEUNE /O] 42,473 49,248

Other prepayments HMIERFIE 7,920 9,904

Value-added tax recoverable AT IR ER 3,986 5,696

81,378 100,285

All of the trade and other receivables are expected to be

recovered or recognised as expenses within one year.

TERAFT A FE MR RR R N EL s FEUGRIR A 10

—FARAR @R B o
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22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(a

(b)

Ageing analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
the trade and bills receivables, based on invoice date and
net of allowance for doubtful debts, is as follows:

22. BWERA R bW R IE (2)

(a

Rt 4

JE WS BR R N R (323 22 B R e 40
BRREEE)RNREHRZERED
MranT -

2017 2016

—Z—+tF —E—RE

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTR ARETF T

Within 1 month 1E A A 3,221 6,271
More than 1 month but 1E A& E3REA R

less than 3 months = 428
More than 3 months but 3(E A& Es@AR

less than 6 months = -

More than 6 months but 6fE A& E12(E AR

less than 12 months 1,030 -

More than 12 months 1218 A& 1,247 840

5,498 7,539

The Group generally allows credit period of 30 to 180
days to its customers. The Group may, on a case by case
basis and after evaluation of the business relationship
and creditworthiness, extend the credit period upon the
customers’ requests.

Impairment of trade and other receivables

Impairment losses in respect of trade debtors are recorded
using an allowance account unless the Group is satisfied
that recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the
impairment loss is written off against trade debtors directly
(see note 2 (j)).

(b)

REE—M4G TEFPI0OE180HE
B - AEBE ARG EARERE R
TEEBBARREEER  EBEP
BREREER -

FE U Bk B EL A PR W R TR 2
AE

FEMAR TR 2 R (B B 1R TS5 5R A Bk
ARACER - MEARSEE MU E RIA
B AT BE MEAR BRER SN - FEUEIB R
™+ ORUE R 1R B % R R YRR
5 (RBEE2()) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(b) Impairment of trade and other receivables

e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—ZF—tF+-A=+—HILFE

22. EWERA R Ett FEUTRIE (&)
(b) EWERFREMERFIEZ

(Continued)

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts for trade
receivables during the year is as follows:

WAE ()

FRRYIER 2 REREBZED
e

2017 2016

—E—+tF —E—NE

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTR ARETF T

At 1 January n—H—H 13,257 7,744
Impairment loss recognised EHERBIEEE 352 5,513
At 31 December RN+-—A=+—H 13,609 13,257

At 31 December 2017, the Group’s trade receivables of
approximately RMB13,609,000 (2016: RMB13,257,000)
were individually determined to be impaired. The
individually impaired receivables related to customers that
were in financial difficulties and management assessed
that the receivables were not recoverable. Consequently,
specific allowance for doubtful debts were recognised.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancement over their receivable balances.

Impairment loss on other receivables of the Group of
approximately RMB5,728,000 (2016: RMB Nil) was
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
for the year ended 31 December 2017. The individually
impaired other receivables of the Group relate to other
debtors that were in financial difficulties or long outstanding
and is not expected to be recoverable.

The Group do not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancement over their other receivable balances.

R-_ZE—+F+-_A=+—8"
AEEB EKRERODBARE
13,609,0007C( = —RF : AR
#13,257,0007T ) T3 B 5| E 7€ A&
B o BRI E 2 /B GRIE B A
MR s X-E#RA BEERE
et B ERGIE T KE - B
It B RERMERTRI B -

7N 82 (B 3 48 EL B R R OR S R
BEMEMARIEMEEERT
/E{O

NEBMEMEUWRIE Z BRERIE
4 NR¥5,728,0007t ( —F — 7%
F:ARBZT)EREEZT
—t+tF+ZA=+—HLFEZ
FEBERRNER - AEE@ER
BB 2 EL A e YR T8 B A A B 7S
N AKEEZHMEKEAR
% - FREIA B ZIE N A YE -

R E5 [ 30 J B At B MORR IR A B
FAETAEMmKEMEERER
TH-
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22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(c) Trade and bills receivables that are not
impaired

The ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables that
are neither individually nor collectively considered to be
impaired are as follows:

22. EWERA R Ett FEUTRIE (&)
(c) RBEEWRFKREE

1 38 A AR ME Bl K H[RRL (B HO B Uk
EARMERZREDITIAT

2017 2016

—EF—tF —E—RF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTR ARBETF T

Neither past due nor impaired R HA R AR RE 3,221 6,271
Less than 1 month past due #ER L PA1E A = -
1 to 3 months past due BHI1 =38 A - 428
Over 3 months past due B HARBS(E A 2,277 840
2,277 1,068

5,498 7,539

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate
to a wide range of customers for whom there was no
recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired related
to independent customers that have a good track record
with the Group. Based on past experience, management
believed that no impairment allowance was necessary
in respect of this balance as there has not been a
significant change in credit quality and the balances are still
considered fully recoverable. The Group did not hold any
collateral over these balances.

R B Ko R ORI (B B B MR IR S M
RERF  REEFPRIOVER
RE#k

B 381 BB (=) R OB (B 2 8 Y kR B
RASEEHERRIFEBRE 2B
VEFAR - RIBEBELR B
EEREAREEERTEERX
28 AAMERIDEEAT 2
gulm - AR AR S SRIEL
AR - AREYERZES
SIS E TR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—ZF—tF+-A=+—HILFE

23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

23. BERREEEY

2017 2016
—Z—+tF —E—XE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR ARETF T
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEEYD
- Cash at bank and in hand —RITRFERS 8,572 20,534

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash
equivalents of the Group denominated in RMB amounted
to approximately RMB8,359,000 (2016: RMB17,419,000).
RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

RIRITZ R RIBIRTTE B FRA XK
FENN R ERENA R - RITAERTFRUNE
BRI R IW B R CEAIRTT o

RREIR - AEBUAREHENE
e RRSFEBEWLH A AKRS,359,000
T(ZZE—RF : AR®17,419,000
L) c AREARRBEHABKAME
B BRI B 2 SNE B IR R AD 4
[ - SERNEESERTE  ASEEHE
BREREETINEEB ZRITIEAR
B IRP EMEHE o
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—FT—tF+-A=+—HILEFE

24. BAIRRR HMEMNRRE

2017 2016
—Z—+tF —E—XE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR ARETF T
Trade payables FEfTRRRX 148,593 160,236
Amounts due to directors P& 2 F 3k IE (MIRE39(a)(i))
(note 39(ay(ii)) 10,171 13,738
Amounts due to non-controlling FERTFT B A Bl 2 IR AR R
shareholders of subsidiaries I8 (FI7E39(a)(i)
(note 39(ay(ii)) 10,797 6,451
Accrued expenses and FEFT RS R B A FE N /1B
other payables 28,962 31,039
Payables for acquisition of property, WHEYIZE - R R
plant and equipment BB IR 164,269 159,618
Financial liabilities measured at REIERKATTEZ 2R BE
amortised cost 362,792 371,082
Deposits received from customers MEFWEET & 13,028 10,019
Value-added and BET R EH A TR
other taxes payables 2,331 1,826
378,151 382,927
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24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 24, BABRMRHMENRIEZ)
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of the RERR - EAERRGREZEEH) 2
trade payables, based on invoice date, is as follows: BRECOHTAAT -
2017 2016
—ZE—+F —E—RE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR ARETT
Within 1 month KEIS 12,935 3,294
More than 1 month but less than 3 & A& E3(E AN
months 106 447
More than 3 months but less than 6 3@ A#%&B6E AR
months 214 -
More than 6 months but less than 12 68 A%E12EAN
months 264 155,688
More than 12 months 128 A 1% 135,074 807
148,593 160,236
The trade and other payables are expected to be settled or FET RN R E A A IR TR RS I —
recognised as income within one year or are repayable on WBESRERBMASBIZEKERE -
demand.
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25. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 25. RITRHEAMMER
2017 2016
—E—+tF —T—REF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AREFTT
Secured bank loans repayable AENZBEEBEITER 9,900 -
Unsecured other loans IR EMER 37,380 40,080
47,280 40,080
Analysed as: SaXiIn UNNE

Amount due within 1 year shown under RBIE & T~ —FREIE 2 FIE
current liabilities

47,280 40,080

Notes:

(@) Secured bank loans carry varies interest rate from 5.8% to 7% per annum.
The bank loans were secured by personal guarantees given by Mr. Wang and
general manager of the Company.

(b) Unsecured other loans represent loans due to non-controlling shareholders
of PRC subsidiaries of the Group and bear interest at fixed rates ranging
from 7.12% to 11.50% (2016: 7.12% to 11.50%) per annum. Interest
expenses on unsecured other loans to non-controlling shareholders of the
subsidiaries amounted to approximately RMB1,884,000 (2016: RMB2,122,000)
to Chengrong Investment (Note 39(c)) and amounted to approximately
RMB1,525,000 (2016: RMB1,503,000) to Yangcheng Yangtai (Note 39(c))
were charged to profit or loss within “finance costs” during the year ended 31
December 2017.

BEMBOTEREN FEFL8%ET% 25 H
FIREH S o RITERBERERFRABLE
TRAAE A BRI -

EEFREMERERENAEERBENER
RIFERBBE 2 ER - BN TEF712%E
11.50% (= Z—NF : 7.12% % 11.50%) Z &
TEF R B o MM E A 7] I AR A% 5 AR ph i
& (FMi3E39(c)) P53 b5 2= (I 3E39 (o) fEH 2
EBEAEMERZFEBAI AR ANARE
1,884,0007C (= F — /< 4F « AR¥2,122,000
TT) BE AR 1,525,000t (ZFE—NE - A
R#1,503,0007T) - EEHE=ZZT—tF+=
A=+—RIEFEIVBERINZEZNE -
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26. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES 26. B ERLORIE

At 31 December 2017, the Group had obligations under finance RZZE—+F+ZA=+—H ' r5H
leases repayable as follows: BLUATEERNFIERAAE

2017 2016
—E—+iF —E—RF
Present Present
value of value of
the Total the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
REHEE REHEE EHE HEHEE
HRHRE ARBE AR E (BT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT AR®BTR ARETT ARETT
Within 1 year 21,912 23,357 19,933 23,479
After 1 year but within 1F18E2F A
2 years 3,849 3,872 21,800 283,337
After 2 years but within 2FZESFN
5 years = = 3,826 3,871
25,761 27,229 45,559 50,687
Less: Total future interest  J& © AR F|BFIZ
expenses 4= (1,468) (5,128)
Present value of lease HAEFERIRE
obligations 25,761 45,559

ﬂiglfﬁ?ﬁmﬁéﬁzﬁkﬁﬁﬂ%% &

The Group leases certain equipment for its operations under the

finance lease arrangements as detailed in note 18. These leases ARERLE  FIBHRMTE18 - %
are classified as finance leases and have remaining lease term —rfﬂiﬁﬂ"*ﬁﬁﬁﬂ;ﬁﬁ%@ C FEgRHER A

of 14 (2016: 26) months. 14EAR(ZF—RF : 26(@A) -
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27. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 27. (AR ES

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company issued
HK$ denominated zero-coupon convertible bonds with principal
amount of HK$21,238,440 as part of the consideration for
acquisition of the Nuoxin Engineering Group. The convertible
bonds have a maturity period of 5 years from the issue date and
are convertible at the option of the bondholder into 94,142,021
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the capital of the Company
at a conversion price of HK$0.2256 per share.

The convertible bonds contain two components: liability and
equity elements. The equity element on initial recognition
amounted to RMB10,544,000 was presented in equity as part
of the “convertible bonds reserve”. The effective interest rate
of the liability component of the convertible bonds on initial
recognition was 23.4% per annum.

No convertible bonds were converted during the years ended

31 December 2016 and 2017.

The movement of the liability component of the convertible
bonds for the year is set out below:

HE-_ZT-—RFE+_A=1+—HILFE
A RNAREBITUETTHE - A EA
21,238,440/ L2 T B AR ES - LA
ERUEEHREEE 2 HMHRE - AR
BEFERTRBRSRFER - BES
BAEARERBRESRKRO.22567
T AN RRAR SR EE.017E
TLZ94,142,021 % 2 @A -

AgikEFeEEMER D : BEkE
SmED o TR EDEMOH /A
R #10,544,0007T © Mz A FIEN 7]
B ESME] 2 — 8B o ME R
ABMBEZAESD CERFMNERR
23.4%

REE-ZE—R"FE_ZE—+tF+=A4
—+—BILFE - WErRRESERE
T}@o

AEBEFAERDRFRZZEHT
W

2017 2016

—Z2—+fF —E—REF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TRT ARBETF T

At 1 January n—HA—H 8,316 6,304
Effective interest expense charged BB ERFERE 1,887 1,504
Exchange difference PE 5 ERE (660) 508
At 31 December Rt+=-—A=+—H 9,543 8,316
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28. PROVISION 28. #fE

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR ARETF T
At 1 January K—H—H 8,658 6,612
Provision for the year REZHEE 2,614 3,224
Amount utilised for the year NEEZENFHZ 708 (309) (1,178)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—8 10,963 8,658
The provision for production safety has been determined by the SELTEBEIRESET UHFRE

directors to meet the production safety standards. ELRFR%E -
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29. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Deferred tax liabilities recognised
The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised in the

consolidated statement of financial position and the movements
during the year are as follows:

29. BREMBIRR KA Z FAEH

CREIACELHREARR

RE MBI R T ERNELERIARE
ZEMD RERFANEBESIT

Fair value
adjustment
on prepaid
lease
Fairvalue  payments  Fair value
adjustment forland  adjustment
on property, under on
plantand  operating intangible Convertible Withholding
equipment leases assets bonds tax Others Total
mERaT
nEoHE Rt
Rz gz HYEEZ
ATEER  NTERE  ATERE  TRRES bl -t L h
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AEBTL ARBTR ARBTn ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARETR
At 1 January 2016 RZE-7E-A-H (3,689) (2492 - (18%) (6,102) (283) (13,456)
Credited to proft or loss AR 179 59 - 248 1,206 - 1692
Exchange differences EXES - - - (121) - - (121)
At 31 December 2016 and RZE-RETZA=1-H
1 January 2017 k=5-t£-A-H (3,506) (2,433) - (1,767) (3,896) (283) (11,889)
Credlted to proft or loss AR - 13 - 312 1510 283 2,118
Exchange differences EiES - - - 111 - - 111
At 31 December 2017 WE-tETZA=1-A (3,506) (2,420) - (1,344) (2,386) - (9,656)
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29. IRE

29. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities recognised (Continued)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

e MR M EE

—tFE+-A=+t—HLEE

BAREARR R A Z PGB (4)

CRERACELEREARE®)

NONRLE IR E N 5 AR IR AR
DT

2017 2016
—T—+tF —T—REF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT ARBFIT
Deferred tax liabilities recognised in PR e B ARR 2R A FERR
the consolidated statement of ZIEERIBAE
financial position (9,656) (11,885)
(9,656) (11,885)
Deferred tax assets not recognised MABRZELRIEEE

At 31 December 2017, the Group has not recognised deferred
tax assets in respect of estimated cumulative tax losses carried
forward of approximately RMB161 million (2016: RMB108
million) is due to expire within 1 to 5 years under the current
tax legislation for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
Group in which the losses arise. The cumulative tax losses
have not been recognised as a deferred tax asset as it is not
probable that future taxable profits against which the losses can
be utilised will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and
entity.

N_ZE—+t&F+_A=+—H A%£H
WARMERELEE (A R IBBE(E
BIBERIBEERELEBBZ —E2RF
WEER - DRSS B A& 2 ERTBR
) #9 A R #161,000,0007T( ZZ—7~
£ 0 AR#108,000,0007T) A B H IR
ERIEEE - RETHIBBBIL AT ER
BIEEHIBEE + JHHREABBIE A
ERER N BN A AR
KIRFERFLEF o
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30. CAPITAL AND RESERVES

(a) Authorised and issued share capital

30. EXRRf#EE

(@) EFEREBHITRA

2017 2016
—2—tF —EREF
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
fRi3EE x| BHEE 25
000 RMB’000 '000 RMB’000
Fig AREFT Fhk AREFTT
Authorised ordinary shares of ~ EREIE0.017E T
HK$0.01 each: LEEERR
At 1 January and R—A—BkK
31 December +-A=1+—H 20,000,000 174,064 20,000,000 174,064
Issued and fully paid BEITRERE
- Ordinary shares of HK$0.01  — & E{E0.01
each: BT LB
At 1 January and R—A—Bk
31 December R+=A=+—H 1,319,484 10,910 1,319,484 10,910

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and entitled to one
vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary
shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual

assets.

BERFEABRERTHEIK
ZEBEERARAEHELERE
B—R2REE - AL BRY
RAIZHBEEAZTEHFE

Bk Bt
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30. EXRf#EE)

30. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves

U

(ii)

(i)

Share premium
The application of share premium account is governed
by the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

General reserve

According to the relevant laws and regulations in
the PRC, each of the PRC subsidiaries is required to
appropriate at least 10% of its after-tax profit (after
offsetting prior years’ losses), based on the PRC
statutory financial statements prepared in accordance
with the generally accepted accounting principles
(“GAAP”) and financial regulations applicable to PRC
enterprises, to the general reserve until the balance
of the fund reaches 50% of the PRC subsidiary’s
registered capital. Thereafter, any further appropriation
can be made at the directors’ discretion.

The general reserve fund can be utilised to offset
the prior years’ losses, or be utilised to increase the
capital on the condition that the general reserve shall
be maintained at a minimum of 25% of the registered
capital after such increase.

Share options reserve

The share options reserve comprises the portion of
the grant date fair value of unexercised share options
granted to executive directors, employees and
consultants of the Group that has been recognised
in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for
share-based payments in note 2 (p)(ii).

(b) EEZHEERBR

U

(ii)

(i)

R tEE
RinEERZEAXBRE
RAPE(—NN\—F)FRE -

— A

RIEF BB AR RER
EhEHBARREHEBE
FEEEBE  ARBZAR
T RA([2REFRA])
Ko B 1 35 A 2 B 75 3R 1
mE s R EBE T HRE
BEBRBERNBLRD
10%1ER—MRH#EHE BEZE
B vEBEINTRHAMBA
AIFEMER 250% &1 - &
% EEURBERATELE
R]REIMEEFK ©

—RFFES R BIERHEBE
FEEBR SAELZEMNE
R ERIMEARE - —RIH
wARB T OREMERZ
25% ©

B
BREFEEERRTAKE
WITESZ - BEREBANR
TTEBRENE D RRHAF
BEED - &EB B REM &
2(p) (i) Pt BE DA BR £ A3 2 BE Y
NRARAN ST BEERM T
L\/\ﬁﬁgfm °
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30. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(iv) Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy set out

in note 2(t).

(v) Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represents the surplus
from share capital reduction arising from the capital

reorganisation in 2014.

(vi) Convertible bonds reserve

The convertible bonds reserve represent the value of
unexercised equity component of convertible bonds
issued by the Company. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note

2(m).

(c) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of

capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholders returns that might be possible with higher
levels of borrowings afforded by a sound capital position,
and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light
of changes in economic conditions. In order to maintain
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new

shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

30. EXRRHEE)
(b) EEZHEERBNE)

(c)

(iv) BERFE
REREBERIEMEBRERI
ENUBRRELEZELZE

RE RERRBMH 20T
B SETBORER ©

f%ﬁﬁhl —HFEE
$$ﬁ%ﬁh$ﬂﬂ2§%

(vi) FIRESEE
BB ESFEEEA QR
TR AR RE S B RITEHE
@B 2 (BIE - R HEEIRE
B & 2(m) BT & &Y & 5T R BR
# -

EXEE

AEEEREAZETRBRRME
RAEBEFELE 2T » AR
RREHER - W FRIEERN
REBREARIEE A

REBBEEY F e MEEH
BARERE  AERAURIESKR
O] i B AS A& B AARR A AR 2 8
SEEKFZHERG T - i
ERBEBR BB HEREBE
3 & °%E%iﬁﬁﬁ$#
B AREARERABREN TRR
ZBREEE %ﬁ%hiﬁﬁé
ELAREAER
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30. EXRf#EE)

30. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)
(c) Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
total debt to equity. Total debt comprises the Group’s
bank and other borrowings, obligations under finance
leases and convertible bonds as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position. Equity comprises equity
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The total debt to equity ratio as at 31 December 2017 and
2016 are as follows:

(c) EXEE#E)

AEENREEHEREEER
HEXRERE RAGBRRASKH
ZRITREAMBRK - BERL A
& R AT AR 75 (AR A B AR
RFR) - R BREARAERE
REEEDE (A MBI KA
R) e

TEEFER-E-REF+
A=+—Hz@BaEHERLE

2017 2016
—Z2—+fF —E—REF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR®TR AREETIT
Bank and other borrowings RIT R H A AR 25 47,280 40,080
Obligations under finance RbE &R
leases 26 25,761 45,559
Convertible bonds AR ES 27 9,543 8,316
Total debt weE 82,584 93,955
Equity attributable to equity KR AR
shareholders of the FE(L R
Company 344,488 432,247
Total debt to equity ratio mERHERL X 23.97% 21.74%
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31. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 18 May 2011 and will remain in force for a
period of 10 years. The purpose of the Scheme is to attract
and retain the best available personnel, to provide additional
incentive to employees (full-time and part-time), directors,
consultants and advisers of the Group and to promote the
success of the business of the Group.

(a) The terms and conditions of the grants are as

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—FT—tF+-A=+—HILEFE

31. UREEEURG/BER 2
2

AR BB 8 (14518 ) TR IR
ARAERR -_ZT——FAA+/\BE
TR R A& LB & BR SRR
A AN+ FHREARER R  Zat
S ENERSI MRBEFAR - AR
SENES (2BEGRE)  EF - BA
KB AR ERSMNER) - W RHEA KM

(@) WEIFRRRIFHIT

follows:
Number of Contractual life
options Vesting conditions of options
BREHE HBERHY BRESHFH
Options granted:
B LREARE
30 May 2011 27,957,078  Vest immediately 10 years
—EZ——FRA=1H HllisS) T4
30 May 2011 5,596,092 50% are exercisable at any time after the expiry of 10 years

1 year from the date of grant up to 2 years from

the date of grant; and 100% are exercisable at

any time after the expiry of 2 years from the date

of grant up to 10 years from the date of offer.
—E——FHA=1H 50% Rl AR H B EARE TR E 21 H B HIte 25 T4

HARIBERRTT6E © ]2 100% AI X i B HIE G M2

ZEXNBBREIM10F BHEFERITE o

Total share options granted 33,553,170
BRI EREEE
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31. UREEEURGBER 2

31. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) The number and weighted average exercise
prices of share options are as follows:

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s
share options under the Scheme during the year ended 31

=2 (&)
(b) BREZHE RNEFIFT
EEMT :

TEREEHEZE—_ZT—tF+=A4
—t+—HIFEZFEBE T 2K

December 2017: NAIEREEE
Number of
Period during share options Exercised Lapsed Outstanding at
which share options  Exercise price  Outstanding at ~ granted during during during 31 December
Date of grant are exercisable per share 1 January 2017 the year the year the year 2017
RZ8-tF R2B-tF
-A-H MR +-A=+-H
RiHAH BRETTEE  SROER AT 2BRESA FRETE  FAEKH RTE
HKS
#T
30/5/2011 30/5/2011 - 29/5/2021 381 27,632,328 - - - 27,632,328
30/5/2011 80/5/2012 - 29/5/2021 381 2,243,373 - - - 2,243,373
30/5/2011 30/5/2013 - 29/6/2021 381 2243378 - - - 2,243,378
32,119,074 - - - 32,119,074
Exercisable
at the end of year
RERATE 32,119,074
Weighted average
evercise price (HKS)
MEFATRE
(%7) 381 - - - 381
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31. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) The number and weighted average exercise
prices of share options are as follows: (Continued)

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s
share options under the Scheme during the year ended 31

31. UREEH RN BER 2T
2 (%)

(b)

BRECHE RNEFIET
EEWT (&)

TREBEHE—_ZT—RFTA
_+ Ellti&“u%ﬁr% HTZA

December 2016: NRIEREZS) :
Number of
Period during share options Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding at
which share options ~ Exerciseprice Qutstandingat  granted during during during 31 December
Date of grant are exercisable pershare 1 January 2016 the year the year the year 2016
RZE-1E NZE-1E
-A-B  EARNZ +ZA=1-H
ek BRENAES  BRORE A EREHE EREAR EREAN SHd
HKS
BT
30/5/2011 30/5/2011 - 29/5/2021 381 27,632,328 - - - 27,632,328
30/5/2011 80/5/2012 - 29/5/2021 381 2,243,373 - - - 2,243,373
30/5/2011 30/5/2013 - 29/6/2021 381 2,243,313 - - - 2,243,378
32,119,074 - - - 32,119,074
Exercisable at the
end of year
RERATE 3,119,074
Weighted average
evercise price (HKS)
MEFARE
(#7) 381 - - - 381
No new share options were granted to eligible participants HE-_FT—+tFRE—RF

under the Scheme during the years ended 31 December
2017 and 2016.

No share options were exercised during the years ended
31 December 2017 and 2016.

TZA=+— EIJtEf BER
BRETERABER2EER DM
FEASHE -

BE-_ZT—tFR-_FT—RF
+=A :Jr*EIJJ:EE?rPHﬁiEﬁHﬁ
REIETTIE
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EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) The number and weighted average exercise
prices of share options are as follows: (Continued)

The options outstanding at 31 December 2017 had an
exercise price of HK$3.81 (2016: HK$3.81) and a weighted
average remaining contractual life of 3.4 (2016: 4.4) years.

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION RETIREMENT
PLAN

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The
MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement scheme
administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme,
the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employee’s
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF Scheme vest
immediately.

The Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC participate
in a mandatory central pension scheme organised by the PRC
Government for certain of its employees, the assets of which are
held separately from those of the Group. Contributions made
are based on a percentage of the eligible employees’ salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the scheme. The employer’s
contributions vest fully once they are made.

31.

32.

UREBEEURG HER 2
2 (%)

(b) BREZHE RINEFHT
EEWT (&)

RZZE—+E+-_A=+—H2Z
RITEBEREZITFEEAR381E
TE(ZZT—NF :381BT) ' T~
ZIMEFHENFIRASAF(ZE
—NEE T A445F) o

SRS

AEEREANRESRBIENEEEHE
ZEE  BEHEBRFMAESFHER
PIRR s ARS8 ([RESE
2l]) - mESEERBEETABE
2 TERBEFURIKE & - BIEBERESE
2 BEXRkHESASHREESMABK
AZ5%MEERFEMEHENR - §A
2 MR A £ R &30,000/8 T ° 387E
SHEIMFERRERRERE -

N
BB 2 E i BEIBTEM 2 R BI1EH R
BAREHE > LETEIZEERAKE
BENFRRA - REZTEIZHAA - &K
SEZRAERBEZF DL RELH
B WREMNRMBaIIRR - BEMK
PERR BN B ERREMA -

ARRRRP BN HERRREET

=
.
2
AN
N
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32. DEFINED CONTRIBUTION RETIREMENT 32. EEMFGERNGEI(2)
PLAN (Continued)
Under the above schemes, retirement benefits of existing BIE LilistEl - WA RRIKMEES ZRIK
and retired employees are payable by the relevant scheme BHNHBEBAEIEEABEXN A&
administrators and the Group has no further obligations beyond BB FEHFINIBmEAMEF o

the annual contributions.

The aggregate amounts of employer’s contributions by the REBFRREFEEIEL 2 EE MK
Group in respect of retirement benefits schemes dealt with in RMENFAZBRPEE - WERLE
profit or loss for the year are disclosed in note 7(a) to these A TBMERMT7@PHE -

consolidated financial statements.

The Group does not have any other pension schemes for its AEBWEREERFBELAINTE QT
employees in respect of the subsidiaries outside Hong Kong ZIEBFJ R EMBREETE] - AR
and the PRC. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, AEERAE RZZE—tFER=-T—X
the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at F+-—A=+—8 AEEVEIME
31 December 2017 and 2016 in respect of the retirement of its AEEERKZERSIAEE -
employees.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

33. TR T ADE

AEBERNHERRNERERTAZE

instruments of the Group as at the end of the reporting period HERT :
are as follows:
2017 2016
—EF—tF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETx AREFTT
Financial assets EMEE
Financial assets at fair value through BN EFAER
profit or loss: LEREE
Held for trading FEEE - 200
Loans and receivables: B R ENGIE -
Trade and other receivables JFEE L B SR e L At JE L 5K TE 22,151 33,597
Cash and cash equivalents Be MREEEY 8,572 20,534
Financial liabilities tRAE
At amortised cost: VABE SR ARSI AR -
Trade and other payables JE AT BR R 2 ELAth A< 5RIE 362,792 371,082
Bank and other borrowings HRIT R EMIERK 47,280 40,080
Obligation under finance leases BE &R IE 25,761 45,5659
Convertible bonds Al AR ES 9,543 8,316
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, trade and other receivables,
cash and cash equivalents, trade and other payables, bank
and other borrowings, obligations under finance leases and
convertible bonds. Details of the financial instruments are
disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments include credit risk, liquidity risk,
interest rate risk, currency risk and other price risk arises in
the normal course of the Group’s business. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.
There has been no change to the types of the Group’s
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the manner in
which it manages and measures the risks.

(a) Credit risk

()  As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying
amount of each financial asset in the consolidated
statement of financial position after deducting any
impairment allowance.

(i)  In respect of trade and other receivables, in order to
minimise risk, the management has a credit policy
in place and the exposures to these credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations
of its customers’ financial position and condition are
performed on each major customer periodically. These
evaluations focus on the customers’ past history of
making payments when due and current ability to
pay, and take into account information specific to
the customers as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customers operate. The
Group does not require collateral in respect of its
financial assets. Trade debtors are usually due within
30 to 180 days from the date of billing.

34. SR TACHERBEER D
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

)

(Continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. The default risk of the industry and country
in which customers operate also has an influence
on credit risk but to a lesser extent. At the end of
the reporting period, the Group has no significant
concentration of credit risk as only 3.85% (2016:
3.46%) of the total trade receivables was due from the
Group’s five largest customers.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade and
other receivables are set out in note 22.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

(i)

(i)

34. TR TACHERBEER D
FE®)

(@) EEmERE)

(#&)
REERH 2 EERREE
XEBPZERFHTE -
REEBIITEREBE
ZERZEHRBRNTNEEE
EREFE  BIREKE -
RBER AEETES
AEFEERK  REZRE
WAEBARER 2 B
HENEBRE238% (T
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including the
short-term investment of cash surpluses and the raising of
loans to cover expected cash demands, subject to board
of directors’ approval. The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor current and expected liquidity requirements
and its compliance with lending covenants to ensure
that it maintains sufficient amount of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from financial institutions to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

34. SR TACHERBEER D
FE®)

(b) RBEZRER

AEEBRT2BIZEERER
BEERAZREEE  BREAR
BB EHREREEETIAM
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following tables set out the weighted average effective
interest rate and the remaining contractual maturities at the
end of the reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using

contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at
the end of the reporting period) and the earliest date the
Group can be required to pay:

34. TR TACHERBEER D
FE®)

(b)

REBEERREE)

TR AEBZIFTESRE
ERI|E R INEFHERF
ERBTEHH  HEREHR
BIRAS R (BREERA QR RN
(3% B ImmE PR ZRITH
KHBZMBNF) RAEEET
BEZEFAHMETE :

07
¥t
Morethan  More than Total More than More than Totdl
Within -~ yearbut  2yearshut contractual Within Tyeabt  2yeashut  contractual
Effective yearor  lessthan lessthan  undiscounted Carrying Ffective Tyearor Iess than less than  undiscounted Camjing
inferestrate ~ on demand 2years Syears  cashflows amount  inferestrate  ondemend 2years Syears  cashflows amount
1£ ah 1ER
9k 1E)E WL REBRE AER 1EE N
RAiE  BRER 26N SENG EER BEE  ®Rx EugE YR SENR i
%  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMBOOO  RMBO0  RMBUOMO % RVB000 RVB000 RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI000
% ARETR  ARRTR  ARBTR  ARRTR  ARETR % ARETT  ARETT  ARBTR ABETT ARETR
Trade payables NATER 148,593 148,593 4859 NATER 160,23 - 160,236 160236
Amounts due to drectors NATER 10171 10,471 1011 NANER 1373 - 13738 13738
Amounts due to
non-contraling
shareholders of subsidiares NATER 10,797 10,797 10797 NATER 6,451 - 6451 6451
Accrued expenses and
other payables NATER 2,962 2,92 8962 NANER 31,089 - 31,089 31,089
Payables for acquistion
of property, plant and
equipment NATER 164,269 164,269 164269 NARER 169,618 - 159618 159618
Bank and other borowings FORARER ()
[nots 29) 58%to11.5% 50,864 50864 41280 7210115% £28 - 098 40080
Obligations under france BERERA(H0)
Jeases (note 26) 10.20% 237 3812 - 2729 25,761 1020% 8479 8337 387 50687 45559
Convetbbonds pote 7]~ AERER(KE) B4% - - 17400 17400 9543 B4 - - 17400 1740 8316
427013 3812 17,400 458,285 5316 436843 B33 121 481451 465097
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates to primarily
to its fixed-rate borrowings. The cash flow interest rate
risk of the Group relates primarily to their variable-rate
bank deposits and obligations under finance leases. The
management considers that the exposure to interest rate
risk on bank deposits is insignificant. For borrowings which
are fixed-rate instruments is insensitive to any change
in interest rates. A change in interest rates at the end of
the reporting period would not affect profit or loss. The
cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the
fluctuation of the interest rate to be promulgated by the
People’s Bank of China (“PBOC”) arising from the Group’s
RMB denominated obligations under finance leases. The
Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, the management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant interest rate

exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2017, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 50 basis points in the interest
rates, with all other variables held constant, would have
increased/decreased the Group’s loss for the year by
approximately RMB365,000 (2016: RMB428,000). The
sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s loss for the year that would arise in
respect of the exposure to cash flow interest risk arising
from floating rate obligations under finance lease held by

the Group.

34. SR TACHERBEER D
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(d) Currency risk

U]

Exposure to currency risk

RMB is not freely convertible into foreign currencies.
All foreign exchange transactions involving RMB
must take place through PBOC or other institutions
authorised to buy and sell foreign exchange. The
exchange rate adopted for foreign exchange
transactions are the rates of exchange quoted by
the PBOC that would be subject to a managed float
against an unspecified basket of currencies.

Foreign currency payments, including the remittance
of earnings outside the PRC, are subject to the
availability of foreign currency (which depends on
the foreign currency denominated earnings of the
Group) or must be arranged through the PBOC with
government approval.

The group entities collect most of the revenue
and incur most of expenditures in their respective
functional currencies. The directors consider that the
Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange is
insignificant as the majority of the Group’s transactions
are denominated in the functional currency of each
individual group entity. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign exposure
should the need arise.

34. TR TACHERBEER D
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)

i)

(ii)

Exposure to currency risk (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying
amounts of the Group’s major monetary assets
denominated in a currency other than the functional
currencies of the relevant group entities are as follows:

34. SR TACHERBEER D
FE®)

(d) E¥mERE)

BRI ()

BEHR - AEEIAERH
EERINEEENINER
EREEMNER®

0 =

/\\\
5 =)
FMEZEE
BT :

L=
=

Exposure to foreign currency

SMES R R R
2017 2016
—T—+tF —ERF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBET T
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEEYD
— Hong Kong dollars — BT 189 3,088

Sensitivity analysis
The following table indicates the approximate change
in the Group’s loss for the year and accumulated

(i) BBEDHT
TRBE - R|EHR - K
SEAXFEFEEREFEE

losses in response to reasonably possible changes RENER ERBER DA
in the foreign exchange rates to which the Group has LERZEBEBTEHME
significant exposure at the end of the reporting period. 2B EE) o
2017 2016
—B—tF —TRF
Increase/ Effect on loss Increase/  Effect on loss
(decrease) after (decrease) after
in foreign  taxation and in foreign taxation and
exchange accumulated exchange  accumulated
rates losses rates losses
EIERE T HREER
ExEH REFBE ExEAH SET Y]
(F%) wE (F%) a7
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT
Hong Kong dollars AT 5% @ 5% (123)
(5%) 9 (5%) 123
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34. SR TACHERBEER D
FE®)

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued) (d) E¥mEBRE)

(ii) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in foreign exchange rates
had occurred at the end of the reporting period and
had been applied to the Group’s exposure to currency
risk for financial instruments in existence at that date,
and that all other variables, in particular interest rates,
remain constant. Results of the analysis as presented
in the above table represent an aggregation of the
effects on each of the group entities’ loss for the year.
The stated changes are used when reporting currency
risk internally to key management and represent
management’s assessment of reasonably possible
changes in foreign exchange rates over the period
until the end of the next reporting period. The analysis
is performed on the same basis for 2016.

(e) Other price risk

Oil and gas price risk

Apart from the financial instruments disclosed above, the
Group’s activities expose it to market risk relating to oil and
gas price risks.

The Group is engaged in a wide range of gas related
activities. The global oil and gas market is affected by
international political, economic and global demand for
and supply of oil and gas. A decrease in the world prices
of cruel oil and gas could adversely affect the Group’s
financial position. The Group has not used any derivative
instruments to hedge against potential price fluctuations of
crude oil and refined and gas products. The management
will consider hedging oil and gas exposure should the need
arise.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

() Fair value measurement

(i) Financial assets and financial liabilities measured
at fair value
Fair value hierarchy
The following table presents the fair value of the
Group’s financial instruments measured at the end of
the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised
into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined
in HKFRS 13 Fair value measurement. The level
into which a fair value measurement is classified
is determined with reference to the observability
and significance of the inputs used in the valuation
technique as follows:

e Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using
only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
at the measurement date.

e |evel 2 valuations: Fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are not available.

e Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(f) Fair value measurement (Continued)

@

(ii)

Financial assets and financial liabilities measured
at fair value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The fair value of the Group’s financial assets carried
at fair value through profit or loss amounting to
approximately RMB Nil (2016: RMB200,000) as at
31 December 2017 and is classified as Level 1. The
fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets is based on quoted market prices at the
end of the reporting period. During the year ended
31 December 2017, there were no transfers between
Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3.
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between
levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the
reporting period in which they occur.

Fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities carried at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost are
not materially different from their fair values as at
31 December 2017 and 2016 except for the following
financial instruments, for which their carrying amounts
and fair value and the level of fair value hierarchy are
disclosed below:

34. SR TACHERBEER D
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34 TRITAZUHBREBREERA
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS FEEE)
(Continued)
() Fair value measurement (Continued) ( AFEFEE)
(i) Fair value of financial assets and financial (i) YFRAFEIEREZ2EHE
liabilities carried at other than fair value (Continued) EkemaEs A ATE (£)
2017 2016
—FtF “E-RF
Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
IREE DFE REE NSIE]
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TF ARETR ARETT ARETTT

Financial liabilites  £Fi8 &

Convertible bonds AR ES 9,543 14,243 8,316 9,597
The fair values of the liability component in convertible ARBRESFEESHH 2 T
bonds are estimated as being the present values of BNEFERRKRERE
future cash flows, discounted at interest rates based ZIRE MAKBERED
on the government yield curve as at the end of the RIE R ¥ B R 2 BT W o
reporting period plus an adequate constant credit HGRURFTEMIEEBZEE
spread, adjusted for the Group’s own credit risk. BERNERRFAE 12

RAKE B HEERBE
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34, SR TACZHBERABREER A
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS FEEE)
(Continued)
() Fair value measurement (Continued) ( AFEFEE)
(i) Fair value of financial assets and financial (i) YFRAFEIEREZ2EHE
liabilities carried at other than fair value (Continued) ERTREBEAFEGE)
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed EFELNFEZERE
Fair value measurements as at Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2017 categorised into 31 December 2016 categorised into
REB-tE+ZR=1-R%4 R-E—ET-f=1-H75A
WTERZ AT EHE IR ATEE
Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level3  Fairvalue Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

DY 1R #28 24 0FE 1% 220 230
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMBOO0  RMB'OOD  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARMTR ARWTR ARMTR ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR

Liabilities &f
Convertile bonds TARES 14243 = - 1M 9,597 - - 9,597
35. COMMITMENTS 35. H&iE
(@ In addition to the finance lease arrangements as detailed (@ BRMIFE18FATRFMl 2 B EHE LB
in note 18, the Group had the following significant capital Hh - REERGEMEHREREE]
commitments contracted but not provided for in the RIMERBE 2 EREAEENAT ¢

consolidated financial statements:

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—NE
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARBETT

Acquisition of property, plant and WHEIZE - s s
equipment (including construction (BEEEIR)
in progress) 130,610 135,000
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35. COMMITMENTS (Continued)

(b) At the end of the reporting period, the total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases in

respect of office premises are payable as follows:

35.

A& m)

(b) RIFEHR - BEBLAEWEZ
AR EHOEN 2 BE R
KA EFEEZENT ¢

2017 2016

—EF—+tF —E—RF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥Tx ARETT

Within 1 year 1R 282 109
After 1 year but within 5 years 1F12E5F A 302 -
584 109

The Group leases a property held under operating lease
with initial lease term of one to three years. None of the

leases includes contingent rentals.

36. DEREGISTRATION OF A SUBSIDIARY

During the financial year ended 31 December 2017, the Group
deregistered Xian Country Lun Shun Energy Development
Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary in the PRC which

36.

AEBRCSTEOEENE - AES
BB =4 - BREBHL B AL
RIS o

— BB RRERT
REE-F—LF+-A=+—HILY

BEE - AEBEREEC - HETEL
EEXNIEREWE A RIBUEBBEEIR

was inactive. BIRAF
RMB’000
ARBETF T
Property, plant and equipment I YT 1
Other receivables H b YR IR 2,194
Net assets of deregistered subsidiary BiIHE RN B AR EEFE 2,195
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary HEB R —RHR B A RMNEE 2,195

The subsidiary deregistered during the year ended 31 December
2017 had no significant impact on the turnover and results of

the Group

RBE-_ZT—+F+-_A=+—HILF
EREHE LB A RS A EER L
BREBEUBEATE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A IERARMTE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ—Z—tF+-A=+—HLEFE

37. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 37. R HERERK:T
OF CASH FLOWS

Changes in liabilities arising from financing METHELE2AEEH
activities

The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities TRIWRANEERNEFREZSES 2
arising from financing activities during the year: aEEH

Total liabilities
Bank and other  Finance lease from financing

borrowings payables activities

|MITR 35 METEEE

HA{ER Bh &L EEN =R

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETTT ARETT ARBTT

At 1 January 2016 RZE—X&—A—H 43,080 73,400 116,480

Interest paid ERFLE 3,625 5,796 9,421
Non-cash changes-additions 3EIR & & —RE - 486 486
Changes in cash flows REmER (6,625) (34,123) (40,748)

At 31 December 2016 and ~ R -ZT—/~F
1 January 2017 +=ZA=+—HBk

—t&F—H—H 40,080 45,559 85,639

Interest paid ERFLE 4,043 3,241 7,284
Changes in cash flows REREE 3,157 (23,039) (19,882)

At 31 December 2017 RZE—tF
+=—A=+—~ 47,280 25,761 73,041
38. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 38. EEEH
As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s shareholding in Shanxi R-E—+F+=-A=1+—H KEH
Qinshui were pledged. Details of the Group’s pledge of other AULTLKE IRE D /R « KEE
assets are included in notes 15 and 16 respectively. HEMEERBFEEDBIENRMFE15 &
16 °
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39. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 39. EXREEALTRES

For the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, the HE-_ZT—+FE=_FT—XF+=A
directors are of the view that the following are related parties of =+—BHIFE  EEZRBTINEAR
the Group: AEEZBEAT :
Name of party Relationship BREESBE BE
KGRI EEREF Effectively owned 17% equity WKGERIEE ER—MMWBARE
A Al(transliterated as interest in Wanzhi Logistics as BREMAAR ERERRER#ES
Shanxi Qinshui Prefecture a non-controlling shareholder ([EREE]) BEMRNI7%RK
Chengrong Investment of a subsidiary and provided s - RAARSE
Limited) (“Chengrong financing to the Group of EiRHtESARYK
Investment”) RMB29,000,000 as disclosed 29,000,000 7T ( A
in note 25. ME25FTiER ) ©
B EEREEEEXER Effectively owned 20% equity B GEEREE (ER—RHNBARZ
A Fl(transliterated as interest in Yangcheng EEARNRF  FEFERBRREEREE
Yangcheng Yangtai Group Huiyang as a non-controlling (IFEH5ZR]) AERERE20%
Industrial Company Limited)  shareholder of a subsidiary RAEZ - kAKX
(“Yangcheng Yangtai”) and provided financing to the SERERHESA
Group of RMB11,080,000 as K ¥ 11,080,000
disclosed in note 25. 7T (ZA B 52 25 AT 4%
B o
BN SR AE R ITARTE AR Effectively owned 20% equity ENERKEER  tER—RHMBARZ
A A(transliterated as interest in Yangcheng RWRBAER  FIERIRRER %
Zhengzhou Zhengcheng Huiyang as a non-controlling DA ([EBM B 5 A5 #20%
Energy Technology shareholder of a subsidiary. B 1) MRS ©
Service Company Limited)
(“Zhengzhou Zhengcheng”)
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39. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 39. ERBEEALTRB (%)

(Continued)

(a) EREAEALZERR

(a) Balances with related parties

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Group and the RZE—+ERZE—RF+=

Company had the following balances with related parties:

U]

(ii)

(iii)

Amount due from a related company

A=1—8 AXEEERARFH
FEALTHE NI

() ER-BEEEQRRE

Maximum
amount
outstanding
during the year

FAES
REESHE

2017 2016

—Z—+tF ZE-RF
Name of related party RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BEALEE AR®TT ARETTT AR®ET
Yangcheng Yangtai F53 5 2= 3,813 3,730 3,813

The amount due is unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

Amounts due to directors/non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries

The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

Other borrowings

SERBRFASEER 2
BNBRENRER -

(i) FENES WELRZEE
IR IR R FRE
SERBRFESEER 2
B MBI BERER -

(iii) HAfERK

2017 2016

—E—+tF ZE—RF

Name of related party RMB’000 RMB’000
BEALRE ARBTR ARBET T
Yangcheng Yangtai [ ¥ 5 %= 13,080 11,080
Chengrong Investment &% g% & 24,300 29,000
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39. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(b) Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel of the

Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s directors
and the chief executive as disclosed in note 9 and certain

39. EXBEEAETR S (2)

(b) EEEEAE ZFHMH

AEBMTFEEBRABZHM(BRE
D RIRH O MM 10 BE 2 BT
K’“ﬂ%% RETRAERE

of the highest paid employees as disclosed in note 10, is as = EEES < FIB)WT -
follows:
2017 2016
:g_‘tﬂi —=F—7 \¢
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETF T
Short-term employee benefits HEESREF 2,585 3,203
Post-employment benefits BB 2t A 40 47
Total remuneration is included in FresEsT Al B TRA
“Staff costs” (Note 7(a)) (F3E7(a)) 2,625 3,250
(c) The Group entered into the following material related party ) BZE-_FT—+tFRZZT—RF

transactions during the years ended 31 December 2017

TZA=T—HILFE  £A&H

and 2016: BRI TYEREEATRS :
2017 2016
Name of related party Nature of transaction —Z2—+F —ZE—XRE
BHEALER REME RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR ARBFT
Yangcheng Yangtai Loan interest expense 1,525 1,503
Pk 5 2= B BERE
Chengrong Investment Loan interest expense 1,884 2,122

REIRE ERMBFX

(d) Other transactions with related parties

As set out in note 25, as at 31 December 2017, Mr.
Wang has guaranteed bank loans made to the Group of
approximately RMB9,900,000.

(d) HEEALTZHMRS

W EE25FTIREE - MR- —+F
+ZA=+—8 " E4EnrE
B 2 R1TE R4 AR 9,900,000

TUIEHELR ©
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40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

40. R F 2 BN R

THE COMPANY
2017 2016
—E—+tF —ZTE—RE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETIT
Non-current assets ERBBE
Property, plant and equipment Yz - SR ERE 1,026 1,827
Investments in subsidiaries RHTBARIZIRE 231,201 232,963
232,227 234,790
Current assets MBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUL B B A B FRIB 180,430 207,271
Amount due from a director BN E EFIE 2,909 4,633
Prepayment and other receivables TE S FRIE I E At R MR IE 632 751
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEEY 171 552
184,142 213,207
Current liabilities mEaE
Amounts due to subsidiaries JEAHH B A mIFUE 11,593 11,554
Amounts due to directors ENEEHIE 1,315 1,247
Accruals and other payables FEETE A K H AT FIR 3,411 3,540
16,319 16,341
Net current assets RBEERE 167,823 196,866
Total assets less current liabilities #ABERREIAE 400,050 431,656
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Convertible bonds AR E S 9,543 8,316
Deferred tax liabilities REFIEEE 1,344 1,222
10,887 9,538
Net assets BEFE 389,163 422,118
Capital and reserves BARGHE
Share capital &N 10,910 10,910
Reserves e 378,253 411,208
Total equity EERS 389,163 422,118

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

27 March 2018.

Wang Zhong Sheng

0N
Director

EFE

EFen T/ \F=A-ttH#LE

N IRHETE -

Fu Shou Gang
HEH
Director

EFE
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40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (Continued)

41.

40. XD F 2 AR R 2

Reserves i
Share  Convertible
Share Translation Contributed option bonds Accumulated
premium reserve surplus reserve reserve losses Total
ik
RiVEE  BERGE  EUER BRERG GHEE  RHER @t
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AEBTR ARMTT AR®Tn ARETRT ARETR ARMTR ARETR
Balance at 1 January 2017 RZF—t5-A-R&H (668,084) 25,713 1,384,004 30,849 8602  (369926) 411,208
Loss for the year IEEFR - - - - - (9,850) (9,850)
Other comprehensive income FEREMEENA
for the year - (2310) - - - - (23,105)
Total comprehensive expense IEREERREE
for the year - (23,109) - - - (9,850) (32,955)
Balance at 31 December 2017 R-E—+F
TZA=T-REH (668,084) 2,608 1,384,004 30,849 8652  (379,776) 378,253

IMMEDIATE PARENT AND ULTIMATE
CONTROLLING PARTY

At 31 December 2017, the directors consider the immediate
parent and ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Jumbo
Lane Investments Limited, which is incorporated in the BVI.
Jumbo Lane Investments Limited does not produce financial
statements available for public use.

41. HEEBRFARERERT

RZE—+tF+-_A=+—H EFR
AREBEEERET AR RGERIERG RE
EREARAT  ANRBRZEET
Ak - BEREBR AR ERR M
NBRER 2B ©
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RESULTS X5
For the year ended 31 December
BE+-A=t+—-HLEE
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
“Ft§ -—_T-& C—T-1f —T-MmE —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR
Revenue Wiz 178,562 218,879 329,120 301,119 187,184
Loss from operations REEBELEBE (48,851) (88,382) (44,971) (64,559) (76,196)
Finance costs BSER (9,171) (10,925) (14,324) (16,057) (27,657)
Loss on extinguishment of dHERAEZER
financial liability = - - (57,024) -
Impairment loss on goodwil BEREEBE - - (3,551) (104,298) (163,000)
Impairment loss on intangible & & ER{ERE
assets - - (134,385) (138,702) (25,000)
Impairment loss on property, W% » BB REHE
plant and equipment REFE (8,329) - (92,086) - -
Loss before taxation BRERIEE (66,351) (99,307) (289,317) (380,640) (291,853)
Income tax (expense)/credit FisR(A%) % (620) (3,077) 34,291 38,324 13,092
Loss for the year AEEEE (66,971) (102,384) (255,026) (342,316) (278,761)
Attributable to T fELG -
Equity shareholders AARERRE
of the Company (70,219) (101,002) (235,943) (333,348) (271,440)
Non-controlling interests IR R 3,248 (1,382) (19,083) (8,968) (7,321)
Loss for the year AEEER (66,971) (102,384) (255,026) (342,316) (278,761)
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ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEKREE

At 31 December

®+=R=+-H
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
¥+t -—T-XF =—FT-RF —T-@mFE —FT-=f
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR

Total assets BEE 819,903 922,135 1,031,530 1,283,223 1,506,671

Total liabilities BakE (486,278) (503,999) (611,126) (648,147) (685,922)
333,625 418,316 520,404 735,076 820,749

Attributable to: T5IREds -

Equity shareholders of the AARERRE

Company 344,488 432,247 533,133 728,722 805,427

Non-controlling interests IR (10,863) (14,111) (12,729) 6,354 15,322

333,625 418,136 520,404 735,076 820,749
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